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Retlin went down under me, crying out. | kicked,
and it must have hurt because it gave a yell of
rage—no, a roar, an inhuman screeching howl; it

squirmed, reared up to a crouch and it—
It changed!

Before my eyes Rellin’s face melted. That's the
only way to describe it. It had dropped the whip-
thing; | kicked it, slid and tripoed, my horrified
eyes fastened on the incredible transformation
taking place in the dikri. Flesh seemed to flow like
water, the crouched form hunched, rippled into @
grayish rugose clawed mass. Where a man-form

had stood—a dragon roared at me. . ..
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PART 1

CHAPTER ONE

“No, Rellin!”

The scream crashed throuch the silence, and 1 woke up.

I sat up, blinking, and pain thundered through my head
like the scream. My head felt huge, as if it were something
balanced precariously on my shoulders. I eased the clumsy
thing back down to the pillow, and cautiously slitted my
eyes open again.

People screaming all over the placel Might as well be in
the nut house. Instead of— I blinked again and came all
the way awake:

This wasn’t my bedroom!

The walls were white, and the window was white, too,
and not curtained. There were venetian blinds, and thick
sunlight made streaks through them and lay, in yellow
barred glare, on the wall. The glare hurt my eyes, and I
shut them again. Where was I? And why were people
screaming all over the place, so loud that it might as well
be right in the—

For God’s sake, it was right in the room!

I had screamed.

I put my hands up to my face. Where was I, and what
thllas going on? I touched my face, and then I had the second
shock:

My face was rough. I had a beard.

A beard? At my age? I'd shaved about twice in my life.
That wasnt bad, for seventeen, but here I was with my
chin rough and scratchy with a full-grown beard. Where
was I? What had happened?

The door opened, and a nurse came into the room, and
things suddenly clicked and fell into place.

Accident. I had had an accident, and I was in a hospital.
Maybe a car had hit me on my way home from school—
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The nurse was dressed in white, like most nurses. She
was dark, and pretty, and smiling. “Is something wrong?”
she asked.

Wrong? Was anything right?

“I heard you cry out again—that was you, wasn’t it?”

“Oh. Oh, yes, that was me.”

“Have you been dreaming again?” She sounded con-
cermned.

Again? What was that supposed to mean? “I'm sorry. I'm
feeling pretty dim just now. Have I been screaming before
this?”

She nodded. “Yes. Don’t you remember? Last night you
woke up thiee times, shouting something about a railing.
Can you remember now what it was? Did you fall through
a railing, perhaps?”

“I don’t know,” I said slowly. “I assume I'm in a hospital.
Is this Herrick?”

She nodded, smiling. “Yes, this is Hendrick Hospital.
So you know where you .are? That’s wonderful. Perhaps
you'll remember, in a little while, what happened, and
what all this is about railings.”

I frowned, and wished I hadn’t: it hurt. It didn’t sound
like me. I didn't have nightmares, and I hadn’t screamed
since I was thirteen and slammed my fingernail in the car
door. Why could I remember that, and not anything closer?
Railings? T racked my brain, trying to remember what it
was that I'd screamed—or dreamed. I couldn’t remember,
but for some strange reason I was sure it had nothing to
do with a railing.

“Dr. Bannon said he wanted to see you when you woke
up,” the nurse said. “I'll call him,” she added as she went
out.

Dr. Bannon? I'd never heard the name. I rubbed my
hand against that strange wrongness of my face again,
mostly because it kept me from thinking. Somewhere at the
back of my mind I was beginning to get scared.

There was something wrong. Something I halfway knew
about, and didn’t dare think about yet. I knew that if I
let myself think about it, that vague little bit of fear at
the back of my mind would come roaring out like a tiger
and I'd start screaming the place down again.

After a while, the door swung quietly open again, and
a man stood in the door. .

I'd never seen the man before, but I knew by his white
coat that he was a doctor. He was youngish, with gray
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eyes and dark hair, and he frowned a little as he looked at
me. Was I hurt as badly as all that?

“Miss Taylor tells me you've decided to wake up,” he
said pleasantly, but his eyes stayed fixed right on me. “How
do you feel now?”

Experimentally, I moved. No casts, nothing seriously
damaged or out of place, though there was something stiff
and rustly on the calf of my leg that felt like a bandage,
and my elbow felt queer. “My head aches a bit. Apart
from that, I guess I'm okay. What happened, anyway? An
accident?” ¢

“We were hoping you could tell us that,” he said slowly.
“We don’t know; a policeman found you lying in the
street and brought you to the emergency room. We took
X-rays to make sure your skull wasn’t fractured; otherwise
you're not badly hurt except for something like a burn on
your leg and oné temple. Frankly, I can’t quite imagine
what sort of accident—but no, youre not badly hurt. You
should be all right in a day or two.”

“That’s good,” I said, but unease was building up inside
me again. I wasn’t hurt badly, maybe, but there was some-
thing—

“But now that youre awake and can talk sensibly, may-
be you can tell us,” Dr. Bannon said. “What happened?”

I tried thinking back, but it was like trying to remember
what I'd screamed. There was a curious, fuzzy sense of
fear, and a great crash that seemed to fill the sky. ...

“There was a crash,” I said slowly, “and—and something
must have hit me—but I can’t remember. I can’t remember!”

“Easy, easy,” the doctor said hastily. “Don’t get excited.
It will come back to you. With a head injury, sometimes
there’s a memory lapse. Suppose we get the rest straight
first. There was no identification on you, you know, so we
haven’t even been able to notify your family. First of all
~who are you?”

And then it crashed in on me, and I knew what it was
that I hadn’t wanted to feel. Why I'd kept my mind busy
with so many unimportant questions. And why I'd held so
many questions back.

Who are you?

I;A simple enough question. The first thing they always
ask,

There was nothing wrong with the question, just with
the answer.

I didn’t know who I was.



I didn’t know my own name/

I guess my face must have done something I didn’t know
about. Because the next thing I knew the nurse was there
with a little paper cup of something that smelled funny,
and Dr. Bannon was saying “Hey, hey, take it easy, kid!”

I just lay there, feeling stunned and sick. The nurse held
the paper cup insistently to my mouth and I swallowed
without arguing. Arguing wouldn’t do any good, anyhow.

“That, that—I mean—I've got to know,” I stammered.

“It doesn’t make sense—" .

“Don’t worry about it,” Bannon repeated. “Above all,
don’t get excited. It happens sometimes with a head in-
jury. I'm sure you’ll remember—"

A word flickered in my mind. “Amnesia,” I said, inter-
rupting the doctor’s flow of words. “Have I got amnesia?
But I thought people forgot everything, so if I've forgotten
my own name how do I know what amnesia isP”

He smiled. It made him look human, and likable. “Oh,
there are different forms of amnesia,” he said. “So you've
heard the word, though? That’s interesting. And you know
what it means. Well, maybe you should know enough not
to worry, then. Sometimes people forget just the things
connected with their accident. Sometimes—"

But I didn’t listen, because I knew what he was doing.
He was just talking to keep me from panicking, from yélling
and screaming like a little kid.

What was the matter? Who was I?

I said helplessly, “Why can’t I remember my name?P”
and heard my voice crack.

“What can you remember?” The doctor sounded calm
and soothing. “Miss Taylor said you knew where you were.”

“I'm in a hospital. Is it Herrick Hospital?”

Now he looked at me, startled. “No,” he said, “it’s Hen-
drick hospital. Do you know where that is?”

“Hendrick? I never heard of it,” I said, confused. “Herrick
is in Berkeley.” I added, after a minute, “Berkeley, Califor-
nia. Is this hospital in San Francisco?”

Dr. Bannon nodded. “Now we're getting somewhere,” he
said. “Do you live in California? Or—isn’t Berkely where
the university is? Are you a student there?”

“No,” I said, “I'm not in college. Please, where is this?”

“Take it easy,” Dr. Bannon said. “Hendrick Hospital is
in Abilene, Texas.”

Abilene, Texas! 1 lay back, feeling a little sick. I'd never
been in Texas in my life,
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“I must have lost some time,” I said. “What day is it?”

“What day do you think it ought to be?”

“Tune 4, 1967—" I shook my head, forgetting the band-
age, and winced again. “Did I miss my—what day is it?”

Dr. Bannon went out into the hall. He returned immedi-
ately with a newspaper in his hand. The Abilene Daily
News. He pointed, silently, to the date:

September 2, 1968.

A year and three months!

“And when was I brought in here?”

“It's Saturday now. They brought you in Wednesday
night.” He smiled. “What’s the last thing you remember?”

Off in a corner of my mind there was something white,
like— “An albino dwarf,” I said. “No, that doesn’t make
sense— Nothing. I'm sorry.”

“Nothing to be sorry about.” Bannon was soothing me
again, calming me down, and I wished he wouldnt; I
wanted to take this seriously.

“We've done some checking,” he said. “You're not from
the Army or the Air Force, and you weren’t wearing any
military dog tag, so I don’t imagine the Navy or the Marines
will claim you either; but it was worth checking. Missing
Persons in Texas had nothing on any boy near your age.
We have two leads. Give me that thing out on the desk,”
he said to the nurse. When she went out to get it, he said,
“So you’re from California. Have you lived there long? We
can check with Missing Persons there, you know.”

The nurse came back with a long yellow sheet.

“It’s routine, when we get anyone unidentified, to check
with military AW.O.L lists, and Missing Persons,” he said.
“The police teletypes send out bulletins. Now, there are
dozens of juveniles reported missing every month, but we
could eliminate quite a number of them right away. And
remember anything later than 67— Let me see—Portland,
Maine, white, male, blond, sixteen years old, Nels Angstrom
— I think we can rule him out. You’re not blond.”

I frowned. “I don’t think— Nels Angstrom didn’t sound
right.”

“From Los Angeles, wanted for armed robbery, Pedro
Menendez—no, youre not Mexican, and I doubt if you're
as much as twenty. From Seattle, Lloyd Sanderson, age
eighteen, white, male, American, brown hair, dark eyes—that
might be you; reported missing two months ago. We've
wired the juvenile authorities in S=attle. Let me see—Berke-
ley, California, Barry Francis Cowan, age seventeen, miss-
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ing from May ’67, five-foot-eight—well, you could have
grown an inch. We wired Mr. Cowan, and he said he
would fly in tonight just on the chance, but he said he’d
made four flights already, to New York, and a couple of
other places, to identify someone claiming to be his son. So
if you’re Cowan or Sanderson—"

“I don’t know,” I said, and felt like crying. “Juvenile
guthorities?”

“It’s routine when someone turns up missing,” the doctor
said quickly; “it doesn’t mean you've committed a crime.”

“Did I have anything at all on me when I came in? I
mean—no wallet, keys, money?”

“Just the clothes you had on, and a couple of pieces of
junk in the pockets,” Dr. Bannon said.

“Can I see the clothes?”

“Get his clothes,” Bannon said to the nurse, and she
went to a locker at one end of the room. She took out a
brown coverall, and laid it across the bed. I eased my head
up and took it in my hands.

It was rough and brown, woven of something like denim.
Pants and shirt were all in one piece, and it zipped up the
front. He said, “It looks as if something had been ripped
off the arm. That's why we checked the Army and Air
Force.”

I turned it over in my hands. The rough looking material
felt curiously soft to the touch. Without quite knowing why,
I turned it over to the breast pocket, and frowned. Some-
thing had been ripped from that, too. It was a large irregu-
lar patch of lightish fabric. The nurse said, “Oh, yes. It
could be an eagle or something.”

I shook my head. “I was wearing this?”

“You don’t recognize it?”

“Sorry. Where did it come from?”

“I don’t know,” Bannon confessed. “As I say, I thought
it might be uniform stuff—that material’s amazingly strong
and light, so of course I thought of the Armed Forces. But
they said no. It might have been made overseas, of course.
And of course, with all the new synthetics—" He shrugged.

“What about the pockets?” I demanded impatiently.

He opened a drawer in the night table beside the bed,
and took out a small object.

“Eighty cents in silver—it'’s downstairs in an envelope—
and this thing.”

He handed it to me. It was about the size of a rabbit’s
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foot, brass, and it was a little dragon. About two inches
lone, but a dragon, a brass dragon—

With a sharp intake of breath, I dropped the trinket on
the bedclothes and grabbed up the coverall again. Examin-
ing the darkish ripped patch, I held it against the brass
dragon. Yes. The patch was clearly dragon-shaped. Not an
eagle. A dragon. I turned out the inside of the shirt with
trembling fingers. There were still threads on the inner side,
and the material showed signs of weakening there.

Why had the emblem been ripped off?

I picked up the Brass Dragon—strange, how I capitalized
it in my mind—and examined it, with a feeling of horror. L
didn’t like touching it.

It was about two inches long. There was a small slot-
shaped extrusion at the bottom, and I looked carefully on
it, squinting my eyes, for anything that might say made in
US.A. or made in Japan or anvthing of the usual kind.
There was nothing. I rubbed my finger over the slot. Some-
thing had been broken from it, too; there was a rough
spot there. And the dragon . . .

It seemed to grow, to fill the whole room— Without think-
ing. I screamed. And screamed again.

“No! Rellin, no!”

And everything went a lovely velvet black.

CHAPTER TWO

WHEN I woke up the next time, there were rails around
the bed. I examined them for a minute, then lay back and
decided I deserved it. If I was going to act like a nut,
they’'d have to treat me like one. What had gotten into me,
to fly off the handle that way? I felt like a loaded gun with
the safety catch off; anything might happen at any time. I
didn’t like the feeling one bit.

“Awake again?” A very young nurse popped her head in
the door. This one had red hair, cut short enough so that
only two or three stray curls peek~d out under the cap;
and instead of a full uniform she had on something like a
blue-and-white striped bib apron. The little pin on the
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front of the apron said Lisa Barnard. Are you feeling bet-
ter? I'm sorry, I don t know your name—"

“Neither do I,” I said, grinning for the first time since this
had started, and her face turned so red that the freckles
locked pink.

“Oh, I'm sorry—I mean—"

Forget it,” I said. “I thought I might as well get a couple
of laughs; there isnt much else that's funny about this
business.” I laughed, and after a minute the little nurse
giggled too.

“I am sorry. They did tell me you'd had a head injury
and hadn’t been able to identify yourself yet. Are you able
to sit up, Mr.—"

“Just call me Mr. X, the famous international spy,” I
said, and hauled myself up on my elbow. My head still
hurt, but I felt better. Maybe the old guy who said laughter
was the best medicine had something after all. I couldn’t
remember his name, but it didn’t bother me. If I couldn’t
remember my own name, why bother with his?

“I'm Lisa Barnard,” she said, trying to be prim and digni-
fied, but on her it didnt look good, and the perky smile
was there behind it.

I put a hand on one of the bed rails and shook it. “What’s
with this business—a bed with barred windows?”

She giggled again. “Oh, that. You were thrashing a-
round in your sleep, and I think they were afraid you'd
fall and hurt your head again. So they had me put the
rails on the bed.” She popped out into the hall again and
came back carrying a tray.

“I knew it was too good to be true,” 1 said dismally.
“What’s on the hospital program now?”

She chuckled. “Cheer up. Were going to take off a few
of those whiskers, that’s all.” She picked up an electric razor.

“You don’t approve of beards?” I asked, laughing, and
she laughed back.

“I couldnt care less. But Dr. Bannon thinks we’d better
shave it off so that your father—if it is your father—will be
able to recognize you.”

“Aw, shucks,” I said. “How can I be Ivan X, the mysteri-
ous spy, without my beard?”

“It will grow back,” she said primly. It was the funniest
thing, the way she’d giggle like one of the girls at my
school and all of a sudden she’d have all the dignity you
associated with a nurse forty years old. Suddenly I felt
depressed. My school. In Berkeley? Yes; and probably my
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whole class had gone on and graduated, and all my
friends—

“Look,” she said gently, and laid her small hand on my
arm. “You mustn’t worry about things. It's going to be
all right. A lot of people who get knocks on the head forget
things for a while. One morning you'll wake up and remem-
ber everything all at once. Honest! I've seen it happen, and
I've heard older nurses talking about it.”

“How old are you?” I asked suddenly.

“Eighteen. I've been in training four months—" Sudden-
ly the prim nurse-face slid down like a mask over the
girl-face again. “Come on,” she said with brisk cheerfulness.
“Let’s get on with the shave.”

“Sure. Maybe I'll recognize my own face without the
beard,” 1 said a little sourly, and watched her pick up the
razor. It buzzed madly when she put it against my face,
and she stopped short.

“What am I doing? I'd better trim it off first with scis-
sors.” She took a pair from her pocket and snipped, turning
my face this way and that with firm, capable small hands.
Then she put up the razor to my face, and this time it be-
haved properly. She finished the job up properly with some
sort of tart-smelling lotion, and handed me a mirror.

“Feel more like yourself now?”

But it was just a face. I knew it was mine, but that
didn’t do much good.

“Now,” she said briskly, handing me a blue cotton bath-
robe, “you can get up and walk to the bathroom—it’s right
in there. Want some help?”

“No, thanks, I can manage,” I said, my face burning and
not from the shaving lotion. Maybe she was a nurse, but
she was still a young and pretty girl. If it had been the old
battle-ax, old enough to be my mother, maybe I wouldn’t
have felt that way. She saw me blush, and smiled gently,
not giggling, as I swayed on my feet.

“Let me know if you want help,” she said kindly, “and
I'll call one of the orderlies or male nurses to give you a
hand.”

“Oh.” I felt foolish.

“The doctor says you can have a shower, and then
something to eat, and then perhaps you'd like to have some
clothes on and sit up,” she said. “Try walking up and
down the corridor a little; that will help you to get your
legs under you again.”

I felt a little dizzy when I moved, but I found out that
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I could walk without help. After a warm shower I felt
better; it seemed to take out the kinks in my muscles. I
put the cotton robe on again and took a turn up and down
the corridor; but by that time 1 was glad to get back into
bed and lie back. I was more tired than I thought. I felt as
if I'd taken a beating. The windows were closed, and the
hospital room was dark. I shut my eyes and tried to think,
to remember.

Images, gray and blurry, drifted through my mind. Faces
none of which meant anything to me. Slamming my finger
in the door of the car when I was thirteen. I'd had to go
and have the bone scraped later, and afterward the doctor
had diverted me by showing me an articulated skeleton of
a hand, which opened and closed on wires. A ring of
faces, sitting around a campfire, singing. The outline of a
bridge against the sky; I knew it was the Golden Gate
Bridge. Myself walking down between a lane overhung with
rhododendron bushes. Myself again, walking across dry
desert country, my breathing-mask rough and clammy a-
gainst my chin, shielding my eyes from the fierce orange
glare of the giant overhead. The sharp, rocking impact of
take off and then the slow return of sight, and the starburst
glare of space beyond the quartz dome . . . a burst of
orange fire, searing bright and leaving the retina darkened
for minutes . . .

I rocked myself awake, shaking my head, at the farrago
of memories. That was no good. If my own memories could
get mixed up with some science-fictional T.V. play, what
was the good of trying to free associate to my own past?
Spaceships, for heaven’s sakel Next thing, I'd be seeing
myself on horseback with Hopalong Cassidy. How was it,
I wondered, that I could remember watching television
when I was five years old and not remember my own family,
or who I'd watched it with? Some of the doctor’s words,
which I hadn’t thought I was listening to at the time, came
back to me: lacunary amnesia, usually connected with some
head injury, blanked out only selective areas in the mem-
ory. For instance, a man he’d known once fell out of a
third story window. The man had been a teacher of French:
when he came to himself, he could still read French
but couldn’t speak a word of it.

I heard soft steps in the hall, and Lisa Bamard came
quietly into the room. “Are you asleep? A man who claims
to be your father is here. Do you feel up to seeing him?”

I wasn'’t so sure. Right now I wouldn’t have known my
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father from Adam. The phrase popped into my mind and
then I realized I wasn’t so sure who Adam was, either. This
wasn’t good. If there was anybody who could straighten
out this mess, I'd sire be glad to see him! It just might be
that the minute I laid eyes on him, my whole past would
pop back into being. I certainly hoped so.

“Bring him on,” I said.

Lisa turned back to someone in the hall. “You can come
in now, Mr. Roland,” she said, and I waited, realizing that
my heart was pounding slightly. T heard heavier steps, and
then a man came into the room—and my excitement sub-
sided slowly.

I had never seen the man before—at least, not to my
knowledge.

And yet—I hesitated. There was some haunting famili-
arity about him, and strangely, it was not a pleasant fam-
iliarity. If this was my father, the thought flashed through
my mind, I'm not surprised at myself for running away.

He was tall and heavily built, with swarthy skin and
dark eyes, but there was something else about him, some-
thing I couldn’t identify; the best way I could put it to
myself was that he looked as if he were dressed in someone
else’s clothes. Not that I was any judge of clothes, just
now; I just knew that the clothes he was wearing now—a
dark business suit, nothing remarkable about it, though the
collar opened to accommodate the bulging of enormous
neck muscles, and his tie-knot dangled loose a few inches
below the collar—didn’t suit him. I thought that over a
minute, trying to think what would suit him, how he
would look right. In uniform, maybe? A policeman’s uni-
form, a Roman legionary’s armor? I couldn’t put my finger
on it. But I didn't like it—and I didn’t like him.

The silence had stretched out long enough to be awk-
ward but Mr. Roland still stood, looking down at me,
without speaking. I wondered what he was waiting for, and
had the distinct feeling that he wanted me to speak first.
I decided I wouldn’t, I'd just wait for him.

The silence went on stretching out. This was ridiculous.
I bit my lip. “If you’re waiting for me to cry out ‘Daddy’
and rush into your arms, it’s no good,” I blurted out. “As
far as I know, I've never seen you before in my life.” And
don’t care if I never do again.

“Barry,” he said ruefully, shaking his head. “I don’t
think it’s necessary to bring the hostility between us out
in a place like this.” I had the feeling that he was answering
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the part of the remark I hadn’t made out loud, but the
tone was familiar enough. “I've been worried about you,
son, Are you feeling all right now?”

“I'll live,” I said. “Physically, that is. I guess they told
you I don’t remember anything.”

Mr. Roland turned to the nurse. “Well, that’s that. Of
course, he’s my son. I assume he can be moved; will you
get his clothes, please, and we’ll go?”

“Hey,” I protested. “Not quite so fast]” In the first place
I didn't want to be pushed into going with. this guy. I
didn’t recognize him, I felt sick and—yes, damn it, scared.
The only familiar thing in a bewildered world were this
hospital room, Lisa and Dr. Bannon, and I wasn't ready to
cut adrift from them just yet. “Right away?”

“Why not?” Roland asked logically. “What else is neces-
sary and why stay hereP Where should you be, except
with your father?”

“There are a few formalities,” Lisa said slowly, “but I
don’t suppose theyll take very long. Since you do defi-
nitely identify him as your son . . . P She paused, but with
the uplift of a question in her voice, and the big man
said impatiently, “Yes, yes, of course.”

“Well, then—" she began, but I broke in. “But 1 haven’t
definitely identified myself as his son! Do I have to go with
him on his say-so?”

“Barry, don’t be paranoid,” the man admonished sharp-
ly, then softened his voice. I had the impression of a film
of sticky oil spread over dirty rough rock. He said in a
conciliating voice to Lisa, “I suppose he’s afraid of being
scolded or punished for running away.” The tone effective-
ly reduced me to a twelve-year-old hiding from a spanking.
“Come, come, Barry, if 1 were to say that all is forgiven—"

“I don’t believe you,” I said roughly. “I don’t think you
have the right to forgive me anything, and I'm not going
unless you can prove your identity to my satisfaction,
Don’t I have any rights here? I clutched at a faint hope.
“Doesn’t the doctor have to sign me out, or anything?”

Lisa looked at me with what seemed like a look of pity.
She said, “It’s true that Dr. Bannon has to release you
formally. Shall I call him?”

“Why is all this necessary?” the man grumbled, and
the little nurse said primly, “Because if he is released, and
has a relapse, the hospital is legally responsible. It won’t
take a minute. Why don’t you sit here and have a nice
visit with your son, Mr. Roland? I'll have Dr. Bannon paged.”
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She buzzed off, and I lay staring at the window, not
looking at the big man who claimed to be my father. I
couldn’t imagine having a nice visit with that character.

“What’s the matter with you, Barry?” the man asked,
after a brief silence. “I thought your memory was gone.
How can you possibly have anything against me?”

I countered with another question. “How did you know
I was here?”

“It was broadcast on T.V.” he said slowly. “They ap-
pealed for anyone who knew you to some forward.”

The cautiousness of the answer didn't surprise me. I
knew he was hiding something and I hadn’t expected any-
thing else. I said, “Tell me about the family.”

“Family?” For a moment I had caught him off guard. ¥
had the feeling that didn’t happen often and that he didn’t
like it; in the fast dark stare he gave me, 1 realized I'd
probably be sorry for it. But his tone was neutral when he
spoke. “I had forgotten you wouldn’t remember,” he said.
“Of course your mother is—is dead, and you have no brothers
and sisters. Just you and me.”

The words were fine. Only why did they give me the
cold chills? I shut my mouth, resolved not to say anything
more, and didn’t, until Dr. Bannon came back.

“Mr. Roland, is it? And you've identified your missing
son?” he asked. “Just a few questions. How long has he
been missing?”

“Three weeks,” Roland said, with a quick glance at me.

“Why didn’t you report him to Missing Persons?”

He had an answer for that one too. “You know how
young people are,” he said, with what was meant to be an
understanding smile. “I thought he would return of his own
free will. Now, of course, I know he was not able.”

I said, “I've been away longer than three weeks,” and
looked appealingly at Dr. Bannon. Bannon frowned slightly
and said, “If you’ll wait outside a minute, sir—"

“Now look here,” the man said, advancing on Bannon
with an air of menace. “This is my son, and I have a right
to take him home without all these formalities! If you
people attempt to prevent me, I shall make troublel”

I suddenly put my finger on what was wrong. His own
speech was too formal, as if he’d learned it from a book.
Why did he say “formalities” instead of “red tape”™? His
dialogue wasnt convincing! I started to say so—and, look-
ing up with my mouth open, met his eyes.

I can’t explain it. Something in them made me wither
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like a sensitive plant left out too long in the sun. They
were dark eyes, and I had the feeling, looking into them,
that I couldn’t look away unless he let me. . ..

He said, very softly and not bullving at all, “Clothe your-
self, Barry, and we will leave. This person cannot prevent
you.

Dr. Bannon said, “I understand your—sonP—still has some
objections.”

Roland said suavely, “Ask him. Barry—?"

I said automatically, “Yes—?”

“As you will see, he knows his name. Now”—Roland’s
voice suddenly snapped like a whip—“request him to be-
come clothed at once and leave here!”

Bannon wasn't going to be bullied. “Wait outside, then,
while he dresses,” he said, and when Roland went into the
hall, he turned to me. I sat slumped over in bed, feeling
a slow paralysis of despair. Bannon couldn’t help me. I'd
have to go with him, and then—

“Barry,” Bannon said softly.

“Yes, sir?”

“It is your name, obviously,” Bannon pointed out, in a
gentle voice. “What'’s the matter, son?”

I wished that the “son” were more than a phrase. It
meant more when Bannon said it. I said, in a stifled voice,
“He’s not my father,” feeling my throat drying as I spoke.
My heart was banging, and the doctor looked at me with
concern. “You're frightened! Yet he knew you, Barry. He
knew your name.”

“He said he knew me,” I muttered.

“Look,” the doctor urged, “why should he claim you if
he isn’t a relative? If you were the heir to a big fortune,
or some such thing as that, you would have been claimed
before this. There would have been national headlines, if
you were the victim of a kidnapping or anything like that.
He doesn’t look like a pervert trying to get his hands on a
kid, and even if he were, you're big enough to handle him.
What are you afraid of?”

I didn’t know. But I knew when I was licked. Bannon
couldn’t help me and I couldn’t help myself. I sank down
on the bed, reaching for the denim coverall, but before I
could get it on I started to tremble, and kept on shaking
until the thing fell from my hand onto the floor. The
grayness started to close in around me again; I saw and
felt my hand shaking and I heard Bannon’s voice, suddenly
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high, raised with fear or concern, shouting; but the words
slid past me where I huddled in a blind, unthinking terror.

“Barry! Listen to me!” Bannon's hand clamped hard on
my arm. “Take it easy! Listen, kid; I won’t release you
against your will. If it hits you like that, you're obviously
in no shape to leave the hospital anyhow, and I couldn’t
conscientiously sign you out! Come on, calm down!” His
hand eased me back on the pillows as his words slowly
filtered through to me. I swallowed, trying to get words
out.

Bannon knew what I wanted to say. “You don’t want to

face him again? All right, son; I'll tell him that you're not
fit to leave the hospital.”
T felt the world settle down again, and slowly my pound-
ing heart quieted to normal. I wet my lips; Bannon poured
me a glass of water, handed me a small paper cup with a
couple of pills. “Here, take these. It's just a very mild
sedative, but you need it. I'll tell him to come back in a
day or two; by then youll be feeling better. You may
even have your memory back.”

1 muttered, ashamed, “Sorry to throw—such a wing-
ding—" '

“Blame this,” Bannon said firmly, touching the bandage
on my head. “It's the most natural thing in the world. You
lie back and rest, now.”

“Doctor—" 1 said, as he was going out of the room. “Tell
him—if he comes back—tell him to bring some proofl
Tell him to bring my—my—" 1 fumbled for elusive words,
thoughts, memories, through the blankness. “Tell him to
bring my—my birth certificate or a picture of me. Or—or
some proof that I'm still a minor, or—something like that.”

Bannon raised his pale eyebrows, but said only, “I'm
glad your mind is working as clearly as this; obviously
your memory is right under the surface. But dont try too
hard. Relax, now, and give that stuff a chance to calm
you down.”

He went out, and after a minute, I heard his voice in
the corridor, and Roland’s, raised, angry, baffled; it went
on for some time, and finally subsided and died away
down the hall. I began to breathe freely again. Bannon had
managed to get rid of him, But for how long?

The sedative he had given me was evidently powerful,
no matter what he said. 1 felt drowsy—or was that just the
reaction after my attack of panic? I felt ashamed of it, in
a strange way. I ought to have been more coherent, more
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sensible; I ought to have given good reasons for not wanting
to go with that guy—instead of going into hysterics like a
silly kid! Dr. Bannon must think I was one awful crybabyl

I still felt sheepish when, a little later, Lisa popped in.
“Suppertime,” she said briskly, but I could hardly look at
her. Had she heard about me throwing a fit? But she was
perfectly natural. “Dr. Bannon told me to check and see
if you were awake and hungry; you'd had a sedative,
and he said not to wake you up, if you were asleep, but
if you were awake, feed you. How hungry are you?”

I thought about that and decided I was plenty hungry.
“I could eat a horse.”

Lisa giggled. “I don’t know if the diet kitchen has any
horses in stock,” she said. “Would you settle for a plain old
hunk of cow or sheep?”

“Just cut off the homs and hooves,” I said gravely, and
her mock-solemn smile came again.

“Why, is there something wrong with your teeth? You
don’t want a nice hunk of horm and hoof pie? Okay, I'll
do the best I can.”

When supper came, it wasn’t Lisa who brought it, but a
pleasant old gray-haired motherly type, and it was some
kind of stew, with other things like a salad and toasted
muffins and some pudding quite inoffensive and all com-
pletely blah. Just the same, I was hungry enough to eat
up everything on the tray, and when I shoved it aside, as
an exercise in memory, I tried to make myself remember
what I would rather eat. Steak. I remembered steak. Maybe
a nice cold shrimp cocktail or crab Louie. Hot biscuits.
Chili. Chocolate cake or maybe lemon pie.

I branched out a little then. Berkeley, California. I re-
membered Berkeley. I remembered hikes in the hills, up
toward Strawberry Canyon, and the Botanical Gardens
back there. But hikes with whom? I must have had a
family, teachers, sisters and brothers, yet my mind seemed
to be swept clean of people. )

Go back to the beginning. Had I a house? Blast it,
there was nothing but a blank spot. I knew what a house
was, but I couldn’t remember having had one. Clothes,
then. Could I remember any clothes? Yes, I remembered
wearing a cowboy suit when I was about five. Great, I
told myself cynically; just great, I could remember some-
thing when I was five. My head ached as if it would burst,
and I had, again, that sense of something vast and frighten-
ing just past the curtain of memory. Clothes. The brown
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denim coverall T had been wearing, the little brass dragon
— Abruptly I discovered I was sitting bolt upright in bed,
my heart pounding. What was it about that thing that
scared me, and how did I happen to have something in
my packet that would scare the wits out of me like that?

1 knew the doctor wouldn’t approve of this. He'd told
me not to work too hard at trying to remember; either my
memory would come back without me doing anything
about it at all, or it wouldn’t. But he ought to try it, 1
thought resentfully, not being able to remember his own
name, and see how calm and casually he could take it!

Barry. Was my name Barry? Why not—I groped for other
names—why not James, or Karsten, or Michael, or Varzil,
or John or Richard? Did any of them sound right? Or familiar?
Yes, they all sounded equally familiar—and equally unfamil-
iar,
Oh, nuts. This wasn’t getting me anywhere.

Fortunately, before I wound myself up too far into knots,
Dr. Bannon came in again. He looked at me with a quizzi-
cal sort of scowl.

“We have another claimant for the young man of mys-
tery,” he said, with some irony. “Do you feel like seeing
another father, looking for a missing son?”

“It isn't that other guy—?”

“It isn’t,” said Bannon, “and this one has pictures that—
well, they could be you, or almost any other boy your age
and coloring. Youre not exactly photogenic. He also has
some school yearbooks, samples of your handwriting, birth
certificate and the like. Want to see him?”

“I guess so0,” I said, trying to control another brief flurry
of panic. “Who does this one say I am?”

Dr. Bannon turned away. “He’s a Dr. Cowan,” he said.
“He’s from Berkeley, California. And”—he stuck his head
back through the door—"he says your name is Barry too.”

That was enough to start the panic going again, but I
suppose by now the sedative must have been working, for
there was no violent heart-pounding or dryness of mouth,
I lay looking at the door of the room, ready for anything.

Bannon came back, saying, “This way, Dr. Cowan.” He
held the door, letting a tall, slender, slightly stcoped man
into the room. The man straightened up, turned, squared
his shoulders as if prepared for disappointment—then drew
a long, quiet sigh.

“Thank God,” he said, not to me or to anyone in the room.

And—to my utter relief—I felt none of that familiarity I
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had sensed about Roland. This time I was positive I had
never set eyes on him before. He wasn’t that Roland charac-
ter—and he wasn’t someone come from him to collect me
for Roland. I knew that.

This was a good man. I could tell that. A good, sincere,
worried man, and I could no more imagine him in league
with that thing Roland than I could imagine—well, my
imagination, I found out, suddenly wasn’t working.

So I knew, all at once, what I had to do.

“Hello, Dad,” I said quietly. “It’s good to see you again.
I guess you've heard that I've had some sort of freak acci-
dent. I don’t remember much. But can we go home, right
away?”

It was a fake. I didn’t know him from Adam, and I felt
like a lousy, rotten phony, all the while that Dr. Cowan,
with tears in his eyes, was showing the doctor my pictures,
and promising to take me to a doctor at home for psycho-
logical tests and treatment for my head. He had even brought
-along a suitcase with some clothes, and he stared and
frowned at the brown denim coverall, but packed it into
the suitcase and urged me to put on a sweater and a
pair of well-worn corduroy slacks and sneakers. They seemed
to go on easily enough, though my legs stuck out about four
inches between the trouser bottoms and the sneaker tops,
and Dr. Cowan patted me awkwardly on the shoulder and
muttered, “Good lord, how you've grown!”

He signed papers and telephoned a taxi, and before 1
knew what had happened I was driving away, the hospital
dropping away behind me, and every familiar thing in my
life being left behind with it. I wished I could have said
goodbye to Lisa. I was scared—but not half so scared as 1
had been in that hospital, where that Roland character
might have come back the next day and demanded mel

But it was a heck of a thing to do to Dr. Cowan, who
still was all choked up when he spoke to me, who had
shown me the woven tape with my name, so he said,
Barry Francis Cowan, in the back of the wom tweed over-
coat he'd brought along for me, who was urging me to
look at snapshots of my mother, of a cute little ten-year-
old girl he said was my sister Winifred.

“What happened, Dad? I'm still awfully confused. When
did I leave Berkely?”

“A year ago in June,” he said gravely. “You went out
to school-and none of us saw you from that day to this.
We checked with the police, with the hospitals, every-
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thing—" His voice failed again, and he gripped my wrist
bhard, trying to smile. “I've made four cross-country trips
to look at kids in hospitals and morgues”—his voice cracked
a little on that word—"“to look at kids I thought might be
you. One of them was burned so badly no one could have
jdentified him, and I was sure—" he broke off. “Well, thanks
God that’s all over with. Have you had supper, Barry?
Does your head ache too much? Are you thirsty?” He
took out a pipe, and nervously filled it. “Your mother
didn’t want me to come. She’s sure you were dead. She
said she couldn’t bear another—another disappointment. I
ought to call her. Do you want to talk to her?”

“I couldn’t,” I said quickly. I could stand a lot of things,
but talking to the mother of this Barry Cowan, who was
probably dead, and getting her hopes up too, was more
than I thought I could take and still look myself in the eye.
The silence grew so oppressive that I fumbled, “I-I'd rather
see her, How is Mother anyhow?”

“Worrying,” he said dryly, and a small frown came be-
tween his eyebrows. “Here’s the airport.” He paid the
taxi and carried the small suitcase inside. “I have a flight
at nine—I would have canceled it, of course, if you hadn’t
been able to leave, but if it hadn’t been you I didn’t want
to hang around in Texas.”

“No,” I said then, remembering that Bannon had called
him Dr. Cowan, decided it was time to throw in a little
local color. “I don’t suppose you want to be away from
your patients too long.”

He raised his brows again, but all he said was, “Quite
right. Are you feeling all right? You look a little pale. You
can sleep on the plane.”

While we waited for the flight to be called I got a good
look at him. He was tall, though I realized now, not so
much taller than 1. I must be nearly six feet now. He had
blue eyes, deep-set under thick eyebrows that made power-
ful ridges across his forehead; and his hair, curly and bald-
ing, was brown, salted liberally with- gray. He looked alert,
good-humored, and as if, when he wasn’t worried, he’d be
one great father for a fellow to have. I envied this Barry
Francis Cowan.

But I didn’t speak until the plane was airborne and al-
ready crossing the Grand Canyon in a huge, dark chasm
of black rock. Then I said, hesitantly, “Sir—"

“What is it, Barry?”

“I'm not your son,” I blurted out, “I don’t remember you.
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I pretended I did to get away from the hospital. I'll pay
you back for the flight some time—and I'm sorry I kidded
you—but I'm not your son. I haven’t the faintest idea who
I am—but I don’t remember you.”

He looked at me and smiled. He smiled.

“I knew that,” he said. “You never called me ‘Dad’ in
your life; you've called me ‘Father’ since you outgrew say-
ing ‘Papa’ when you were five. You never called your
mother anything but ‘Nina.” My doctorate is in invertebrate
biology and I'm a professor at the university—I'd be clapped
in jail for looking twice at a ‘patient.’ Just the same, you're my
son, and I can prove it to my own satisfaction, and, God
willing, to yours. But not just now. Just take it easy and
relax, I'm satisfied; that’s all that matters.”

He closed his eyes and rested his head on the plane
seat-back, and I blinked and stared into the darkness. Now
what?

Had I jumped out of the frying pan into the fire?

Was it some sort of plot after all? How had he convinced
Dr. Bannon that he was my father when there was another
claimant? I looked, in the darkness of the cabin, at Dr.
Cowan and still couldn’t believe that he had anything to
do with Roland.

But then—how had Roland known my name, or hit by
chance on the same given name as this Cowan? Barry Co-
wan. Was it me? I didn’t know.

I had nothing. My mind was as blank of memory as the
dark square of the plane window was blank of scenery.
Nothing—and then I thrust my hand in my pocket and my
fingers closed over the shape of the little brass dragon. I
must have thrust it into my pocket from the pocket of the
hospital pajamas I'd been wearing.

I had this. But did it hold the key to my lost memory—
and why did it scare me so?

It was too much for me. I pushed it all aside. At least
Dr. Cowan was willing to wait—and that would give me
time. Time to remember—or die trying!
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CHAPTER THREE

THE NEXT MONTH was, what with one thing and another,
a mess.

Not that I knew it when we were coming down over
the San Francisco airport. I suppose I must have thought
the worst was over, when I told Dr. Cowan my suspicions,
and they hadn’t bothered him. I'd slept during part of the
flight, and had only strange, drifting dreams about noth-
ing in particular. I awoke when the stewardess bent over
me and touched my shoulder lightly.

“We're coming in over the airfield. Please fasten your
seat belts.”

I tugged at mine, faintly surprised at the back of my
mind that there was only one strap and one buckle to
fasten. I didn’t know why there should be more, but
my fingers looked for them anyhow.

That wasn’t a good beginning. It started me thinking
about the strangeness again, and as I looked down at the
lights on the field, the crawling line of lights beyond which
I knew must be the freeway, the enormous colored blink-
ing beacons on the runways and hangars, that strangeness
was redoubled. Why were we coming in at this angle? And
why were the lights spread out this way? My fingers
cramped, expecting to do—something, I couldn’t tell what,
and my foot moved by itself, hunting something to press,
frustrated.

I muttered, “The lights are the wrong color.”

Dr. Cowan had been dozing, but was instantly awake.

“What is it, Barry?”

I shook my head slightly, feeling my forehead draw up
in a scowl. My ears ached slightly with the descent. “I
don’t know,” I muttered. “I thought, for a minute, that I
remembered something. Only I guess it was just a flash
of déja vu or whatever they call it. That creepy feeling of
—well, not exactly I've been here before, but I've scen some-
thing like this and it isn’t quite right somchow.” My face
wrinkled up and I felt my hands knot. “Why in hell can’t
I remember?” ’

Dr. Cowan’s voice was calm, but T could tell he was
troubled. “Don’t sweat it, son. Remember what the doctor
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said. Take it easy. Things will come back, and if they don’t,
what does it matter?”

“What does it matter? I demanded, on a high note;
somebody in the next seat twisted to look at me; I noticed
it and lowered my voice. “You try it. Just try it sometime
and see how much it doesn’t matter!” I added, harshly,
“And if one more person tells me to take it easy . . .”

“Look, Barry, take it—uh—relax. I know it must be rough,
and sort of frightening. But it could be worse, so why not
ride with it for a whiler”

I shrugged and settled back in my seat. What else could
I do, anyhow? Dr. Cowan was being as nice about it as
he could possibly be, and it couldn’t have been easy for him
either, if he thought I was his son, having me treat him
like a perfect stranger—a nice, friendly stranger but a
stranger. I quieted down, but now I'd started thinking
about it all again, and I was jittering. I couldn’t think of
anything rougher than going into a family of strangers cold,
especially where the strangers are all convinced that you're
one of them and ought to care about them, and you can’t:
prove anything one way or another.

Yes, I could think of something rougher.

The guy who called himself Roland. I could have been
talked or bullied into going off with him—and who knows
where I'd have been by now? Probably nowhere on Earth,
Dr. Cowan had come along just in time to save me from that
—and I was damned grateful.

But grateful was all 1 was. I didn’t feel the way I ought
to feel if he were my father. Or did I? I still kept expect-
ing that if and when I met somebody I really knew,
my memory would come back—and when I met Dr. Cowan
it hadn’t. Did that prove anything?

And if T was Barry Cowan, why had that Roland charac-
ter tried to identify me? Having seen real, even if—I was
was sure—misguided, fatherly affection in Dr. Cowan, you
couldn’t kid me that was what Roland felt for me. Or for
anyone. If he’d ever been anyone’s father. Or had a father!

Dr. Cowan gathered together his bags and shepherded
me off the plane. He had telephoned my mother—I called
her that for convenience’s sake in my mind—from Texas,
but now he made another move toward a phone booth, and
I glanced at the thick milling crowd. I ought to disappear
right now, I thought. Just drift. I'm out of Roland’s reach,
and why bring trouble on Dr. Cowan? But Dr. Cowan
looked around at me, a little apprehensively, and I realized
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I couldn’t do that to him. He shouldn’t have to lose his
son after finding him. If I wasn’t his son, he’d find it out
sooner or later, and that would be another story.

He stepped into a gift shop. “I thought I'd pick up
some chocolates for your mother,” he said. Then, grinning,
“Still like caramels?”

I shrugged, sorry to be unresponsive. “How should I
know?”

He laughed softly, picked up the box and handed it to
me. “I'll take a chance on it.”

I didn’t recognize the car either, though there was no
special reason I should; it was just like thirty million other
cars on the road, neither very new nor very old. I got in,
opening the caramels to have something to do. 1 ate one. It
tasted good. Of course. Why had I thought it might not?
I saw him glance at me and laughed. “It beats yeast bars,
anvhow.”

He looked amused now. “Don’t tell me you've been
going in for health foods! Have vou taken up Yoga too?”
I laughed too and denied it, but the faint sense of strange-
ness remained. I was going to have to get used to every-
thing feeling somehow wrong, it seemed.

The car swung into the stream of traffic, over the Bay
Bridge, along quiet streets, climbing into the Berkely hills.
Dr. Cowan was silent in the car, occupying himself with
the business of driving, until he made a sharp turn into
the driveway of a house, dark in the duskiness, but with
lights on at a side porch; then he stopped the car and
turned his head to me.

“I see Winifred is still up.” He turned to me. “Look,
Barry, I know you’re confused. This might not be easy for
you. But try and soft-pedal these doubts of yours, at least
with your sister. She’s been something of a problem all this
time we thought you were dead—I sometimes think it was
harder on her than on your mother or me. Remember—no,
I'm sorry, I didn’t mean to say it that way; it’s hard for
me to keep it in mind—but stop and think. You've been
not only her big brother but her hero all her life. Nina and
I are old enough to take your doubts in stride—we don’t
like it, but we can handle doubts and even a little hostility
if we have to. Win can’t—and don’t forget it!”

I felt confused and guilty. All I could do was to mumble,
“I'll do my Dbest,” and then the porch light went on .and a
small woman and a little girl were tumbling down the
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drive. Dr. Cowan’s hand was firm on my shoulder for a
minute, then he turned me loose to be smothered.

It only lasted a minute, and then the woman said tremu-
lously, “Come in the house where I can get a good look
at you. Oh, Barry, you're so thin—all right, all right, I won’t
fuss.” But she held onto my hand all the way up the
steps and into the house. She was small, brunette, with a
serious face and no makeup, and her hair was in a long
braid down her back. She looked awfully young to be my
mother, I thought. Winifred was wide-eyed and solemn,
with dark fuzzy hair feathering up from her forehead and
big dark eyes. She grabbed me and I thought of a kitten
trying to climb up my shirt front, but she didn’t cry. She
just stood there hanging onto me and shaking all over, and
saying over and over, “You aren’t dead, you aren’t dead!”

I finally pried her loose a little and said, “I'd better not
be, or somebody’ll get in trouble because I'm walking
around instead of being decently buried!”

She giggled a little at that, and gulped a little, and
then stood back and said, “Are you all okay? Papa said
you were in a hospital in Texas. Were you there all that
time?”

“No, I dont think so. Somebody biffed me over the
head.” I patted her shoulder kind of awkwardly. “So if I
get to acting absentminded it’s because somebody knocked
the sense out of me—literally. Okay?”

“Okay,” she said warily, but smiling again. She waited
till I sat.down, then edged up to me again and sat down
on the rug, like a kitten rubbing against my shoe tops.
She said primly, “I think amnesia is very interesting. I read
a book about it, but I didn’t think I’d ever know anybody
who had it.” Over her head I saw Dr. Cowan and Nina
exchange a quick grin. She’d be all right. I wished I could
be that sure about myself.

Nina came over and parked on the edge of my chair.
She said, “I don’t have to tell you how I feel, Barry—or
do I? Because I knew you wouldn’t do this to us just for
nothing. When we reported you missing, back then, they
kept pestering us. Had there been a fight, quarrels, teenage
rebellions? I got so sick of telling them—I must have sounded
awfully sickening about what a happy home we had and
what a good boy you were. I don’t mean you were perfect
~good Lord, no—but, well, they kept reminding me about
how parents never really know their kids. I must have
sounded like some neurotic mom-type, because I kept say-
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ing, no, Barry isn’t perfect, but this isnt the kind of thing
he’d do to us. He isn’t sadistic. He—he liked us, and if he
wanted to take off for parts unknown, or go join the Foreign
Legion, or hitchhike to New York, or go punch cows in
Alaska, he’d come tcll us, and ask us to forward his maill”

I found that my throat felt funny and had to make a
try or two before T said, “I sure wouldn’t have wanted
to worry you, not if I was in my rigcht mind. I don’t know
why I didn’t get in touch with you”—I stopped, starting to
say “Mother” and then remembering what Dr. Cowan had
said about my always calling her Nina, and finally I didn't
call her anything—“but I don’t think it was because I
didn’t want to. I don’t remember anvthing about it, but if
I didn’t it was because I couldn’t, I'm sure.”

“Enough of that, then. If you ever remember, and want
to tell me, fine. If not, don’t worry about it. And now—are
you hungry?”

“We had supper on the plane. But could I have a glass
of milk or something?”

“As if you had to ask!”

We were kidding it, trving not to overdo it. I said,
“Funny, but I forget where the kitchen is.”

“So it’s time you found out again. Right through there.”
She pointed. I went through the door and found myself
in a kitchen paneled with wood, with vyellow curtains,
very smooth and white and cleaned up for the night. I
hunted in a cabinet or two until I found a glass and poured
myself some milk. Inside, I heard them talking and wished
I had the nerve to tiptoe back and listen in on what they
were saving. Instead, I made some noise falling over my
own feet before I came back with the glass in my hand.
Dr. Cowan, hanging my coat in a closet, tumed to me
and said, “I was just telling Nina that vou've grown about
three inches. You'll have to get a whole new outfit—I
don’t think you've got a stitch of clothes that really fits
you any more.”

I was a little relieved when evervbody decided it was
time for bed; but when I was left alone in the room they
said was mine I found myself prowling around in it rest-
lessly. All these things—the sweaters in the drawers, the
old map of San Francisco and the picture of a windjammer
on the wall, the shelf of textbooks and battered kid’s books
and sea stories over the desk, the basketball shoes and
track suit hanging in the closet, these were all vague clues
to the person that had been me—or Barry Cowan. But were
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they mine, or was I an intruder, an impostor with no
right to them? I put on faded pajamas much too short for
me, and lay down on top of the bedspread, which had a
pattern of anchors and sailboats woven into it. It didn't
take Sherlock Holmes to figure out that Barry Cowan of a
year ago had liked ships and sailing.

1 tried to follow that one out. Had I run away to sea?
I scowled, and then heard in vague memory someone
calling out, “All aboard—lock those hatches!” I clung to the
‘memory, trembling with excitement, and following it up, had
a shaking moment of real memory: a long, very narrow
passage lined with metal. I heard the steps of Dr. Cowan
in the hall, and stepped out to intercept him,

“You look excited,” he said quietly. “What is it?”

“I've remembered something,” I said. “I think I was on
a submarine at least part of that time.”

“A submarine?” He sounded incredulous. “Do you mean
you think you joined the Navy?”

My enthusiasm was suddenly quenched. “No,” I muttered,
“Dr. Bannon said he’d checked my fingerprints. I evident-
ly hadn’t been in military service.” It was a whale of a let-
down. Suddenly I was very tired. I don’t remember what
I said to him. I went back and crawled into bed. But I
lay awake for a long time, jittery with anxiety about this
family I liked but couldn’t feel that I belonged to—and with
fear that if I shut my eyes I would wake up screaming
the way I'd kept doing in the hospital. That would have
been a heck of a thing to do to nice people like this.

Finally I must have crashed, though, because one time
when I shut my eyes, I opened them again to bright sun-
light and the good smell of coffee coming up the stairwell.
When I went downstairs Nina was alone in the kitchen.

“Pancakes?™ She was very casual. “Your father’s gone
to his office; he said if you wanted him you could tele-
phone. Win's gone to school already. Sit down—no, reach
yourself a plate first.”

I found myself wanting to reassure her. “Thanks, the
food in the hospital was pretty blah.”

“Strictly speaking, you ought to call the school, but®
we decided you shouldnt go back to school until you've
been looked over by a doctor.”

I started to protest that, then remembered I still had
bandages on my head and leg, and burns. Time enough
to worry about what they called “picking up the threads
where I'd left off.” I knew I couldn’t do that, but I was

30



willing to go along with them. There was nothing better to
do.

There’s no point in going into details of how I went with
Dr. Cowan and bought some clothes that fit me, or how
a doctor X-rayed my head again and scraped samples from
the burns on my leg (I'd rather not even-.think about that,
because it was fairly grim) and ran all over me with a
Geiger counter. He asked, half joking, if I'd wandered into
Alamagordo, and thought I was kidding when I said 1
hadn’t the least idea. There was a big family conference
including my grandfather (he was a nice, white-haired old
man with a gray short curly beard, who taught cello in
the university music department, but he doesn’t come into
this story anywhere else) about what to do about my
schooling.

I'd missed a year; should I go back? My father held
out that I ought to go back right away, that regular rou-
tine and old friends would do their best for me. I didn’t
want to make any plans until I felt a lot surer about who
I was and what kind of person I had been—not to men-
tion what kind of person I was now. Nina suggested a new
school or a private tutor. Finally we compromised, which
means we shelved the whole thing until January anyway.
I pointed out that I was eighteen, which meant the truant
officer wouldn’t be coming around chasing me, and there
was no awful hurry, and they let it go at that.

Things were awkward as hell; there was no getting a-
round that, They wanted me to see old friends. I knew I
couldn’t hide in the house forever, but I didn’t like the idea
of trying to make conversation with a gang of total strangers.
One came, though, trying to talk about basketball, and
apparently wondering if I'd spent last year stashed away in
an insane asylum somewhere, and after that Nina didnt
insist any more. So I more or less spent my time with them
and Winifred. I read a lot, trying to pick up the things
I used to know.

But a few damned funny things happened.

For instance.

There was the night that Jens Swenson came to dinner.

He was evidently an old friend of the family. I liked
him right away; a short, baldish little guy with a perma-
nent pipe in his mouth, a face made out of pleated leather
as if he'd spent all his time aboard the quarterdeck of a
windjammer, and, according to my parents, thirty-two sci-
ence-fiction novels to his credit. I had a short shelf of them
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in my room, signed by him. I don’t know what Father and
Nina had told him about me, but he didn’t pester me
with questions, and after twenty minutes’ conversation I
felt as if I'd known him all my life. Of course, I had, but
he was the first person I'd felt that way about.

After dinner, when we were sitting in front of the fire-
place, watching the driftwood fire blaze up, he fell silent,
scowling into the flames, a_beer can in his hand.

“What’s biting you, Jens?” Father asked. “Deadline blues?
A novel to finish that you're stuck on?”

“Not exactly,” he said. “Just a problem I wrote myself
into, and I haven’t got the know-how to write myself out
of it. And I dont know anyone well enough to ask.” He
set down the beer. “A spaceship traveling at half the speed
of light on planetary drive, and three times the speed
of light on hyperdrive, expected to call in at three widely
separated stars—and I can’t figure out how long they'd be
in space each way, or how long before landing they’d have
to come out of drive to keep from crash-landing.”

Nina laughed. “Write around that one,” she said. “Just in-
vent any kind of drive you want to, and keep them in
space just long enough for your hero to lick your villain.”

“No,” he said, “I'm intrigued by the relative ideas in-
volved, but I haven’t even got enough math to make it
sound plausible, let alone really figure it out.”

I was frowning over the problem. A planetary drive of
half the speed of light sounded sort of implausible, but
given those figures— “Hold on, I'll work it out, Jens,” I
said, and got up to go into my father’s study. “Dad, you
have an old slide rule around somewhere, don’t you, along
with that sextant?” I was rummaging on his desk. Nina fol-
lowed me to the door, and said, “Why, Barry, I thought—-"
but my father put his hand on her arm. He said, “The
slide rule’s in that pigeonhole with the lettering guides,
Barry. Go to it.”

I grabbed up pencil and paper. “How far apart are
the stars in question, Jens?”

“Well, I picked them out on a star-map to sound good,”
he said a little hesitantly, and pulled a piece of paper out
of his pocket. “I've been carrying them around just in case,
but I didn’t know you knew that much math.” He handed
me the paper with the figures.

I frowned over them, absorbed. “I assume they have
ll;lam;s in accordance with the regular mass-distance-size

ws
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He chuckled helplessly. “I guess so. Whatever those are.
I know I'm a hell of a guy to be writing science-fiction—I
usually write around the scientific stuff, like Nina suggested.”

“Well then.” I moved the slide rule, frowning a little. “If
they start from Earth, you can’t tum on any faster-than-
light drive inside the orbit of Saturn, or you'll crash the
asteroids. Say two weeks to reach that point; then to hit
your first star’s fourth planet, you have to come out of drive
after seven weeks, two days and twenty-two and a half
hours—that’s allowing for your standard time-mass drift
inside hyperspace, see?”

He bent over the sheet of paper, writing down my fig-
ures. I finished the computations, then asked, “Think that
will do it?”

“It's sure going to sound damned plausible,” he said. “It
looks like you ought to be writing the science-fiction in
the family, kid!” He picked up the forgotten beer can
and drained it. “Where did you get all that stuff?”

“Why, uh=" I suddenly realized that the impetus had
drained out of me. “Damned if I know,” I said weakly. “I
must have been putting it together from my school math
last year.”

“Barry,” my father said quietly, “you have good marks,
but you failed required math, and refused to take any
more courses in it. I always thought you could learn it if
you tried, but you said it was too much like work and you
wouldnt be bothered. I couldn’t even get you to learn
navigation. Where in the hell did you learn to figure out all
that stuff like an old hand?”

I shook my head and suddenly realized I was sweating
all over. “Can I have a glass of beer?” I suddenly asked.
Nina gave me one without arguing. I gulped it down, al-
most without tasting it.

I was—scared.

It had seemed so real, so sensible to me, while I was
doing it. And now I realized that nobody on Earth, except
maybe professional astrologers—or did I mean astronomers?
—ever had to figure out that sort of thing.

Jens asked, “What was all that about a mass-time drift
inside hyperspace? Is that something new they've figured
out in aerospace? I admit I don’t keep up with my reading
in the space and aeronautics field the way I used to.”

“Well, it—" I began, then suddenly grabbed hold of my-
self. I'd been reading som~thing about space travel in the
news magazines lately and as far as I knew, hyperspace

33



was just a theory. “I don’t know,” I said weakly; “it jusi
sounded good and authentic to take a small fixed percentage
of time and space for drift.”

“Oh, I'm going to use it. It sounds convincing,” he said,
and my father, picking up the slide rule I'd let drop, said
quietly, “But the mass-distance-size laws about planets are
accurate enough. There is a law which states the distance
from a sun where you'll find planets—the astronomer Her-
schel discovered Uranus that way, by postulating that there
ought to be a planet at that distance from the sun, and
hunting for it there. It looks like, somewhere, you've been
picking up the rudiments of celestial navigation, Barry.”

“Maybe I went to school somewhere,” 1 said, almost biting
my lip. “Maybe I just saw a lot of science-fiction movies.”

Jens put his hand on my shoulder firmly, almost con-
solingly. “I wouldn't worry,” he said in an offhand way.
“At least you've learned something worth learning.”

Yeah, 1 thought, but what? Leamed how to compute
something they haven’t invented yet?

Winifred giggled. “Hey, maybe you spent all that time
on a flying saucer and the little green men taught you,” she
suggested, still laughing. “And then they used one of their
super-hyper rays on you to make you forget it—"

I rounded on her, taking one fast step, feeling the blood
drain from my face. “Damn it,” I yelled, “that’s enoughl
Shut up! Quit picking on mel Don’t say things like that,
it’s not funny—"

Nina grabbed my arm. She said sharply, “Quiet, Win,
that wasn’t very funny. Barry, she didn’t mean any harm.”

Winifred’s eyes were huge and startled. I muttered,
the anger ebbing away, “I'm sorry, Win. That"—I tried to
make a joke of it—“that was just a little too close to what
I was beginning to be afraid of myself.”

Jens was looking at me speculatively, but, like the rest
of the family, he let it drop. They were so damned tactful
about it, that it almost hurt. At that particular point, I
think I'd almost wanted to talk about it. My memory was
gone, but at this point it had shown signs of coming back,
and there must have been something to it. And yet they
evidently felt it would be wrong to probe.

Maybe it would. Maybe if when I remembered some-
thing, it was going to be something as crazy as that—well,
I'd been reading a few books on psychology tco. Oh, the
math was accurate enough. I checked that in a textbook a
couple of days later. I was dead right on the slide rule and
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all the computations. Somewhere in that missing year I'd
learned a heck of a lot of math: good, solid stuff. But—if
1 invented impossible memories out of a science-fiction
movie—what in the world were those fake memories trying
to cover up, and why?

That was about when the dreams began.

I didn’t tell anybody about them, because 1 knew what
they'd say—it was what I tried to tell myself. Jens’s talk
about planets, my freak stunt with the slide rule, and Win’s
damned un-funny joke about maybe I spent that time in a
flying saucer, all combined to give me the damnedest set
of nightmares you ever heard of.

I was in some kind of spaceship, tied into a seat, with
something rigged up behind my head so if I went to sleep
and my head dropped it would ring a bell and wake me
up again. I had to figure out some kind of orbit or there
would be terrible trouble, and behind me some kind of
lock was opening and someone, or some thing, was coming
through it . . . and at this point I would wake up, sweating
or maybe screaming in my sleep.

Or 1 was tied down in a bunk somewhere and outside
the spaceport a planet kept getting bigger and bigger and
coming at us faster and faster. ...

Same drill. Screams and all.

I can’t have been awfully easy to live with while this
was going on. Nina even started talking again about a
doctor. I held out against it, mostly because 1 was scared.
Losing your memory is bad enough; but remembering
things that just have to be hallucinations—I kept telling
myself that as long as I knew they were hallucinations, I
was okay.

If it had kept on like this, I might really have gone crazy.
Pm beginning to think people don’t have hallucinations
because they are crazy; they go crazy because they have
hallucinations and don’t know what to do about them. But
fortunately, the next thing that happened was something
tangible. After that, I knew I wasn’t crazy; some damned
funny things were happening but they weren’t all inside
me. And that made all the difference.

I might not have noticed the first thing, and to this day
I'm not sure. It might have been an accident. But it fitted
in so well with what happened later. . . .

There wasnt much for me to do these days. Among
other things, I was still having to check in with a doctor
every other day about those burmms on my leg, which didn’t
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seem to want to heal. So I meandered around, reading
books from the library, prowling around the De Young
Museum, trying to pick up things I'd forgotten. Everything
I leamed was new, of course, though some seemed to be
newer than others.

I suppose everybody who’s ever had a mental breakdown
thinks, at some time or other, that somebody’s following
him, so I told myself not to be paranoid when I noticed the
same character half a dozen times in the museum. He was
probably some kook from the university, who had a pas-
sion for the medieval tapestry or something.

But then there was the time I went in the restaurant for
a sandwich. It was raining like the devil and my raincoat
was soaked, so I hung it on a rack near the door instead
of over the back of my chair as I usually would have done.
I finished my sandwich, paid the check and went to claim
the coat—and there was that same little guy, walking out
the door in my coat.

I yelled and chased after him, but the manager grabbed
me to pay the check and I lost him.

Now don’t tell me that was an accident. The little guy—I
never got a good look at his face—was about five foot two,
and my coat looked like Dracula’s cape on him. There just
isn’t any absentminded professor that absentminded.

Nina was nice when I told her about it; I'd somehow
expected her to be cross at me for having lost a perfectly
good coat. But later that evening the doorbell rang, and
when she went to answer it, there was nobody there—but
the coat lay, a soggy mess, wadded up on the doorstep. I
came and carried it to hang up, and then, when I took it
by the collar to shake it out, I realized there wasn’t any
coat left. It had been slit at every seam, the lining cut loose,
every pocket ripped open and even the stiffening inside the
collar pulled out and picked to pieces.

Nina did throw a fit then, and I don't blame her. I
was as baffled as she was, but I think she had a sneaking
suspicion that for some completely crazy reason I'd arranged
to have this done. She never said so, but she looked at
me in the damnedest way. As for my father, he had two
theories, which unfortunately canceled each other out. He
wavered between thinking it was some idiot prank by
some school kid, which gave me a fit—I couldn’t imagine
anyone I knew doing anything so pointless and stupidly de-
structive; and if they didn’t know me, how had they known
where to return the coatP—or that it was some devious
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criminal plot and he should call the police, which gave
Nina a fit. She said, and with some justice, that she’d had
enough police to last her a lifetime.

I could have tipped the scales toward the police, but I
didn’t. And I was damned glad I'd.been the one to answer
the phone, later that night. I picked it up and said the
gutomatic, polite “Hello?” and first there was a silence dur-
ing which—I don’t want to exaggerate—I kept hearing some-
one, or something, breathing. Not that there’s anything sin-
ister about breathing. Everybody does it all the time, so
don’t ask me why it bothered me, except to wonder why
somebody would call me up on the phone and breathe
at me. Then a sort of a voice said, “Cowan?”

“This is Barry Cowan. Did you want Professor Cowan?”

“No,” the sort of voice rasped, or husked—no, neither
of those things describes it, but it articulated. “Did you
get your coat back?”

“Just a minute,” I said sharply. “Who is this?”

“You're clever,” the voice went on, though it sounded
more like, “Yuuh clevuh.” “We didn’t find it. Better leave
it in the place you know about, or youll look just like
that coat—only in more pieces.”

“What's that? What—"

But the phone was dead, only the dial tone’s buzzing
emerging from it.

I stood with it in my hand for a minute, then slowly
replaced it. Nina called from the other room, “Who is it,
Barry?®”’

I said thoughtfully, “Just a wrong number, I guess. They
asked for—somebody I never heard of,” which was, in a
way, true.

I lay awake that night again, in a cold sweat. It had
been bad enough thinking I was going crazy. But now I
had traded hallucinations for unpleasantly tangible realities.
Something out of those lost months was reaching for me—
and I didn't like the sound of it at all. That coat hadn’t
just been ripped. It had been picked apart and shredded.

The idea that if I didn’t recover some mysterious “it” for
that voice, I'd look like the coat, was nothing to reassure
me about the tangibiilty of whatever had happened to
me. People didn’t do that to other people in this corner of
the world, and if 1 had been in a comer where they did,
I wasn’t anxious to renew my acquaintance with it. Or them.

Maybe I should have gone straight to my father and
sent him straight to the police. But it seemed to me that he
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and Nina had already been through enough on my accoun

And what could they have wanted, anyhow? I didr
have anything on me, when I was picked up by the hospit:
except the clothes I wore, a few cents in change, a phot
graph, and a hunk of carved brass.

I snapped on my lamp to look at it; I kept it, for somr
reason, in the drawer of my bedside table. During the timr
my burns had been healing, I'd read a few of the bool
lying around the house—kids’ books, a lot of them, an
thrillers—and of course I'd come across the old yarn abot
the mysterious jewel which was the eye of some Easter
idol. The poor character who got away with it was dogge
by sinister Chinamen or lascars, whatever lascars were, unt
he died a horrible death, cutching the jewel. I felt like
fool, but I wondered if the brass dragon was some mel
dramatic hunk of junk like that.

I was reluctant to pick it up. I remembered that, while
was still weak in the hospital, staring at it had made m
throw some kind of wingding. But I had to check on it.

If this were valuable, I was one of Win’s little green men
It was an ordinary hunk of brass, made of the same stuff a
a door key or an ashtray. It was nicely shaped into the forn
of a small dragon, but the carving wasn’t anything t
write home about either; in fact, it wasn’t carved so mucl
as milled. It could have been one of those cheap things tha
say A Present from Chinatown and mounted on an ashtray
only it seemed the wrong sort of size for that. Its value
could have been something like thirty-nine cents. So scratcl
the mysterious eye of the idol of the Great God Foofooroney
complete with sinister Chinamen or lascars or little greer
men. This piece of junk could be thrown out anytime. |
started to toss it into a wastebasket, then something helc
my hand. No, damn it, it was the only souvenir I had of a
baffling experience. Even if it was only the remnant of a
shopping trip in some lost-and-forgotten equivalent of China-
town or a distant ten-cent-store—if I'd been to Texas, 1
might have been anywhere~I'd keep it until I remembered
what it was and why I'd bothered to spend my probable
thirty-nine cents on the thing.

I slept that night, after a fashion, dreaming that I'd
been hauled off by little green men who had me tied up
by one leg and were torturing me to find out why I'd
bought a brass dragon in Chinatown. Dr. Fu Manchu was
in the dream, too, and so was Sherlock Holmes, so I didn’t
bother trying to analyze the dream for remnants of sub-
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conscious memory when I woke up—especially since I'd
forgotten to go and have the bandages changed on that
damned burn on my leg, and I didn’'t need little green
men to torture me over it—but I did wake up with an idea.
While I was waiting for nine o’clock, so I could call the
doctor and make up for the appointment I'd missed, I
hauled ocut the set of clothes they’d found me in, in the
hospital, and looked them over. I called Nina in and asked
her help. ,

“Nina, what kind of material is this? Is it what they call
denim?”

“No, denim’s what they make blue jeans out of,” she
informed me, scowling over it. “It's good quality stuff,
though. Not nylon, probably; too porous. Nylon clothes are
sweat-boxes in hot weather, and this stuff is ventlated.
Maybe it’s some kind of dacron blend, or a new synthetic.
It looks coarse but it’s very good quality, like the stuff
they make sails out of for small boats, or really good tents.
1 don’t know.”

“eVghere would you go to buy something like this?” 1
asked.

“There you have me. I thought I knew a bit about
clothes and materials, but—~maybe it's Army or Navy stuff.
Very good quality surplus. You might look in an Army and
Navy store. Or a very good sports store. But it doesn’t seem
to have been made on ordinary sewing machines. Look at
those seams.” She demonstrated, tugging at one. “I can’t
think of any sewing machine that makes crosswise stitches
like that. Maybe it's some foreign stuff, Russian or some-
thing, Maybe Swiss, they make a lot of good special moun-
tain-climbing equipment and stuff like that, and it looks
adapted to rugged weather stuff. It's not Amercan.” She
looked disturbed. “Did you get this while—"

“While my memory was goneP Yes,” I said, “but that
doesn’t mean anything. I could have been climbing moun-
tains in Oregon and bought it or swapped it from some
European tourist, you know. Or it could be some new
Army surpus stuff you just haven’t seen yet.”

But when she’d gone out of the room, I did the same sort
of job on those coveralls that they, whoever they were, had
done on my coat. It was a good idea but it didn’t get
me anywhere. By the end of half an hour I was sure that
nothing was hidden in that coverall, seams, pockets or
padded spots.

They say if you know where something isnt, you're half-
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way to knowing where it is. Well, whatever it was, I knev
where it wasn’t. Now if I only knew what it was . . .

But that line of thought wasn’t getting me anywhere, st
I finally got up and called the doctor. At least he wa
only interested in the very tangible burns on my leg, no
the unpleasantly intangible things in my brain. Although
if I thought about it enough, there was something awfully
damned mysterious about those burns too. Not to mentio
unpleasant.

CHAPTER FOUR

Tue NexT THING that happened was in the “unpleasantl
tangible” class too; the house was searched.

It was a Saturday and for once it wasn’t raining, s
my father and Nina decided it would be a good weeken
to drive up along the coast and see the redwoods agair
I gathered it was something our family had done almos
every year since I was a litte kid. They'd skipped it las
year while I was missing, and although I wasn’t in much ¢
a mood for travel or sight-seeing, I could sympathize wit
their wish to take up all the family things where they le
off. So I wasn’t about to spoil it for them; and the funn
thing was that I did, sort of, remember the scenery alon
that Northern California coast. The way the ocean stretchec
blue and misty, from Point Reyes out toward the Fara
lones; the enormous towering redwoods, so high that whe
you looked straight up along their trunks, you got dizz
and started feeling as if you were looking down, into
deep well of sky . . . all this was weirdly familiar to m
and in a way, comforting. Maybe I did belong here afte
all. Maybe all the other things were bad dreams. Mayt
during that year of God-knows-what, I'd just seen too man
science-fiction movies.

We spent the night up in the Russian River distric
drove all through mountains and high cliffs the next da
and arrived back in Berkeley late at night, with Winifre
asleep on my shoulder. Nina went to turn on the lights i
the house; I set Win on her feet and hoisted out the sui
cases, while my father opened the garage door to put th
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car away. I was just picking up the overnight cases to
take them up the walk when I heard Nina scream.

I dropped the suitcases and ran. She was standing in
the middle of the living room—and the place was chaos.

Chairs overturned. Rugs turned back as if somebody had
been rummaging inside them. The contents of the china
closet tipped out on the dining room table and two or
three good pieces of Wedgewood china broken. And so
forth and so on, all over the house.

My father, standing grimly in the wreckage, said, with his
lips pressed tight, that at least we had insurance against
vandalism. But no amount of insurance, I knew, could make
up for the fright on Nina’s face, or the way she looked at
me. Not as if she blamed me. I'd been in the car with
them the whole time it was happening. But as if, once
again, I'd brought some incredible fear into their lives. It
was inexplicable, and it was all over the house. They'd
even ripped up Winifred’s old teddy bear, seam to seam,
and strewed its stuffings all over her room. That was what
got me most. She didn’t cry; she put on that very grown-up
little face and said oh well, she was too big to play with
that old thing anyhow, but she looked so bewildered, it
broke my heart.

" My father called the police right away, of course. But
he kept me out of it, and he didn’t say anything about the
coat; he didn’t say anything about the telephone threat,
either, “because I hadn’t told him. And, though my own
room was the worst of all, nothing was missing, except
the brown coveralls I'd ripped to pieces looking for—well, for
something. And I wasn't even sure they were missing, be-
cause Nina might have thrown them out.

It was midnight by the time the police and the insurance
people had come and gone, and Nina and my father called
a halt on any further discussion and speculation. But I
didn’t go to sleep. I sat up in my room, biting my lip, and
staring at the wall, halfway back to my first theory about
the mysterious whatsit of the sinister idol.

Because this time, I'd had that blasted little dragon in
‘my pocket; I'd taken it along with me to Northern California.
Now they’d searched my clothes—when I didn’t have it—
and my house—when I did. I couldn’t think of anything else
I had that I hadn’t had before.

I turned it over in my hand again and again. It wasn’t
valuable, damn it! It wasn't made of some strange strategic
metal; it was ordinary soft brass. A pin could scratch it;
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I know because I tried. It had a rough place on one side
as if it had been broken off something; an ashtray? There
was nothing inside it—I thought of that too, and went
over it with a magnifying glass, but the thing was abso-
lutely solid, without even a hairline crack. Not even Dr.
Fu Manchu could have hidden anything inside it.

Blast it, was I getting completely paranoid? Hoodlums
had been known to attack and vandalize houses, even here
in the Berkeley hills, for no reason at all. Did it necessarily
have to be connected with the year I had lost out of my
life? But no matter how I reassured myself, I was still
afraid to lie down and go to sleep. I dont know whether I
was afraid of dreaming—or of something worse happening.

I spent most of the next day helping Nina clean up the
mess. My father stayed home from his office and helped
too, and he must have seen how I jumped every time the
telephone rang. Finally, when Nina had broken off to make
us some sandwiches, he stopped putting towels back in
the linen closet, and turned to me.

“Never mind those now, Barry. Come here.”

I came, without saying anything, and he looked straight
into my eyes. “I don’t want to nag you, son. But you know
something about this, don’t you?”

“No,” I said nuserably “‘No. I was just vwshmg 1did.”

“What are you afraid of, then?”

“I-” my voice tangled itself up. Finally I got out, “I
only wish I knew.”

“Barry, if you werent so shaken up I'd never have
dreamed you had anything to do with it.”

“How could I have had anything to do with it? I burst
out. “I was with you and Ninal” Then I bit my lip and
muttered, “Look, sir, I-I didn’t have anything to do with it.”

“But can you give me your word that it had nothing to
do with you?”

I hesitated, and he said quickly, “I'm not blaming you.
But can you give me your word— Barry, I think I'd under-
stand, if you'd gotten into something, if you'd joined a
gang and run out on them, and they were trying to intim-
idate you— I don’t want to sound like the heavy father,
but if you'd tell me about it I just might be able to help. 1
can't do a thing if you don’t tell me.”

I shook my head. “It makes some sense,” 1 said, “but all
I can say is what I said before. I don’t remember. Honestly,
I don’t. I swear I don’t.” I felt like crying. What kind of
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jerk did he think I was, to let something like this happen to
my family, if I'd known what was going on?

* “But you know something.” It wasn’t even a question. And
I couldn’t say anything because what I did remember, or
guess, or surmise, could only land me with life on the
funny-farm.

He looked at me for another minute or two, then shrugged

his shoulders. “All right,” he said. “Here comes Nina with
some lunch. You might think about her a little bit; she
can’t take much more. No, go get your lunch,” he added
a little curtly, as I bent to pick up the rest of the towels.
“I'll put those away.”
" I went to take the lunch tray from Nina, but I felt rotten.
I knew he didn’t believe me, and it hurt. I aready knew
he was the kind of father I'd want to have trusting me.
And Nina had been through too much already. What had
I brought into their house now?

I tried not to show it, but I still jumped when the tele-
phone rang. I certainly didn’t want Nina—or worse, Win—
to answer the phone and hear that sinister, unreal voice
that breathed and made horrible threats.

They say a watched pot never boils. All that day I
grabbed the phone whenever it rang, and it was never any-
body except the insurance company, or someone from the
university for my father, or a newspaperman asking ques-
tions, or one of Win's friends wanting her to come and
watch television. But the next day I went to the doctor—
the burns were finally healing, but I still had to have the
dressings changed—and the minute I came back I could
tell from Nina’s face that something else had happened.

“Barry, you had a long-distance call while you were out.”

“Who was it?” I almost yelled.

“I don’t know. Whoever it was didn’t give any name,
and when I said you were out, he went off the line, and
the operator said that you were to call Operator Seventeen
in Abilene, Texas.”

I started toward the phone without even taking off my
coat. “What the devil for?”

“He didn't say,” Nina said dryly, “but it was probably
some ghost out of that mysterious past of yours.”

I stopped dead, forgetting the phone, and stared at her.
For the first time it occurred to me. Other people had
thought I was malingering; was it possible that my parents
thought so too? My parents?

And, right on the heels of that thought, another one:
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I expect them to trust me. Does that mean that, uncon-
sciously, I really have accepted that they are my parents?
Do I really believe, by now, that 1 am Barry Cowan, their
son?

“I'm sorry, Barry,” Nina said a little sharply. “Don’t look
at me like that. I shouldn’t have said that. Only—to have
thought all this time that you were dead, and then to have
you come back, a grown-up stranger, with all these—these
devilish things happening . . .”

I felt so helpless. I suppose I should have hugged her,
or something, but I simply felt at a loss. I said at last,
“Look, Nina—Mother,” 1 added a little awkwardly. “Why
do you think I'm so eager about all this? I'm going crazy,
too, trying to figure it out—and Texas is where they found
me. If it could give me even a clue—well, part of the rea-
son I'm worried is that I don’t want all these things happen-
ing to you and Win, and Father.”

Her face was controlled again, and she gave me a wry
little smile and a pat on the arm. “And we dont want
them happening to you. Go and make your phone call,
then, and if it sheds any light on this wretched business,
be damned sure you let me know!”

I rang the operator for Abilene, Texas, according to in-
structions. “There was a long-distance call for Barry Cowan?”

“Just one moment, Mr. Cowan.” There were the usual
buzzings and beeps, and then I heard a faraway phone
ringing. And ringing. And ringing. And then the operator’s
voice again, like tl%e death knell of that particular hope.
“I'm very sorry, Mr. Cowan, that line does not answer. The
call must have been cancelled.”

I wanted to swear. “Who was callingP”

“The party did not leave a nay-yum,” the operator said
in a singsong.

“But you must have had the number,” I said frantically.
“Whose number is it?”

“I'm soh-ry, we cannot give out that in-for-may-shun,” she
said, and disconnected abruptly, leaving me again with a
dial tone and a rising frenzy of frustration. Was every door
going to slam in my face? Nina, watching from the door,
demanded, “Barry, is something wrong?”

Was anything right? 1 felt like swearing again, but why
take it out on Nina? “No,” I said numbly. “Just—another
practical joke or something. Nobody on the line.”

When Nina had gone about her household chores again
I sat by the phone, scowling. Who could have been calling
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me from Texas, and why? Probably the key lay in my lost
memory, in something that had happened before that cur-
tain of fogginess came down like a guillotine between me
and whatever had happened.

Roland? 1 thought of him with shudders; but at least
he had manifested an open, not a concealed, interest in
me. With sudden resolution I picked up the phone, then
paused and yelled, “Nina?”

She appeared at the kitchen door. “Yes?”

“You mind if I make a long-distance phone call?”

“I guess not, though it would help if you could wait
till evening when the rates go down.” But I looked so
crushed that she made a dismissing gesture. “Go ahead.
We aren’t that short of money, and it’s worth it not to have
you worrying.”

But when I had dialed the number for information, and
had Abilene on the line, I realized this was a false trail. I
asked for Mr. Roland, and realized that I didn’t know the
man’s Christian name—or even, for certain, if he lived in
Abilene or had a telephone, or if Roland was his real name.
I apologized to the operator and put the phone down again.
Nina, on her way upstairs, taking off the apron she wore
for kitchen chores, saw my dejected face and stopped be-
side me, asking, “What's the matter? No answer again?”

“I didn’t know where to call.”

“Barry, you were in a hospital in Texas, weren’t you?
Could it have been one of the doctors there, wondering
if you were all right again? And—well, doctors are busy
people, that could explain why he wasn’t there when you
called back. If you wait, he might call again.”

That, for some reason, cheered me up again. That was
certainly the most logical explanation. Dr. Bannon had
asked me to let him know how I got on, and probably
the doctor who had been dressing my burns had checked
with the hospital in Abilene. I even thought, with a de-
gree of pleasure, of the red hair and perky smile of the
little nurse—Lisa something—Lisa Barnard, that was it. She
had seemed really friendly, not just professionally so. I pulled
the telephone toward me with a resolute air, managed to get
the Fendrick Hospital in Abilene without any trouble, and
had Dr. Robert Bannon paged and called to the telephone.

After a short time his slow, pleasantly familiar voice came
through the wires. “Dr. Bannon speaking.” ’

“This is Barry Cowan, Doctor. Do you remember me?”

He hesitated only a minute. “Why, of course, the amnesia
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case. How are you, Barry? Has your memory come back
all right?”

“Not entirely, but it was something else— Doctor, did you
telephone me a short time ago?”

Now he sounded startled. “Why, no. I'm sorry to say
I hadn’t even thought of you for weeks. Why?”

That was a good question, and I felt like a fool. Of course
not, I wasn’t his patient; why should he worry about me
or even think about me again? “Oh, just that I got a call
from Abilene, and missed it, and I couldn’t think of anyone
else. I'm sorry to have bothered you, Dr. Bannon.”

“No bother at all.” He said with quite genuine heartiness,
“Glad to hear from you, and I'm only sorry I can’t help
you. Who else could it have been? Did you ever hear any
more from that Mr. Roland who thought you were his son?”

“I thought of him, but I don’t have his address and didn't
know-"

Dr. Bannon said, “I believe he gave an address to the
hospital. I can get it for you, if you like. Shall I switch you
to records, and have them check your file?”

I thanked him and said goodbye, and he transferred the
call. In a few minutes I was in possession of an address—an
innocuous number on Simmons Street—and, although there
was no telephone number attached, I was sure I could
get it by calling the operator again.

Now the weird part starts.

I could not make myself pick up that phone and ask for
the number of the mysterious Roland.

I could not. I physically could not. Half a dozen times
I told myself this was ridiculous, idiotic, and reached out
my hand to the phone—and then I'd drop it, weak all over
and dripping icy sweat.

What the devil was I afraid of? What could he do to me
from sixteen hundred miles away? Even if he had an ex-
tensible arm like one of the monsters from Jens’s science-
fiction novels, it wouldn’t reach that far!

Was I afraid that, if he answered the telephone in an
unguarded moment, I would hear that strange breathing
sound and that ghastly articulation? Was I giving myself
nightmares because some hooligan had a speech impedi-
ment?

I must have sat there for the best part of two hours, and
I might still be there except that the front door banged and
Nina came in from shopping. “Lunch, Barry? Did you make
your call? I got some of that Monterey cheese you like;
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we'll have it on toasted sandwiches. Was it the Texas
doctor?”

I told her no, it wasn’t, and ate lunch, trying to put it all
out of my mind. Briefly I wished Texas wasnt so far
from California. It might be easier to go and find that Ro-
land character and find out just what it was about him
that made me cringe. I couldn’t go on jumping at shadows.
I'd go nuts. I laughed out loud, so that Nina stared at me;
go nuts? According to most people, I was nuts already!

I should have known things couldn’t go on like that
without reaching some sort of breaking point. Nothing goes
on forever; either it stops of itself, or—something happens.
Considering the state we were all in, it had to happen soon.
And it did.

Since the searching of the house, my father and I made
the rounds every night to make sure that all the doors and
windows were locked. When I was in my room, however, it
seemed so intolerably stuffy that, after tuming out the
lights, I threw the window open. After all, Nina could be
overdoing this safety business. My bedroom was on the
second floor, and nobody except a human fly could get
in at the window.

I stood there looking out into the night. Far away, the
Golden Gate Bridge was a delicate arch of lights, like a
Christmas tree garland. Beyond the bridge, the sky was
flooded with full moon, and below me the garden was
dark and quiet with little leaf rustlings. I lay down, look-
ing at the moonlit window, not at all sleepy.

It might have been the moonlight that brought back the
very clear memory. It was not imagination or a dream; I
was wide awake. I remembered standing in a great desert,
with low thick shrubbery around me, and moonlight over-
head, strange greenish moonlight—and a moon curiously
small, curiously bright.

Where had these strange memories come from? Were
they only fantasies of amnesia? It was bad enough to have
a lost memory; but when I began remembering things, and
knowing that they were things that couldn’t happen—what
was I to think?

That was how I knew that what followed was no night-
mare. I was far too keyed up, too tense for sleep. I lay
there watching the moonlight, and cudgeling my brain to
try to force myself to remember, and then—something
moved at the window.

I dont know to this day how he got there, but I saw
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him clearly outlined, head, shoulders, arms against the
moonlit square of window. I reared up with a yell.

“Hey, you! What are you doing there?”

There was a huge snapping roar that seemed to fill the
whole room and something whistled past my head. I leaped
for the light, snapped it on; the shadowy form lurched and
was gone. I ran to the window to see whether he had fallen
or jumped, and beyond,- in the garden, something flapped—
something huge, ugly, horrible and dark. Sickness surged
up in me, and horror; I retched, and ran for the bath-
room. '

I just made it.

I was still there, still heaving with that inexplicable crawl-
ing sickness, when I heard them all in the hall, and after a
minute my father came into the bathroom. He didn’t say
a word, just wet a washcloth at the sink and handed it
to me. I mopped my face, but I was dripping with cold
sweat again.

“What happened, Barry?”

I could only say, “There was something at the window—"
I felt my voice shaking and failing. “I know it sounds crazy.
Something—I thought it was a man and then I saw it
wasn't; it was something, some thing—"

“I heard you yell,” Dr. Cowan said, “and I heard— 1
didn’t see anything, though. Barry, this can’t go on. Your
mother and sister can’t take it. And you—" He looked at
me sympathetically, but I thought I knew what he was
thinking.

“You think I ought to get out? Just pack up and leave
before I cause any more trouble?”

“Good God, no!” He sounded honestly horrified. “Thai
never entered my head. Son, how can you say a thing like
that? This is your home; we’re your family! Whatever hap-
pens o you, we want to share itl But we've got to find out,
whatever is going onl We've got to find out if it’s real, or—"

“If it’s real,” 1 said bitterly. “You still think I'm crazy! I
you'd only seen—"

“No,” he said. “I admit I thought, at first, that all you'c
been through had left you mentally unbalanced. Now I'r
not so sure. And besides—when I heard you cry out, |
went into your room first, and this was lying on the floor.”
He held out his hand, a small round thing lying in it. |
didn’t recognize it, and said so.

“It's a cartridge case,” he said, “from a rifle bullet
Someone shot at you.”
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“But—the thing I saw—" I began to shake again.

“Son, you had a nightmare and mixed it up with what
happened,” he said. “But—there was a man there, and how-
ever he got up to that window, he was real. Nightmares
don’t carry guns.”

There was no more sleep for me that night. The blend-
ing of memory and nightmare kept me lying awake, star-
ing into space and racking my brain for a solution.

When moming came, I knew what I had to do. It might
pot be the best solution, but it was the only thing that
came to me, the only thing I could think of doing at this
time.

At breakfast, neither Nina nor my father mentioned the
disturbance in the night; I wondered whether they were
waiting for me to bring it up. But when Win had taken
her schoolbooks and gone, and my father was getting his
briefcase, I buttonholed him in his study.

“Father, when I first came back, you told me I had some
money of my own—money I'd saved after working one
summer.”

“That’s right. That's why I was sure you hadn’t run
away on your own; youd surely have taken that with
you. It was yours, and though you'd been saving it for
college, if you'd left home of your free will we'd have
wanted you to have it—and you knew that.”
© “I want it now,” I said, and he looked at me, startled.

“What for? It’s yours, you don’t have to ask, but if it’s
for anything ordinary, we are both morally and legally ready
to pay your expenses, you know.”

“I know it,” I said, “but this isn’t ordinary. I want to go
back to Texas.”

I saw the startled question in his eyes and before he
could ask, I rushed on: “I'm going out of my mind, not
knowing what happened! I want to backtrack—to find out
where I was, what I was doing, when, where, how—to
do detective work on myself!”

“Do you think you can?”

“I don’t know,” I said, “but I've got to try.”

“And suppose you never do find out? Dr. Cowan asked.
“Son, I think I know how you feel, but do you think it
will do any goodP I'm afraid you'll simply disappear againl”
His eyes were shrewd. “You say you want to remember,
but—you have remembered something, haven't you?”
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“That’s the main thing,” I told him. “I can't believe that
what I remember is real. It seems—incredible.”

“I'm good at believing things. Why not give me a chance?”

I felt tempted; and yet—how could he believe it when
I didn't believe it myself? He'd surely believe I was deluded,
hallucinating. How could anyone believe these weird mem-
ories of mine—memories of spaceships, of strange views of
alien worlds, of things that had the form of men and weren’t
—surely he’d say they were dreams. I believed they were
dreams, and yet I had to know why they seemed so real
to me. And if these memories were not real, what had
I been doing? Where had I been? And what was that
brass dragon, that I tumed sick and sweating-scared at the
sight of it?”

“Barry, is it a girl?”

I laughed a little, wryly. “No, Dad. Whatever it was, I
can promise you that. The only girl I can think of is the
nurse in the hospital. She’s nice, and I'd like to see her
again, but—she isn't part of this, and I don’t want her to
be - part of it.”

“And suppose you never do find out why you remember
these things which you say don’t make sense?” ?

“Then I'll have no choice. I'll come home and go to that
psychiatrist. But give me a chance to prove it to myself
first.”

“That’s reasonable,” he said slowly. “When do you want
to leave?”

Once he had given way, he helped. He helped me break
it to Nina, and even made it sound reasonable to her. He
took me to the bank to get my money and put it in traveler’s
checks, and bought me a new canvas suitcase.

The hardest thing was to tell Win. I knew she’d hardly
gotton over the shock of having me come back and knowing
I didn’t remember her, and now I was going again. I tried
to explain, but it wasn’t any good. She stood there twisting
her hair and biting at the end of the braid, while her eyes
got bigger and bigger and blacker and blacker.

“I'll come back, Win; I promise. Don't look like that,” I
pleaded. “I'll come back.”

“If you can,” she threw at me. “But suppose you forget
all about us again, and can’t come back?”

There was nothing I could say to that. I tried to hug her,
but she twisted away from me and ran away down the
hall. I felt as if I would break down and bawl like a baby.

Dr. Cowan drove me to the airport, and waited with me
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while they called my flight; and then I was on board the
plane, looking down at him through the window and won-
dering if I'd ever see him again. I was on my way to find
the year that had been sliced out of my life—if it was
my life—and I had only two clues.

Roland, coming to the hospital, had known that my name
was Barry.

And in my pocket was the brass dragon.

CHAPTER FIVE

Durine MosT of the flight, I found myself furtively study-
ing the other passengers. Enough had happened that I had
almost certainly expected to be followed. And yet I saw
po one whom I could surely identify; no vaguely familiar
face which might have come from that mysterious memory,
no little man like the one who had stolen my coat; and
certainly no thing, like whatever it was that had nearly
gotten in at my window. Dr. Cowan had been sure that
was a nightmare; I wasn't nearly as sure. He said night-
mares couldn’t carry guns. I wasn't so sure of that, either.

The flight from San Francisco to Dallas took three hours.
The plane touched down on the airport and I was trans-
Jerred, efficiently and impersonally, to a smaller plane for
“the flight to Abilene, which was off the main airline. This
was it, I told myself; if I couldn’t decide what to do be-
fore I got there, I might not have the chance.

It was mid-October, but when I stepped off the plane
onto the Abilene airfield, I was struck by a wave of sear-
ingly hot, burnt-dry air. The field itself was a bare ex-
panse of white sand, with a few trees that seemed to be
gasping in the heat, carefully lined up around the passen-
ger terminal. I hoisted my one light suitcase, wiping my
forehead with my free hand.

The taxi ranks drawn up before the ‘terminal forced de-
cision on me almost at once. I had no place to start, so I
might as well start where memory had returned. I climbed
in and demanded to be driven to Hendrick Hospital.

The hospital lobby was cool, at least, and after I con-
vinced the girl at the desk that I wasn’t checking in as a
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patient, she agreed to page Dr. Bannon and ask if he was
free to talk to me for a few minutes. After a conversation
over the switchboard she informed me that if I could wait
for an hour, Dr. Bannon could see me in his office.

It was past three when a receptionist told me to go into
Dr. Bannon’s office. He stood up as I came in, extending his
hand.

“Hello, Barry. What brings you to this part of the world
again? I'd have thought you'd have had plenty of Texas
for the present,” he went on jovially, motioning me to a
chair. “What can I do for you? Has your memory come
back yet?”

I was just as glad he hadn’t waited for answers to his
first questions, because the last one was the only one I
knew how to answer. “Only bits and pieces, and what I
remember isn’t very—credible.”

“Have you remembered what caused the accident?”

“No.”

Bannon leaned back, lit a cigarette, offered me one. He
said, “Very probably you never will, you know. That type
of head injury— TI'll try not to be too technical. We doctors
don’t know too much about the mechanism of amnesia. But
one thing is fairly common, even when memory is re-
covered; the memories immediately before and after the
injury seem to be wiped out completely. Possibly there is
some injury to brain cells which store this particular mem-
ory, so that the entire impression is effaced, not only the
memory of it. If you recover memories up to within, say
seventy-two hours of the time you landed in the hospital
I wouldn’t expect any more than that.”

I'd have been content with that. Mostly I wanted tc
know what I'd been doing during the eighteen months los!
out of my life. A little matter of seventy-two hours wouldn’
have bothered me.

“I must admit, though, that I'd hoped you'd have more
to tell me. I was fairly curious about those burns of yours.

“So am 1. So is everybody who’s seen them,” I told him
“Doctor, are there any atomic works or radiation labora
tories in this part of the country?”

He stared. “Why didn’t I think of that,” he said almos
to himself. “It never occurred to me that they could haw
been radiation—or X-ray—burns. Was that checked?”

“I don’t know, but they went all over me with a Geige
counter. But where could I have gotten such a thing?” .
asked him, and he scowled, thinking hard.
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Finally he said, “I dont know. There are top security
air bases here; anything could be going on inside them.
But don't ask me to believe that if you got into an Air
Force base, at least in any part of it where you could get
radiation burns, they’d beat you up and dump you on
the streets of Abilene. Our Air Force just doesn’t work that
way. If that had been it, you'd probably still be in a mili-
tary hospital.”

That made sense, of course. And yet it seemed to leave
no alternative except Win’s little green men and their fly-
ing saucer. I told him so, and he chuckled. “I must say
that makes better sense than any theory so far. Unless you
broke into a doctor’s office and meddled with the X-ray
machines, and he didn’t want to call the police for some
unknown reason.” He shoved back his chair in a clear pre-
liminary to dismissal. “Well, Barry, I'm glad you’re getting
along so well. I wouldn’t worry about it. You've come
through it, whatever it was, without too much trouble. Let
me know how you get along.”

“Wait,” I begged, and he turned his eyes on me, sud-
denly kind again.

“Does this still bother you so much?” he asked. “I hate
to suggest. it to an apparently healthy teenager, but your
father asked if he should take you to a psychiatrist; I
said I didn't think it was necessary, but if youre in this
state—" .

“It’s not a psychiatrist I need,” I said violently, and sud-
denly it poured out of me. “It was bad enough when I
thought I was cracking up. I thought, if I could only be
sure of that, I'd be all right! But it’s real enough so that
even my family is getting scared. I've got to know exactly
what happened! No, don’t look like this; this is no perse-
cution complex!” .

Arrested by my words, he stopped short while I told
him the story; the theft and return of my coat, the tele-
phone calls, the house searched, the bullet fired through
the window. I didn’t mention the nightmares, or the thing
that had prowled and flapped in the garden. The tangible
things were enough.

“So you've decided to do some detective work,” he said
slowly. “Have you talked to the police?”

I shook my head. “What could they do? I assume they
checked up on what had happened to me.”
. He nodded slowly. “But I don’t know what I can do,
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either, Barry. I never saw you until they brought you in
unconscious.”

“Until who brought me in? Where did they find me,
and how? And what exactly was wrong with me?” I asked
abruptly, “Did I look as if I'd been beaten up?”

He stopped to consider. “Not exactly,” he said. “Not in
the ordinary sense of the word. More as if you'd been
blackjacked, or gotten in the way of something like a tele-
phone pole falling on your head. There was a very faint
skull fracture, you know. And there’s one thing you ought
to consider,” he added. “I'm not denying what you say,
but such things do occasionally produce recurrent and fair-
ly obstinate hallucinations.”

I felt a little grim. “Ask my mother if a hallucination
ever turned a house upside-down. I doubt if even a whole
crew of poltergeists could have done that!”

He nodded. But I could see him making mental notes.
“Your parents know you’re here?”

I told him yes, knowing that he would check on it any-
way. Well, I wasn't worried about what he would find out.
I asked one more question, anyway.

“It was the police who found me? Do you suppose they
know anything?”

“I don’t suppose they’d know much,” he said, “but there’s
sure to be some record of the event. You could go and ask,
if you like.”

He rose again, and although I wished I could ask more
questions, I knew he was a busy man, and I wasn’t even
his patient anymore. He shook my hand again and told me
to let him know how I got along, but I was so shaken by
his suggestion of recurrent hallucinations that it seemed
only the humoring he might give a child or a lunatic.

When I came out in the street again, into the blast fur-
nace of afternoon sunlight, I noticed that the gates of the
hospital were filled with white-uniformed nurses. A glance
at my watch told me it was four o’clock. The nurses were
changing shifts now; it was just possible I would see that
one particular redhead for whom I was looking. The crowd
of nurses thinned out, and I had begun to turn away when,
at the edge of the building, I saw a slight, red-haired girl,
heading for a parking lot. She was about to get into a car;
I ran toward her.

“Lisal Lisa Barnard!”

She turned, slightly startled, evidently not recognizing me.
“Did you want something?”
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“You don’t remember me,” I said. “But I remembered you.
You were the first thing I had to remember!”

Her eyes suddenly warmed with recognition and mirth.
“Of course! The amnesia case,” she said. “I never did know
your name, though I read on your chart that your father
had come and identified you and taken you out of the
state. What are you doing here?”

“It's a long story,” I said, “but my name is Barry. That
much, at least, I'm sure about.”

“It’s so hot here.” She looked at me, solicitously. “Won’t
you get into my carP It’s air-conditioned. Well, my father’s
car; he lets me drive it to work.” She unlocked the door,
flipped a switch and heavenly cool air began to flow
through the seat.

I got in thankfully. “It’s like being on the moon or Mars,”
I said. “You spend your time dashing through almost unin-
habitable terrain to get from oasis to oasis. People in
Texas really need spacesuits.”

She laughed heartily. “It is pretty badly suited to any-
one except a human salamander, isn’t it? Maybe men should
move out and leave it to the homed toads. But tell me,
Barry, what are you doing here?”

“At the moment, trying to trace down what happened,”
I said, and told her about Dr. Bannon. She listened with
warm sympathy.

“I don’t see what else you could do except come here,”
she said. “I couldn’t have stood it either, never knowing.
Are you going to the policeP Let me drive you to the
station.”

I demurted, but she insisted. “The bus service here is
incredibly slow; they assume that anyone important will
have a car available, and they aren’t concerned with any-
one else.”

While we were driving, I sat back and relaxed. It was
good to be with someone familiar, who took my fears seri-
ously, instead of thinking me a hallucinating idiot going
off in all directions at once.

The police were courteous, even though I told them
much less than I had told Dr. Bannon; only that I was
trying to retrace my steps from the amnesia. All they could
tell me was in their files, and the desk sergeant brought
them out to show me.

“White, male, American, found lying unconscious at the
comer of Fourth and Oak, taken to Hendrick Hospital,
treated for shock, concussion and burns.” They -also had
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the record of a bulletin sent out on the police wires for
any missing servicemen or juveniles.

“That doesn’t.leave you much further ahead,” Lisa com-
mented as we came out of the police station. “In a word,
it's what they told us at the hospital. A complete waste of
time.”

“Not entirely.” I smiled at her, and fell silent; it would
have been hard to tell her how much her sympathy had
meant. She picked up my hand and squeezed it slightly,
then colored a little, and let go.

“What are you going to do now, Barry? This seems to
leave you right where you were before.”

I thought about it for a minute. “I suppose I ought to
tackle Roland,” I said slowly. “I have an address for him
from the hospital.”

“It could be a falie address. If he was up to some skul-
duggery, I can’t imagine him giving his real address,” Lisa
said. “But we can try.”

“WeP”

“Yes. I'm counting myself in, Barry.”

I wasn’t sure I approved. If they were starting to toss
bullets around, the party was getting too rough for a girl.
She seemed to follow my thoughts.

“After all, Dr. Bannon and I put in a good deal of
work on you, Barry. Why should it all be wasted?”

“In any case,” I said, looking at my watch, “there isn’t
much I can do tonight. I don’t even know where I'm going
to stay. I've got to find a hotel, call my family, work out
some kind of a plan for approaching Roland. I can’t just
walk up to him and ask why he wanted to get his hot
little hands on my nonexistent fortune or whatever. Do
you know a good hotel?”

“There aren’t many hotels,” Lisa said, “but there are
plenty of motels, and you can come and go a lot more
freely from a motel anyway, without going through the
lobby. Suppose I drive you to one, and you check in. After
that, if you like, we can go somewhere to get something
to eat and decide what to do about your friend Roland.”

“Fine,” 1 said, “as long as the motel’s air-conditioned. I
think people here in Texas should live in domes!”

She laughed. “It sounds like a good idea at that,”
she said. “Come on, there’s a good motel, not expensive,
in the south part of town.”

I checked in at the motel, which was cool and comfort-
able; later, Lisa and I had a steak at a place she said was
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good. Tt was. That was one thing about Texas: being
right in the heart of the beef country, their steaks were
reat.

& I stopped at a newsstand next door to the steak house
after we came out. “I want to pick up something to read,
I said. “If T decide not to do anything tonight, I don't
want to be stuck with the Gideon Bible or a twenty-year-
old movie on T.V.”

“Here’s just the right thing for you,” Lisa said, laughing.
“A story about a man who disappeared for six months and
came back and told everybody he’d been to Venus in a
flying saucer— Oh, my God!”

The garishly colored paperback dropped to the floor.
I turned to stare at her, saw the newspaper headline that
had caught her eye.

ABILENE SURGEON KiLLED BY HIT-AND-RUN.

“Someone you know, Lisa?” I bent beside her, drew a
deep breath of horror as my eyes ran quickly over the
story.

“Dr. Robert Bannon, resident surgeon at Hendrick Hos-
pital, was run down and killed this afternoon at approxi-
mately 4 e.M. while emerging from his private office
across the street from the hospital. The driver of the
automobile, according to witnesses, crossed two lanes of
traffic, came ten feet up on the sidewalk and deliberately
ran down the doctor, then made a turn and drove away
before stunned bystanders could summon assistance. . . .”

“Not an accident,” Lisa said with a gasp. “Murder! De-
liberate murder! But who on earth would want to—" Her
voice broke. “Barry, he was such a nice man—"

I felt almost the same way. He had been so unfailingly
kind. I had him to thank that I hadn’t been turned over
to the tender mercies of that Roland character. And his
had been the first real human touch of kindness when I
came out of the nowhere of unconsciousness. I felt almost
as if I'd heard that Dr. Cowan had been killed.

I paid for the paper, forgetting to get my book, and
hurried Lisa away from there. I clenched my fists, and
spoke between my teeth. “If those people who are chasing
me around, whoever they are—if they did this, I swear
I'll get them for it, if it takes me a lifetime!”
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Lisa mopped her eyes with a tissue and resolutely stopped
crying. “We’ve got to be sensible about this, Barry. How
do we know it has anything to do with you?”

“What else could it be?” I demanded. “Did Dr. Bannon
have any enemiesP Was he the kind of person who gets
run down by a gangster? Are there that many gangsters,
anyway, in a one-horse town like thisP I gather he was the
sort of man everybody respected and liked. Would he be
connected with fwo crazy melodramas like this?”

“There is something to that,” Lisa conceded, and gripped
my hand hard enough to hurt. “Barry, I'm afraid now! If
they’d kill Dr. Bannon just because you talked to him,
what are they going to do when they catch up with you?”

1 wasn’t worried about myself. They could have picked
me off anytime. I told her so. “But I seem to be the kiss
of death— Sorry, it’s just a phrase, I forgot how it sounded.
I'm more scared of what they’ll do to you, Lisa. I want
you to go back home, don’t even take me back to the
motel, lock all your doors, call the police if you hear so
much as a mouse in the walls, and forget I ever existed!
It’s the only safe way!”

Her eyes sparked with anger.

“What do you think I am? I don’t run out on my friends
that way! Besides,” she added, while I was protestingly in-
coherently, “if they've got a little list, I'm already right
at the top of it. I've spent the whole afterncon with you.
So if I go home alone, they can just pick me off all the
easier.”

This was so true that I hardly knew what to say. -At
the same time, I was spoiling for action, and I couldn’t
do much if I had to haul Lisa around with me and protect
her. I didn’t have any bullet-proof vests handy, anyhow.

“I still think you're crazy,” I told her, “but if you really
want to stick around, I'll do my best for you. Only I haven't
the slightest idea what I'm going to do next.”

She said, “Maybe if I'm with you they won’t dare to try
anything. I'd be a witness.”

That hadn’t stopped them from running down Dr. Ban-
non in front of a whole sidewalk full of witnesses, but I
didn’t say so. I felt in my pocket idly, closed my fingers
around the brass dragon.

This might be what they were after. They—whoever
they were—might not have known my memory had not
come back. If they killed Dr. Bannon after I had talked to
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him, they must have been afraid of something I might have
told him, or given to him. And what else had I?

“I think I'm going back to the motel,” I told her. “T'll
put out the light and sit in the dark, and maybe some-
body will try something. You don’t happen to own a gun,
do vou?”

She didn’t. “Nothing more lethal than a golf club, I'm
afraid. But I'll sit there with you. They try hard to make
things look like accidents; maybe they won’t try anything
we can’t handle between us.”

I felt strange, constrained, when Lisa came into the motel
room with me and slid out of her high-heeled shoes, say-
ing she could walk easier without them in the dark. Be-
fore we put out the light, I showed her the little brass
dragon.

“They must be after this,” I said, “although it doesn’t
seem to be worth anything and I can’t imagine what they
want with it.”

Lisa said, “It could be the insignia or sort of a secret
token of a secret society. Like the Black Hand.”

“Sounds like something out of Fu Manchu,” I said, hav-
ing already thought of that and decided it was altogether
too much.

“This whole thing is like something out of Fu Manchu,”
she said. “Remember the old saving: eliminate the impos-
sible—and if there’s nothing left, some part of the im-
possible must be the answer. There doesn’t seem any sensi-
ble explanation, so whatever the explanation is, it's prob-
ably wilder than we can imagine.”

Silently I said amen. I'd already racked my brain trying
out all the possible and most of the impossible solutions,
and none of them made any more sense than Win's little
green men. I'd just have to wait and see.

But I didn’t dream how close we were to the solution.

At my urging, Lisa stretched out on the bed and I
curled up in the armchair, on one of the pillows she in-
fiis;fd on giving me. I reached one arm and put out the
ght.

That night remains in my memory as a strange, eerie
progression of silent hours. We didn’t talk much, and
time crawled by with no sound except the soft tick of my
watch. Every half hour, by prearrangement, I spoke to her
to be sure that neither of us had fallen asleep.

I remember the luminous dial of my wristwatch telling
me that it was twelve, twelve-thirty, and I think I dozed
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a little before hearing Lisa’s soft voice saying, “It’s one
o’clock.”

“So far, so good,” 1 said, almost in a whisper, “but I
wonder if anything’s going to happen at all. I'm going to
feel like a fool if the sun comes up and nothing’s happened
except losing one good night’s sleep.”

“Oh, well, all in a good cause— Hush!” Lisa muttered,
“I hear something outsidel”

“Somebody coming home after a late movie,” 1 whis-
pered, but strained my ears to hear the faint sound; foot-
steps? I heard bedsprings creak softly as Lisa sat up, silently
reaching for her shoes.

I listened hard. If there had been footsteps, they had
passed us harmlessly. But I could not rest, even though
Lisa sank back on the bed.

Minutes crawled by. Then there was a slight small
sound, ever so silent, behind us. Slowly, slowly, the window
square moved, a gap widened. I threw myself at the win-
dow and grabbed. -

“Let go, you fool,” said a low, furious voice. “Let me in!
I think there’s a Changer around and if he gets wind of us
— Barry, you idiot, don’t you know me?”

I almost hesitated. There seemed to be something familiar
in the voice; in any case it did not sound menacing; it was
not Roland’s voice, but—was it a trap?

“Get the light, Lisa.”

“Nol” protested the person between my hands, twisting
furiously. “Don’t put a light on! Damn it, have you lost
your wits? First you disappear, no one knows where, with
the key on you, and now you drag the girl into itl If you
wanted to consider yourself well out of it, why in the name
of the Big Eternities couldn’t you stay out? We'd have got-
ten in touch with you in our own good time, but now, if
you've drawn outsiders into this—"

I didn’t know what to make of his words. I reached
across Lisa and put my hand on the light; my prisoner
twisted loose and grabbed my wrist.

“!I;’or the last time, no/ I have a flashlight, if you must
see

“Give it here, then.” 1 took it from his hand, fumbled in
the dark for the switch, flashed it on his face.

I knew the face. It was the face of a blond boy about my
own age. He was wearing a brown coverall like the one 1]
had worn, and his face was drawn and angry.

“Barry, what’s gotten into youP Are you out of yow
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mind? And now you know it’s me, can we have that
damned light out again?”

Still confused, I snapped it off. In the sudden blind dark
I heard myself say, “I know you. But who are you?”

I heard the newcomer draw breath. He said slowly, “That
explains it, then. The blow on your head. You've lost
your memory. You don’t remember—anything?”

I said, “I remember—little bits. Odd things.”

“I don’t have time to explain everything. As I said,
there’s a Changer around—maybe two. Barry, do you have
the key. Father was afraid they would capture him, and
get it; he was sure they’d never think of you, so he told
me he’d put it in the pocket of your uniform. I picked
up your trail-” He broke off, drew a sharp breath in the
darkness, then cried out, an inarticulate shout of warning.

A blue glow blossomed at the window. I flung Lisa to
the floor. Without thinking, I threw my arm across my eyes
and tried to burrow my way through the floor. I heard
the blond boy shouting.

Then something struck the back of my head; I heard
myself shouting:

“No, Rellin!”

I fell into darkness; but as I fell, something like a burst
of light flamed in my brain.

And I remembered. . . .
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PART 1II

CHAPTER SIX

I BAD GOTTEN into the habit, that winter, of walking
home every night. From the high school, down in central
Berkeley, to our home way up in the Berkeley hills, was
about two miles, mostly uphill, and it was a good way
to keep my muscles hard for basketball. The basketball
season was over now, but I was between girls anyhow, and
it was something to do. That night I'd had to look up some
things in the library; by the time I started home it was
dark. I wasn’t in any hurry—supper would be over by the
time I got home anyhow, but Nina always kept plenty in
the refrigerator. I set off for home at a good swinging pace.
The buses only ran up that way every forty minutes, so
there was no point hanging around on the corner for hall
an hour, when I could walk it almost that fast.

When I heard the yell I could hardly believe my ears.
Berkely is, or was then, a quiet college town, the sort of
place where a little old lady could walk across town with
a hundred dollars in her handbag and nobody would
touch her except to help her across the street. So at firs
I thought that awful yell was somebody’s tomcat out doing
whatever tomcats do at night. Then it started up again,
this time with an unmistakably human sound.

“Help! Helpl”

It died out in a sort of gasping groan, and I started run-
ning. This part of the street was half deserted, a littlc
stretch of woods; it was so quiet after the yell died away
that I could hear leaves rustling over my own running foot.
steps.

There were two of them running away; I started to chase
them, and nearly tripped over somebody lying on the
ground The light of a street lamp fell on the pale face anc
I could see blood, and right then I realized that the thugs
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or whatever they were, were going to get away; this guy
needed help worse than the thugs needed the police and
the paddywagon.

When I got down beside him I noticed that he was only
a kid, my own age or maybe a year younger. He wasn't
anybody I'd seen around school, either. He was bareheaded
and blond, and there was a cut on his head and the
sleeve of his shirt was ripped open. There was plenty of
blood too. I don’t get sick at the sight of blood like a lot
of people do, but I-felt sick when I looked at that arm. It
was a lot too much for me to handle with Boy Scout
type first aid. I got up and started heading for the police
callbox a block away when he called me back, weakly.

“Please—"

I went quickly back and knelt beside him. “Take it
easy kid; just lie still. I've got to call the cops—the ambulance.
You’re okay, but they've got to fix up that arm of yours.”

“No.” He struggled to get up. He made it too, sitting
erect, swaying only a little. “No police. No hospital. If you
please.”

There was a faintly foreign accent in the way he formed
the words. I protested: “Look, that’s a bad cut. You're
bleeding all over the sidewalk.”

“I will be well enough. I thank you, but—" He paused
evidently searching for words. “My—my father. He is not—
not well; a hospital would frichten him badly. I must go
home.” He put his hand to his head, then looked at his
cut sleeve. “This is not—bad. It is only bleeding.” He reached
in his pocket, took out a wadded hunk of tissue and pressed
it over the cut. I offered my own handkerchief; he thanked
me, folded it catty-cormner and tried to tie it around the
arm, but couldn’t quite make it. I tied it for him, and when
he tried to get up on his feet, I gave him my arm. His
face was as white as a corpse, but he had enough guts for
two; that arm must have been giving him hell.

“Look,” I said, “the people at the hospital will break it
gently to your dad, or else they’ll fix you up in the emer-
gency room and send you home in a cab. You'd better use
your head and let me call that ambulance.”

“You mean well,” he said stubbornly, “but I must go home.
Please, you must not trouble; I can manage for myself.”

He actually started to walk off, swayed a little and al-
most fell, recovered himself, started off again; he caught
hold of a tree and braced himself on it.

I dide’t realize it then, but that was Karsten all over:
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stubborn as seven devils. I was upset about it—I didn’t want
the guy dying on my hands—but at the same time you
couldn't help admiring him.

I caught up with him and held him wupright again.
“Okay, if you want to be pigheaded about it,” I said, “I
hope your father knows plenty about first aid—or that he’ll
wallop you good and call the hospital anyway. Where do
you live? Let’s get you there and argue afterward.”

It turned out that his house was only a few blocks
away, but it was uphill all the way, and up several flights
of those funny streets we have in Berkeley, where there’s
no car traffic, just a footpath with flights of steps along it.
The blond kid didn’t complain, but he got whiter and
whiter, and leaned on me a little harder every block. By
the time we got there he couldnt talk, just shoved a key
in my hand and gestured me to unlock the door and help
him inside.

The house was small and there was nothing unusual
about it; it looked as if it had been rented furnished,
because the furniture was all old and worm and beat-up.
It had dark paneling and was evidently quite old, like a
lot of the houses up in the hills, and there was a big ex-
panse of dark neglected garden around it.

The boy sank into a chair, and I stood there wondering
what I ought to do next, when a voice called down the
hall stairs: “Is that you, Karsten?”

The kid started to answer, but his voice was weak and
wouldn’t carry. I called, “It’s all right; there’s been a little
accident, but nothing serious.” I was lying in my teeth, bul
if the kid’s father had a bad heart I wasn’t going to be
responsible for him dropping dead.

There was a sound upstairs, and a man came dowr
the stairs, slowly, with a deliberate tread.

He looked older than you'd expect for the father of :
kid Karsten's age, or at least that was how I interpreted i
then. His hair was snow-white and smooth, his eyes blue
and they rested on me with distrust. He ignored me anc
went to Karsten.

“I am sorry, Father,” the boy said weakly. “I had nc
alternative except to go to a hospital. I know how you fee
about my bringing a stranger—" He trailed off into som
foreign language; it might have been Russian or Scandi
navian. Or maybe it was because they were blond that
thought so; for all I could make out, it could have beer
Sanskrit or Tibetan.
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I felt like a damned fool standing there. Was this all
the thanks I got for hauling the kid home? I said politely,
“1 apologize for intruding. Shall I go now?”

The man turned to me, and his tone was contrite to the
point of courtliness. “Forgive me. I had no intention of
seeming rude; you have saved my son’s life.” He bowed.
“Excuse me, I must go and fetch medicines.”

He left the room and the blond kid stretched his hand
to me. He said, “Don’t be angry with my father; he was
worried about me; that is all. Don’t go away.”

I stayed. It was a screwy setup. Was the man some kind
of ambassador? But what kind of ambassador didnt like
strangers? Well, I wasn’t too crazy about them either, so
far. I made up my mind that as soon as the man came
back, I'd apologize and hit the road. This good Samaritan
business had its limits.

The white-haird man came back with a flat box. “You
will hold the light close, please,” he said, in the voice of a
man who was accustomed to being obeyed, and handed
me an extension cord with a strong light, like a tensor
lamp, at the end of it. I took it and moved closer. He
opened the box, and 1 realized why Karsten had refused
to go to the hospital; his father was evidently a doctor. I
held the light while the white-haired man sponged, stitched,
sprayed and bandaged, and finally told me to put the light
down.

“I have not thanked you,” he said. “I thought it most
important to deal with my son’s wounds. I am in your debt.
My name is Varzil; my son you know. You are—p”

“My name is Barry Cowan,” I said, “and I didn’t do any-
thing; if I'd arrived five minutes earlier this might not have
happened.”

“And if you had arrived five minutes later my son might
have been kicked to death,” he said. “Words fail me to
thank you adequately.”

“Honestly, I didn't do anything. Now can I please call
my parents? Theyre going to be thinking I'm the one
lying dead in the street,” I said, realizing it was almost
eleven at night. They wouldn’t really worry unless I was
out after midnight without calling, but I'd get a lecture
from Nina about courtesy and not letting people worry,
and I hated that sort of thing.

. “I am very sorry,” Varzil said. “We have no telephone
Instrument. But I dislike to see you traveling the dangerous
Streets alone!”
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I laughed. “Oh, lightning never strikes twice in the same
place; I always go around alone. But seriously, you ought
to call the police; those chaps who knifed your son
might kill somebody next time.”

“I will deal with it,” Varzil said stiffly. I wondered what
kind of name that was, anyhow. “My servants will be re-
turning in half an hour; they will escort you home in an
automobile, if you can wait. Meanwhile, my son is hurt
and should replenish his energies, and supper awaits us;
will you join us?”

“Please do,” the boy said. He looked much more chipper
with his cuts sewed up and bandaged, and he smiled at
me. “I hate to let you go like this. You saved my life,
after alll What is your name? Barry? Please stay, Barry.”

I didn’t stop to think more than a minute. I was hungry. I
couldn’t walk home in much less than half an hour anyway.
If T could get a ride home, I might as well stay and have
supper. So I said, “Thanks, that would be fine,” and sat
down, as he indicated, while Varzil disappeared into the kitch-
en and came back with a laden tray.

The food was good, and there was nothing very unusual
about it; I guessed they had a Japanese cook or something,
since there were things like bean curd and noodles, and the
food was fixed rather oddly, but it was good and there was
nothing really weird. Karsten ate with one hand, and his
father sat by and helped him; I could tell that he was
worried and anxious, though trying to hide it.

There wasn’t much strange about the room, except for
a book that lay open on the table near me; it had an illustra-
tion that looked like a spiral nebula, and the text looked
lik;’ Arabic or Sanskrit. 1 asked, “Are you an astronomer,
sir

“I am,” Varzil said. “I made that photograph.”

“Wowl!l” I looked closer. It had evidently been taken
through an enormous telescope. “Are you with the univer-
sity here in Berkeley, sir?”

“I am sorry; I have not that honor. May I offer you more
wine?”

I hadn't touched what he’d given me, and the boy Kar-
sten laughed. “I told you, Father, here the boys don’t drink
wine; get him some milk, why don’t you?”

He said pleasantly, “Perhaps you too, Karsten, should
not drink until we are sure there will be no fever in your
wounds; we have milk and fruit juice both.”

He went to fetch it, and Karsten said, his mouth half

66



full of noodles, “When I came here I found it hard to real-
jze that grown-up people drink milk. Of course it’'s cow’s
milk, which is a little different.”

“Where do you come from?” I asked, and Karsten gave a
quick look around. He said, “You probably wouldn’t recog-
nize the name of my country; it’s not one that’s very impor-
tant in America. Oh, here’s Father; do you want milk or
would you rather have some fruit juice?”

I took the juice, which was perfectly ordinary pineapple
juice out of a can. I glanced at my watch; it was after
twelve. Karsten saw the look, and said, a little anxiously,
“Harret should be back by now, Father; what can be keep-
ing him?”

“I thought I heard him in the back, but it must have
been something else,” Varzil replied. “Let me go and see.
He might have gone directly to his room, not thinking we
would want him at this hour. I will-"

He broke off, with a smothered exclamation in some
other language. Then he whirled to us, suddenly active as
a cat. ’

“Karsten] Get down! There’s a Changer around,” he
said, and gestured me imperiously back toward the corner
of the room. He leaped for the light, snapped it out, and
I heard a drawer rasp in and out. A dim blue light sprang
up from nowhere, and in-the glow I saw Varzil’s hand and
arm holding a slender blue-glowing glass rod.

I pressed myself against the wall, feeling as if I'd suddenly
walked into a gangster movie.

Karsten slid noiselessly off the sofa, rolled toward the
corner of the room. The blue glow filled the window. For
8 moment a great dark shape rose there, grew, moved and
altered monstrously; a broad, flat, reptilian head flickered
against the shadows. I passed my hand over my eyes; I
was seeing things!

I was seeing things; the form at the window was a man’s
form, dark and squat, weapon in hand, shouting. Varzil
edged back, wheeling his weapon, whatever it was. Then
the moment of stasis broke. Karsten yelled, “Harret! In
herel” There was the sound of swiftly running feet, the
door burst open and light exploded in the room.

Varzil fired twice with the blue rod; it made a hissing
crackling sound. There was a strange receding howl. Then
the blue glow at the window died and the garden was
dark and empty again.

Varzil went and picked up Karsten from the floor and
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put him on the sofa. There was another man in the room
now, tall, white-haired like Varzil, but infinitely younger
Varzil went to him and they conferred briefly in tha
mysterious language. I moved. I felt stiff, shaky and ver
much bewildered. I went over to Karsten and asked if he’
hurt himself; he said no, but I could see that he favore(
the knifed arm. I kept wondering what the devil I ha
walked into. And at the back of my mind, quite incon
gruous with all that was happening, I was wonderin
when I was going to get home tonight.

To say I knew, then, that I'd walked into somethin;
fishy, would be an understatement. I'd known that for som
time now. But my first thought, that I'd somehow gotte:
caught in the crossfire of gangsters, was given way to :
strange, half-panicked, half-excited Wild Surmise. Tha
strange weapon of Varzil's, and above all the incredibl
dragon-shaped head at the window, made me realize
had stumbled into something very strange and uncanny. Par
of me wanted to hightail it out of there, before they re
membered the innocent bystander in all this. But part o
me wanted to hang around and see what in the world wa
going to happen next.

That's me all over. Barry Cowan, damned fool. If I
had the brains, I probably could have gotten out whil
Varzil and the newcomer were still excitedly comparin;
notes, and the chances are they wouldn’t have though
about me again.

Before long I realized they’d remembered me again. Kar
sten broke in, speaking. English again.

“You can’t do that, Father; he saved my life, and it woul
be wrong, wrong, wrong to drag him into thisl”

Varzil said slowly, “You are right, Karsten, speaking fron
the point of view of pure ethics. But practically, we canno
take the risk. We must bring him along, and take the re
sponsibility with the—" He used a word I couldn’t under
stand; it sounded like Congo, which made no sense at al
in that context.

I thought it was time I spoke up for myself. I said, “
think I'd better be going.”

I think I knew already they weren’t going to let me g¢

Varzil lowered his head, looking away from me. “I ar
infinitely sorry,” he said. “I fear we cannot let you g
just now.”

The hell of it was, he really did sound sorry. He wer
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on to say, “This is a poor reward for your kindness,
put I very much fear you must come with us.”

The newcomer in the room was moving around, putting
a few papers into what looked like an ordinary collapsible
briefcase; he dashed up the stairs, came back with an
armful of something else and stuffed that in too. Karsten
got up shakily, and came toward me.

He said, “I'm sorry about this; I swear I am. I tried to tell
them—"

I felt amost too bewildered to be frightened.

“I don’t understand,” I said. And, boy, was that an un-
derstatement. “Why should I have to go anywhere with you?
What has all this to do with me?”

“We are leaving,” said Varzil slowly. “The rendezvous
is within fifteen hours. I dare not take the risk that you will
talk about this with your people. I must take you along
with us. Do not be afraid; you will be released, unharmed,
when it is safe for us.”

I felt awfully futile as I said, “I wouldn't tell anybody
anything. Who would I tell?”

“lI am sure you could trust him,” Karsten said eagerly,
and Varzil seemed to hesitate, then shook his head.

“I might trust you,” he said slowly, “but I dare not risk
the possibility that something might slip out, unintention-
ally. This is far too important to take any risks.”

I burst out, “So this is what I get for trying to keep your
father from worrying! My own famlly is gomg to be damned
scared when I don’t come home!”

Karsten looked away from me; his face was red.

Varzil repeated slowly: “I have told you; I deeply regret
this, If there was any alternative, I would not insist.” He
glanced at the man who was packing the briefcase.

“Harret, are your preparations concluded?”

“We can leave at any moment,” Harret said. His accent
was thicker than Varzil’s and Karsten's.

Varzil got a thick duffel coat from a closet and put it
on Karsten; he enveloped himself in a similar garment.
Karsten winced as the coat was buttoned over his arm,
tried to grin. “Oh, well, at least this is the last time Il
have to wear these absurd things!”

Varzil came toward me, carrying what looked like a
sailor’s pea jacket. He said, “Your clothing is thin; you had
better put this on; it will be very cold.”

That was when I exploded. I yelled, “I'm not going any-
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where with you—and you can’t make mel” I made a break
for the door.

I'm a basketball player, tall, and strong, and muscled
pretty well for my size. I figured I could knock the old
guy out of my way and outrun any two of them. It was a
heck of a way to treat a nice old man, but he’d asked for
it. I braced myself—

And I got the shock of my life.

The old man must have been made of best quality
spring steell He was strong, so strong that he literally
picked me up as if I'd been a four-year-old child, and
pinioned my arms at my side. I kicked hard, forgetting
about the rules of fair play, and hammered at his face, and
he didn’t pay any more attention than if I'd been a little kid
having a tantrum. He held me that way, not moving,
not paying the slightest attention to all my squirming, kick-
ing and vyelling. Varzil just stood there, smiling gently and re-
gretfully,

“I am sorry,” he repeated. “I would not like to coerce
you. I would much rather you would come with dignity
and patience. You have been a good friend to us and I
wish you would be cooperative. I give you my word, the
word of a Commisioner”—I'm almost sure he said commis-
sioner—"“that you will not be barmed in any way, and
that you will bé released at the first opportunity.”

What could I doP I was held as firmly as if a huge octo-
pus had wrapped itself around me. Wherever they were
going, it looked as if I were going with them. I couldn’t
do anything, and they didn’t sound as if they intended to
hurt me. After all, anyone as strong as Varzil could just as
easily have knocked me over the head and I wouldn’t have
given him half as much trouble.

I said, “When kidnapping’s inevitable, I might as well
relax and enjoy it. All right, you needn’t tie me up; you've
made your point. I'll come along.”

Varzil set me on my feet. He wasn’t even breathing hard.
He said, “It will be cold. I beg of you to put on the heavy
coat. It is my son’s, and I assure you it is clean and sani-
tary.”

I almost laughed at that, as I put my arms into the coat.
Karsten was shorter than I, but he was enough stockier so
that it was a fair fit; and it certainly was warm. A lot too
warm for a May night in California; it felt as if it had been
intended for midwinter in Siberia!

He seemed to know what I was thinking. “I assure you,
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you will be glad of it before this night is over. Come with
us now. I implore you to be quiet, not to get sudden ideas
about shouting for help; this house is very isolated. You
will not be hurt. Harret, you have all of the special films?
The two smaller—" It sounded like thingtangles. “I think
we may safely abandon the larger one.”

“Everything is ready,” Harret assured him.

Varzl motioned me to go before him. He supported Kar-
sten with his arm. Harret led the way out to a dark back
yard, thickly grown over with rhododendron and tangled
undergrowth. Harret flashed a small pencil of light at our
feet, allowing us to keep from stumbling over rocks and
roots. Karsten stumbled anyway, and Varzil, with a few
soothing words in the strange language, picked him up
and carried him. Good lord, the man was strong! No
wonder Karsten hadn’t made more fuss over a knifing that
would have put me in the hospital for three weeks!

What on Earth were these people, anyway?

We ended up at the dark, ivy-grown wall of what
looked like an old garage. Varzil set Karsten on his feet
and signaled to Harret to hold the small pencil light close.

There was a tangle of formidable padlocks and chains
around the door. Varzil took out a bunch of keys and
worked over them until at last he could shove them all
aside and open the door; then he stepped back to allow
Harret, supporting Karsten, and me, to enter the darkness.
I had to drag my feet; they didn't want to move in that
darkness. Behind me, Varzil slipped through and, by the
pencil light, manipulated the locks again. Then he spoke
briefly to Harret, a switch moved, and there was light.

And I nearly fell over backward, except that Harret
was crowded up against me.

Right ahead of me, in that dusty garage, filled around
the edges with the junk of a dozen other tenants, pitilessly
outlined in the new harsh light, i stood.

In this day and age nobody, but nobody, could mistake
the outline of a flying saucer.

CHAPTER SEVEN

~

I Tk I must have been paralyzed for a few minutes. 1
have no idea what I did next. I don’t think I said anything,
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It went too deep for that. I guess I simply didn’t believe
the thing was real.

It didnt look like the ones on the T.V. programs, of
course. It was about fourteen feet across, I guess, and in-
stead of being metallic, it was painted an almost fluorescent
blue. It had the standard outer ring and dome in the center.
1 was dumbstruck for a few minutes; then Varzil shoved me
very gently toward some sort of steps that went up into the
thing. I realized I was expected to go up in there.

When something like that happens you don’t believe it.
At least, I didn’t. But when I set my foot on the first step,
something snapped inside me. This wasn’t a gag or a crazy
nightmare. I felt a thickness surging up inside my throat,
and wanted to scream. I was awake, and this was happen-
ing! Furthermore, Karsten was climbing into it as if it
were a Number 7 bus! His calmness made the wheels of
my brain start going around again; from feeling as if I
were trapped in a nightmare I began feeling as if this
were simply some very strange, but quite explicable situa-
tion. Evidently they were spies, possibly Russian. Heaven
onlv knew what the Russians were doing these days be-
hind the Iron Curtain. In any case, I couldn’t do anything,
so I had better go along, keeping my eyes wide open and
my mind alert.

I felt calm again, a funny iced-over calm. I stepped into
the saucer. It was fixed up inside like a carnival ride, with
the seats and belts and braces, padded so that people
wouldn’t slide around in the seats. There was machinery
at a panel inside, vaguely like the control panel of an air-
plane. I couldn’t make head or tail of it. Varzil settled me
into a seat.

I finally found my voice.

“Where are you taking me?” I demanded. “Russia?”

Varzil sat down in his seat, moving the padded braces
around him, sliding his knees into the rests, with easy
competence. He said, “No, not Russia. We have no interest
in your country’s secrets nor any other country’s; we are
not like the—" It sounded like decekri. “I am a scientist.
We are forbidden to interfere in the internal affairs of this
world. That is how you may know you are safe; even if
you wished, it would be quite forbidden for us to take
you out of your own solar system. You will be returned
on a shuttle ship within a few hours.”

Once again I had that you've-got-to-be-kidding, empty
sensation in the pit of my stomach. The solar system/
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I said rudely, fighting the surge of panic and disbelief,
“Don’t try to tell me you're a man from Mars!”

“No,” Varzil said, quietly and matter-of-factly. “Mars is
only marginally fit for human habitation, although the
deekri”—that word againl—“survive there quite well. We
usually avoid Mars when we can, although it is used as a
scientific base for explorations in this system. No, our home
world is entirely beyond your sun, but you will be re-
turned before we leave this system.” He bent over the con-
trol pane. “I am sorry, I cannot answer more of your ques-
tions now; I must check my timing.”

I sat back in the softly padded material of the seat, a
strange taste in my mouth. I hardly recognized the taste
of fear. Flying saucers parked in a garage! Aliens from the
stars renting a house in Berkeley! Surreptitiously I pinched
myself. It hurt.

Somehow, the garage roof slid back. Don’t ask me how
they engineered it. Lights glowed in all colors around us,
red, blue, green, amber, back to red again. I braced myself
as a very soft hu.mmin‘g noise began. Karsten reached a
hand to me and said, “Don’t be frightened; the accelera-
tion in the shuttle ships is not at all dangerous.” Still bracing
myself, I remembered the steel strength of the-old man and
wondered if human flesh and blood would take the kind
of acceleration they called not at all dangerous. Then there
was a sort of tingling through the whole framework; the
colored lights flickered faster, wavering over our faces as the
humming rose to an eerie high-pitched whine. I realized we
were rising, slowly, then faster and faster.

The high-pitched whine gradually climbed up and up

through the audible range. The lights moved through the
range of colors and back again. Varzil was moving his hands
slowly at the controls. I felt myself crushed back against the
seat as the whine died into noiselessness; the pressure grew
and grew. There was a very soft hissing noise in the cushion
behind my head, and I smelled the unmistakable sharp tang
of pure oxygen.
- The pressure lightened and was gone. The shifting spec-
trum of colors steadied, evened to a smooth, pale blue light,
like a fluorescent bulb. Our faces were a ghastly color, but
everything could be seen with perfect clarity. Varzil
loosened his safety straps and leaned back in his seat. He
motioned to Karsten, who was unfastening his own and then
stood up and came over to me.

He said, “The shuttle is locked on automatic control
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now, and acceleration is finished. Now I am free to answer
your questions, if you wish. There may be some things
I cannot answer; but insofar as I am free, I am at your
service.”

I said, trying to keep my voice from trembling, “If you
wouldn’t let me loose to talk about the characters who
broke in on you, am I supposed to believe that you're going
to take me back to—to Earth to talk about this?”

Varzil smiled and looked apologetic. “About this you may
talk freely, if you can gain any audience,” he said. “There
is now no proof available to you. If we had released you
before we left, someone might have prevented us from
leaving.”

That, I realized, made a certain sort of sense. I had
laughed at enough flying saucer yarns myself. Who would
believe this?P I could just see myself trying to convince
Father and Nina—let alone a couple of tough cops—that
I'd been kidnapped for a ride in a flying saucer.

But meanwhile, I was bursting with curiosity.

“Just where do you people come fromP Where are you
going? What were you doing in Berkeley?”

Varzil hesitated. Karsten said quietly, “There is no rea-
son not to tell you. My father is the representative of the
Council of Worlds—our home is on the planet of the star
you call Spica. He came here to study astronomy from this
part of the galaxy. As you know, your world is in an isolated
arm of the galaxy, and some views are easier to get from
a less populated part of interstellar space. We have an-
other commission, too. It would mean little to you?”

“And where are we going now?” I asked. I felt vaguely
proud of myself. Galaxies. Planet of Spica. Here for astro-
nomical study. Oh, sure, nothing to i, happens every day.

It was Varzil who answered. “In eleven hours we will
rendezvous with our mother ship, which is in orbit outside
of your moon. After this, you may be taken back and re-
leased. I suggest you settle back and enjoy the trip. You
are well clothed, so you will not suffer from cold.”

Strange as it seemed, I decided to do just that. There
was nothing else I could do. We were out in space—unless
this was an incredibly elaborate hoax. Karsten was already
pulling his thick coat up around his ears and snuggling back
into the soft seat.

Varzil bent to check an instrument panel again, saying
offhandedly, “Navigation out here is nothing; closer to the
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surface of your world, of course, your skies are so cluttered
with satellites that we must keep out of their way.”

I asked, “Do many of your saucers—shuttle ships, what-
ever you call them—come in and out? Why has nobody
ever tracked you on radar?”

“Radar? Oh, yes. The material made of this ship is im-
pervious to your devices,” Varzil said. He shivered, and sud-
denly I realized that I, too, was very cold. He said, “For
such short trips it is not feasible to use solar engines for
heating, but your coat is warm. Look, my son is asleep. I
suggest you sleep too; it is very late.”

He bent over the panels again as if he were tired of
talking. I lay back against the cushion of the seat. My watch
read past four, and I realized I was very tired. I lay watch-
ing Varzil, who sat very still, his white hair fluorescing
vaguely in the blue light. As an adventure, I decided,
this was definitely a bust. I couldnt see anything and
nothing was going on.

Strange as it seemed, I must have fallen asleep, because
when I opened my eyes again, Varzil was asleep in another
seat and Harret was at the controls.

It went on like that for hours. Dozing, waking, sleeping
again. Once, Harret produced a meal of sorts. I grinned a
little wryly, because it looked and tasted just like surplus
Army C-ration, and I found out afterward that was exactly
what it was. They had discovered it made excellent, long-
keeping emergency rations on board the shuttle ships. But
at the time I wondered why the hell a galactic civilization
couldn’t have invented some better kind of food.

Varzil looked at Karsten’s bandages, and checked a bum
on Harret's arm, which had resulted from the skirmish
back in Ber!eley. I didn’t ask any more questions and they
didn’t volunteer any more information.

That doesn’t mean I wasn’t thinking plenty. Why the sud-
den departure act? Had Karsten reallv been mugged by
local hooligans, or was this part of their Galactic Spies act?
If they were here only to study the stars, why should they
be attacked with weapons which left nasty-looking burnsP

Karsten woke up again, took a packet of the C-ration
stuff and chewed on it. When he finished, he looked friskier
than I'd seen him yet, and he came to sit next to me.

“This is a wretched thing for you to get into,” he said.
“I hope no one will be waiting for vou and worrying!”

I'd been trying not to think about that. Nina was going
to be worrying herself sick. And, when and if I did get
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home, what was 1 going to tell them, anyway? I said, “My
mother is going to be scared.”

Karsten said, “My mother died when I was very small
But I think I know how you must feel.”

“It isn’t your fault,” I admitted.

“Please don’t be angry with my father. He has hi:
duties and responsibilities, you must know. He would nevel
hurt anyone willingly.”

I said, “Is this why you wouldn’t call the hospital? You
were afraid they’d find out something about you?”

“Oh, no. But as I said, my father is not strong.”

I laughed, remembering the steely strength of those
arms, and Karsten protested.

“No. He has a—a weakness. I feared to shock or frighten
him. I knew he would be afraid I had been attacked by
the dikri—"

1 said, “This is the third or fourth time you've mentioned
them. Who or what are they?”

“They are—it is hard to explain,” Karsten said. “They
are—they come and go in the galaxy. Your planet is out
of bounds without official permission, but they come and
go without permission. They are—a form of outlaw. They
are different; they cannot get by without strange disguises.
It is hard to explain. I do not like to talk about them,”
he concluded, looking slightly helpless.

Curiouser and curiouser! Not one group of aliens but two,
and one of them Karsten couldnt describe! Coming and
going on Earth, for inexplicable reasons . . . Evidently the
many stories of flying saucers had some foundation in fact
a.fter’ alll But I wasnt going to believe in Bug-Eyed Mon-
sters

1 asked, “How does your ship fly? Obviously it isn’t
rocket power, and it couldn’t be atomic power or someone
would have spotted the radiation in the atmosphere.”

“It uses magnetic currents and the energy from your sun
—that is why it cannot be used outside the orbit of your
fifth planet; the solar fields are too weak,”

Which, in effect, left me no wiser than I had been before.
Who was I to imagine I could understand the science of a
galactic civilization? Just accepting that there was such a
thing strained me to my limits.

It was about half an hour later when Varzil raised his
head from the control board; there was a worried note in his
voice.

“Harret,” he said, “come here and check my reading. I
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can't get anything that makes sense. Either the instrument
is out of focus, or—well, or else it isn’t, in which case—"

“Let us hope the instrument is in error,” said Harret a
little grimly. He crossed the middle area of the compart-
ment and leaned over Varzil's seat at the control panel
The seats were situated around the outside rim of the
circular saucer; the diameter was about nine feet. Harret
twiddled one of the switches. He scowled, knelt down and
unfastened a shielding plate and twiddled something inside
that, then got up and checked the reading over Varzil's
shoulder again. That went on for several minutes, while
Karsten anxiously watched them. I watched all three of
them, thinking, Ok, great, my first ride in a flying saucer
and something goes wrong.

Varzil finally unfastened his belt and slid out of the
seat. Harret took his place, but after a minute, he, too,
relinquished it, and said, “It's no use. We're already out of
orbit to the point where we aren’t going to be able to
rendezvous with the mother ship.”

Karsten said, “Father—?”

Varzil took out something like a handkerchief—only it
was iridescent green, and four times as big—and mopped
his forehead. He said, “I wanted not to worry you. But
either our instruments are very badly damaged—and I don’t
see how that could have happened, since they were in
good order when we took off—or else we are in an anti-
proton damping field.”

Karsten said, and it sounded like swearing: “Dikril”

“I'm afraid so.” .

I was fairly sure it was no time for me to butt in, but
T'd sat watching this performance for some time now, and it
was my skin too. I asked, “Is something wrong?”’

Varzil turned to me with an impatient gesture, then con-
trolled himself and said, “Yes, you -have a right to ask
questions. Something is very much wrong. We are being
drawn off our course. Karsten, will you explain to him?”
He knelt down, removed another panel and started doing
incomprehensible things inside it. 1 felt like a jaywalker on
the freeway when traffic is halted in every direction and
the cop starts swearing; definitely in the wrong place at
the wrong time.

Karsten moved into the seat next to me. He looked badly
scared. He said, “I mentioned the dikri to you. It was a
dikri who tried to break into our house last night. One of
my father’s tasks on your planet was to report any inter-
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ference with the legitimate concerns of scientists within
this solar system by the dikri or their kind. Of course it is
to their interest to keep him from making his proper re-
ports. We thought we had gotten free without having
them on our trail, but there must be others in this sector.
They are generating a field which prevents us from taking
in solar energy—do you understand?”

“Not exactly,” 1 said, I seemed to be given to under-
statement these days.

“Well, it'’s like— Have you ever heard of a tractor beam?
There isn’t any such thing except in science-fiction, but it
works the way a tractor beam would if there was such a
thing.”

“Oh, nol” 1 put both hands to my head, wondering if
I'd wandered into somebody else’s nightmare, while Karsten
explained earnestly.

“They get between us and our objective with this field,
and we cannot take in solar energy beams to proceed in
our proper direction. So, like all free-falling objects in outer
space outside a planet’s gravitational field, we fall intc
orbit around the sun, or the nearest large body—and, since
that direction is easy for anyone to predict with a slide
rule, we can be followed and even attacked.”

“You mean, in effect, we're drifting instead of being under
control,” I said, and Karsten said, “That’s it exactly. Withou!
solar power we are subject to the same laws as any other
celestial body.”

“And,” said Varzil, “this means that all they have to dc
is to get into that orbit. They do not need to draw us
down to them; they need only wait and we will inevitably
fall toward them.”

“And isn't there anything we can do about itP”

“Nothing, without a source of power, and inside this
field we cannot take on power,” Karsten said.

Then they all started jabbering togéther in their owr
language while I"thought, Maybe these dikri or whatever,
aren’t as bad as they’re painted. Maybe they would ever
rescue me from these characters, They had been pretty
high-handed, talking about the legitimate concerns of sci
entists in this solar system, meanwhile not bothering to gel
permissions from us, only from some galactic government of:
somewhere. I wasn't so sure I liked the idea of Varzil*
chaps coming and going on Earth without so much as ¢
by-your-leave. There was no reason I should assume, auto-
matically, that the dikri, whatever they were, were the
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villains in this Cosmic Drama I seemed to be stuck in, and
Varzil and his friends were the heroes.

In the next couple of hours Harret and Varzil alternately
fiddled with controls that weren’t working, gave up in dis-
gust, took out slide rules and worked them, then started
messing with the controls again, the way you keep trying
to start a car several times even if you suspect it’s out of
gas; just in the hope your gauge is wrong. Finally they
both gave up and sat down in the spare seats. '

“There are times,” said Harret, “when I am inclined to
criticize the Center for their Weapons Control law.”

“Particularly since it is unenforceable,” Varzil said bit-
terly, “and disarms only the law-abiding citizen without
affecting the outaw.”

After that, they each took out a couple of the blue-glow-
ing rods I'd seen last night, looked them over and put them
aside, while Karsten explained that they did not operate
outside the gravitational field of a planet. I sat there wish-
ing my nails were long enough to bite effectively and won-
dering if, when these dikri caught up with us, I'd be res-
cued or murdered. We ate some more of the rations,
the three aliens in the manner of condemned men enjoying
their last meal. It kept getting colder and colder, and
Karsten seemed uncomfortable, although he didn’t complain.
Then there was a curious, hard jolting sensation, the colored
lights within the saucer flickered on and off again, there
was a whicking sound, and the door we’d come in by
began slowly to open.

Karsten muttered, “We must be fast to their hatch.” He
was white to the lips. I found myself hanging onto my seat.
And then the dikri came in.

He looked human: short and squat and flab-faced, but
certainly not a bug-eyed monster; he had the right number
of arms and legs and heads and noses and things. With
both hands, he held a thing that looked like a short whip.

Varzil looked as if he was holding onto his seat too, but
he kept his composure. He said, “So it is you, Rellin. I
should have known you would not accept a warning and
Notice of Dismissal.”

“I did not come to make conversation,” the thing said.
I said thing because the minute it spoke I knew it wasn't
human. Something crawled down my spine, the way it had
when I had seen that monstrous shape at the window of
Karsten’s living room in Berkeley.

“Varzil,” it articulated, “and his spawn. And this one?”
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“Rellin,” said Varzil harshly, “this is an Earthman anc
by law a neutrall”

The dikri shrugged. “Neutrals are none of my affair,” i
said. “This one is no good to me.” It raised the whip-thing
Varzil lunged, but too late. There was a greenish flare
Harret gave a strange stifled ery and fell limply out of hi
chair. My flesh crawled. I didn’t need anyone to tell m
he was dead; the thing had just shot him down withou
even thinking about it! I hadn’t known Harret—he was les:
to me than Karsten and Varzil-but just the same he was ar
inoffensive human being, he hadn’t been doing anything
he hadnt everi been resisting, and the—the thing had jus
raised its weapon and wiped him out of existencel

Varzil was swearing in a choked voice. Karsten’s eye:
were filled with tears. The dikri did not even look at the
dead body of Harret. He said, “Varzil, you will come witt
me, or I will kill your spawn and the neutral.”

Varzil locked around helplessly. He got up out of hi
chair. “What do you want with me?”

I was thinking, incredulously, Wasn’t he going to do any.
thing? It had shot down his friend, companion, co-worker
and was he just going to knuckle under? The dikri pushec
Varzil roughly ahead toward the open door. Twisting
little in my seat, I saw a rough metal passageway between
the saucer door, and beyond it, a blazing light which, ]
suspected, must come from inside the dikri ship. Varzil weni
quietly, saying only, “Karsten, do nothing rash.”

Something boiled inside me, and I rushed in. Rellin
turned its back on us for a minute to shove Varzil througk
the door, and I leaped.

Rellin went down under me, crying out. I kicked, and it
must have hurt—because it gave a yell of rage—no, a roar,
an inhuman screeching howl; it squirmed, reared up to =z
crouch and it—

It changed!

Before my eyes Rellin’s face melted. That’s the only way
to describe it. Karsten shriecked at me in warning, but I
was already backing away. It had dropped the whip-thing;
I kicked it, slid and tripped, my horrified eyes fastened on
the incredible transformation taking place in the dikri.
Flesh seemed to flow like water, the crouched form hunched,
rippled into a grayish rugose clawed mass. Where a man-
form had stood—a dragon roared at me.

One paw ripped out and I went rolling, feeling blood break
from my cheek. Karsten grabbed up the whip-thing des-

80



perately, but the dragon flapped, lunged, and in the
cramped space Karsten fell backward over a seat, dropping
the weapon. A moment later the diks had snatched it up
and without another glance at us, as if we were too insignifi-
cant to mention, the dragon-form thrust Varzil through
the opening. The door closed behind them.

CHAPTER EIGHT

For A MvuTE I lay where 1 had fallen, wondering if my
eve had been ripped out; I couldnt see out of it, and I
was sick all over with horror. Then I started to come to a
little, and dragged myself upright. I wiped my eye and
realized I could still see. Karsten still sprawled on the seat
where he had fallen, and he was sobbing harshly, whether
with pain or humiliation I could not tell. He looked too
dazed to know what he was doing.

1 looked at the closed door, still almost unable to grasp
what had happened, and picked myself the rest of the way
up. Varzl was gone and Harret’s body lay limp and horribly
dead on the floor, and Karsten still sprawled there crying.

I went over tp him and saw that the bandages had come
loose, and he was bleeding again. Trying not to hurt his
bad arm, I tried to lift him upright. “Stop bawling,” 1 said
roughly. “I'll do whatever I can for you, but crying won’t
help you—or your father.”

Refusing my arm, he pulled himself up and went to
kneel by Harret’s body. After a little he covered the man’s
face. When he turned back to me he looked grim and angry.
“He cared for me when I was a little child,” he said, “and
they killed him like an animal, without even anger against
him. Should I be too unfeeling to moumn for him?”

I felt vaguely ashamed of myself. The dead man had
been nothing to me, and yet the manner of his death had
been shocking. Karsten certainly had a right to be upset,
especially when his own father had been taken away by
the same people—no—things. And Karsten was hurt him-
self. I bleakly remembered how I had hoped the newcomers
would rescue me from Varzil and company.

I was beginning to feel a little less dazed. Karsten wiped
his face and tried to readjust the bandages around his
arm; I helped him. Then 1 asked, “What—what are those
things?”
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“Dikri,” said Karsten. “Shape-changers. You have, on yow
Earth, legends of werewolves. The dragon-shape is their true
shape, but they can adjust it to pass as human among men.’

“But how can they change like that? Solid flesh anc
bone? Is it real, or a sort of hypnotism?”

“I don’t know. I don’t think they are all solid flesh anc
bone at all. I don’t know how they change. I only know
that they do.” He shuddered, bone-deep. “I had never seer
it before my eyes like this. It is horrible, horrible!”

It certainly was that. I wondered what they would dc
to Varzil and realized that I didn't even want to think
about it. I also wondered what they would do to us
and if there was anything we could do to prevent it, what
ever it might be.

Neither of us spoke for quite a while after that. Harret’s
dead body was not the most pleasant company, either.
Karsten, poor kid, must have had even more frightening
thoughts about what was happening to his father inside the
dikri ship.

At last I said, “Shouldn’t we be deciding what we’re
going to do when they come back at us?”

“I don’t know what we can do,” Karsten said. “We're
unarmed, and they have all the weapons they need.”

I supposed he was right. Heroism sounds good, and looks
good in the movies, but deep inside I knew it wasnt going
to help much to try to jump that creature in the shape of
a man, unarmed. And there was something more, something
I hardly dared admit even to myself. I could have faced a
man, maybe, even a2 man with a gun or other weapon. But
the thought of seeing that transformation again made me
sick with a bone-deep sickness, a sort of paralysis. People
throw around the word horror pretty easily these days, but
I had a feeling I'd just gotten a taste of the real thing.

Just the same, it went against me to sit there and wait
without doing anything to help ourselves. I felt that if I
knew more about the dikri, it might help a little. No matter
how repulsive and horrible they were, it made no sense to
react so emotionally. I said, “I gather everybody hates the
dikri, but why? Is it only because they are against you?
Or because everyone is afraid of that werewolf, or were-
dragon act they do?”

Karsten said, “No, there are other shape-changing races,
some of them less human in appearance than the dikri,
but they are—well, this sounds like a paradox—more human.
The dikri are cold and ruthless—unemotional. We call a

82



brutal sadist inhuman because he has none of that fellow-
feeling which men feel for their own kind. And most in-
telligent races, human or nonhuman, have some sense of
kinship among all living creatures. They’ll kill other living
things which threaten them, or if they want to eat them,
but not wantonly. The dikri, though, are like your sharks;
they have no sense of kinship even with their own kind. If
a dikri is wounded, his fellow-dikri will kill or attack him
at once simply because he impairs the perfection of their
kind. There is no way we can communicate with them;
they will not obey laws or keep treaties, and the worst of
it is, they also are an intelligent race. If they were merely
vicious animals we could exterminate them for the good of
Cosmos.”

“It sounds like a hopeless proposition,” I said, “but I have
a feeling if I were in your people’s shoes I'd forget about
their intelligence and exterminate them anyway.”

Karsten looked disgusted. “And then,” he commented, “we
should be no better than they, and have no more right
to survive. Less, really, since we know better and they ap-
parently do not.”

I gave up. Our minds just weren’t meeting, but I had
the uncomfortable feeling that I sounded like the back-
woods barbarian to a Galactic citizen.

Karsten’s aesthetic sensitivities about killing off the poor
benighted dikri might be very civilized, but if his race
had survived this long, they must have some common sense
about survival. I said, “Well, I hope your scruples don’t
prevent you from killing this particular specimen if we get
a chance.”

“Rellin?” His face twisted. “I would kill him with my
bare hands if I had the strength!”

I looked at Karsten’s bleeding arm and white face, and
said, “Obviously, you haven’t. But there ought to be some
way we can even up the odds. I don’t know if we can tackle
the dragon—" I touched the claw-wound on my face.
“But if he comes in here looking human, maybe we can
do something. If these seats weren’t fastened down, may-
be we could whack him over the head with one of them.”

Karsten locked at me with something like admiration. “I
would never have thought of that. They unbolt at the base,
of course.” I was already kneeling to unbolt one of them;
finding that the bolts would not turn with my fingers, I
swore softly, but Karsten was kneeling by Harret’s body.
He fished from the dead man’s pockets a small tool kit and
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tossed it to me; there was an ingenious arrangement of
detachable wrench and screwdriver heads which fitted into
a small porcelain handle, and the maddest thing about
it was that the handle was decorated with small flower
designs in electric blue and fluorescent pink. In our culture
it would have been a special Little Old Lady toolkit, and
yet the damned thing was brutally efficient. There was
even a four-inch knife blade, and after I had the seat un-
bolted I screwed the knife blade into the handle and said,
“I'll hang onto this.”

“A—a blade? Against his weapons?”

“A knife not much bigger than this made a bloody
mess, and I do mean bloody, of your shoulder,” I pointed
out. “I don’t know if those dikri chaps have blood or
not, but whatever they have in place of it, I'm going to
try to find out.”

He said, “Not being a technician, I have no such
tool kit, but—" He went to the control pane, and took up
a hefty wrench-like thing and deliberately smashed the
glass; he broke off a sharp splinter. “This might be of some
use.

I had my doubts, but I nodded approval. Then we sat
down to wait, one on either side of the door opening.

It seemed like a long time, though I don’t suppose it
was more than three-quarters of an hour or so, before the
lock handle began slowly to turn.

“Take it easy,” I warned in. a whisper. “They might
s;lhovs your father through first. We don’t want to brain

im.

The wamning was just in time; the door widened and
Varzil stumbled through. He looked doped, glassy-eyed,
but at least he was alive. Behind him one of the slab-faced
humanoids moved, weapon at the ready; it stepped through,
its eyes and weapon fast on Varzil-and I leaped and
brought the heavy metal seat crashing down.

The dikri dropped like a stone, twisting and writhing;
I leaped atop it, Karsten beside me. 1 brought the knife
blade down and shoved it into its throat. It went in sa
easily I felt a little sick. Then, just as I relaxed, there was a
twisting, convulsive spasm; steelv muscles threw me off and
backward, and Karsten went recling. I struck my head
against the metal seat I had used to brain the dikri with,
and lay there half-stunned, every minute expecting a flash
of searing heat that would broil me to death.
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None came. Karsten picked himself up and said in a
dazed voice, “It’s dead!”

“It’s still moving!”

Varzl said, a trifle thickly, “Their muscles go into spasm
after death; it will continue to twitch like that for hours.
But oh, yes, it is dead.”

I looked down at the still horribly-twitching dragon-form
into which the dying dikri had metamorphosed with its
dying convulsion. I wanted to throw up, and at the same
time I wanted to cry, and together with both of these I
felt a momentary exultation. I'd killed the damned thing!
T'd never killed so much as a mouse before and theoreti-
cally at least I was a pacifist, but I figured most pacifists
had never been in a comer like this before. I stood trying
to get back my breath and decide -what to do next; then
I realized that the open door through which Varzil and
the dikri had come had suddenly swung shut and the
lock snapped.

We had killed a dikri-but we were still locked in,
and our ship was still fast to the dikri ship; we werent a
damned bit better off than we were before.

At least Varzil was back alive. I hadn’t realized, until I
saw him walk in safe and sound, how much I really had
liked the old man. He was shaking his head.

“You might both have been killed,” he said reprovingly.
“And you have helped nothing.”

Karsten was holding his father’s hand tightly., “But—did
they hurt you, Father?”

“Nothing so crude,” Varzil said with a little smile. “Even
the dikri need not resort to physical torture, and when they
found out with their little brain-probes that I had not the
information they wished for, they let me go again. I was
sure that would happen.” He put his hands to his head. “I
have nothing worse than a bad headache from their methods
of questioning.”

“Which means,” Karsten said, putting into words the
thought that crossed my mind, “that now none of us are of
any use to them—and they may very well come and finish
us off as they did Harret.”

Varzil looked grave. “I think, if they planned that, they
would never have brought me back into the saucer. Nothing
would have been easier for them than to cut me down when
they finished questioning, or simply to cut our saucer adrift,
first dismantling the drives, so that we died in space. I think
they plan something else for us—but I do not know what.”
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He was silent, taking up a blanket from a compartment
under one of the seats and throwing it over the dead dikri.
I was glad to have the still-twitching corpse out of sight.
When I was a kid I'd heard that if you killed a snake it
would keep twitching till sundown. I'd never believed it. I
did now.

Then we all sat around and waited.

We didn’t talk; we all had plenty to think about. I tried
not to think about home, about Nina and Father and Win,
It was pretty obvious I wouldn’t be released, as Varzil had
promised, in several hours. Nor did I stop to think that I
was actually out in space, where nobody on Earth except a
few of the astronauts in space capsules had ever gone before.
That didn’t bear thinking about, or I'd have been scared
out of my pants, I tried hard not to think about the corpses
on the floor, either. Mostly I just sat and waited to see what
would happen next. There was nothing else to do, and at
least we weren’t dead yet. It’'s funny; you think of an ad-
venture as being exciting, or terrifying, or interesting, but
never of being just plain boring. Yet that is exactly what
this part was; we sat, waiting, and it was as boring as wait-
ing for the dentist to get started.

Varzil got up once and inspected the panel we had
smashed. He said, “I wanted to make sure you hadnt
damaged the communicator. There is a bare possibility they
might cut us adrift somewhere they believe we can’t be res-
cued, and if the communicator can function we might have
a chance.”
© “No,” Karsten said. “I smashed that particular panel on
purpose. I knew we wouldn’t need the stellar-field reader,
whatever happened.”

Varzil said to me, “I am sorry you became involved in
this. Don’t give up hope yet; there are very severe laws
against interfering with the inhabitants of a neutral planet.”

“When did laws ever stop Rellin and his kind?” Karsten
demanded bitterly.

“Yet, they may prefer not to break them too openly. Just
as they knew that if I disappeared without trace, the Com-
missioners’ Council would never abandon the search. Be
assured, whatever they do to us, they will try to make it
look like a natural disappearance; and we may have a
chance. I should be deceiving you if I told you it would be
any more than a very slim chance; but it might be a chance
for life. If we keep our wits about us, we may live through
this. So don’t despair yet.”
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I wasn’t despairing. T guess nobody ever believes defi-
nitely that they're going to die; at least as long as they are
physically intact and unwounded, with food and air to
breathe and, for the moment, sa.fety. I was scared, but
there’s something inside that keeps you believing, right to
the last moment, that everything’s going to be all right,
the Marines will land or something.

Varzil motioned to us both to take stock of our remaining
supplies. “It’'s obvious they aren’t going to kill us out of
hand, or crash our saucer into the moon to make it look as
if we'd landed there.”

I asked, “What are the p0351b1]1hes? What could they do
with us?”

“I doubt if theyll simply cut us adrift in space now. If
we were ever found—this saucer could be traced by the
detection-beams—it would be easy to guess that we wouldn’t
simply have missed our rendezvous with the mother ship.”

I asked, “Won’t your ship start looking for you when you
are overdue for the rendezvous?”

“Not a chance,” he said rather soberly. “The cost and
difficulty of maneuvering one of the interstellar ships in-
side the field of a sun is prohibitive. They are kept in parking
orbits fairly far out. Of course, they have rescue ships on
board, and if we could get out a distress call they could
send a saucer for us. But our communicator will not operate
within the field generated by the dikri ship. No, I think they
will keep us fast to them until we are well past the orbit of
the mother ship, the ship of the Commission. After that—
well, it is anyone’s guess.”

Later, to while away the time—and there was plenty of
it hanging on our hands by now—I asked Varzil something
about his people, and what they were doing on Earth. He
had been evasive about my questions before; now he didn’t
hesitate to answer, and that gave me my own ideas about
our chances of coming through alive.

His people, who lived on a planet of Spica which had a
name that sounded like Branntol, were one part of a con-
federation of planetary governments that took in fifteen or
twenty star systems and about seventy planets. They were
making ascientific survey of all inhabited planets in their
area, to determine which ones could be taken into the
Federation and which ones should be left alone to develop
further and avoid cultural shock.

Planets like Earth were taboo, but there were a few out-
laws—among whom, I gathered, the dikri were numbered—
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who liked unsurveyed planets, and couldn’t be kept out of
them. Sometimes they exploited the natives ruthlessly for
their natural resources. Sometimes they merely used the
planets as playgrounds for their private games, which, I
gathered, were war games and left the planet in question
quite a mess. The Confederation did the best it could to
keep them away from unprotected planets, but there were
something like forty thousand unsurveyed planets already
listed, and about as many more they hadn’t gotten to yet;
the whole project was contemplated in terms of millennia,
not decades or even centuries, and meanwhile, the Confed-
eration couldn't possibly keep a cop on every planet just to
scare away the dikri and their kind.

Normally the dikri simply tried to operate in areas where
the Confederation hadnt set up yet, because if provoked
the Confederation would exercise some sort of sanctions
against the dikri. Varzil didn’t tell me what they were and
I didn’t ask, but I imagined they were fairly drastic, because
the dikri were willing to go to some lengths to avoid them.

In fact, I gathered that was the one hope we had—that
an individual dikr, or group, like Rellin, would not risk
bringing Federation machinery into action. “Even the dikri,”
said Varzil, “do not like to—what is your phraseP—don’t
like to monkey with the buzz saw.”

We had eaten again, and slept, and repeated both of
these two or three times, when a slow whicking sound be-
gan within the cabin, and the slow range of rainbow lights
began to move within the saucer. I jerked erect out of a
brief doze, and sat up, blinking, and wondered what would
happen next.

“The dikri ship is decelerating,” Varzil said. “The hghts
are a speed-range device, and operate automatically in here.”
“Where are we, Father?” Karsten asked.

Varzil went to the instruments and said, “The space in-
struments, of course, are not working. But if we are coming
inside a planet’s gravitational field, I may be able to get a
reading from the magnetic ones.”

“Could they have taken us back to Earth?”

Varzil hesitated, unwilling to damp the hope in his son’s
face, then said honestly, “I think it unlikely. We were only
nine hours off Earth, at saucer speeds, when we were inter-
cepted; to take us back would have required little more than
that. The dikri ships maneuver, within a solar system, a
little more easily than our interstellar carriers but not nearly
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as well as our saucers. We are most likely somewhere near
the orbit of Mars.”

I stored that away in my mind. We had been in space
now about four days, I supposed. Everyone knew the fig-
ure of five days in free-fall, between the Earth and the
Moon, so evidently they werent bound by Earth’s limiting
speeds. Very likely their interstellar ships went faster than
light, since Karsten was young enough not to have spent
light-years in space.

The lights continued flickering inside the cabin; blue,
crimson, amber, green. I felt a curious, sick, empty feeling
in my head and stomach which I supposed was the process
of deceleration. Varzil and Karsten fastened their seat straps
and bars and ordered me to do the same. The two dead
bodies on the floor began to slide around and the blankets
came off them, and maybe the less said-about that, the
better. -

Then we hit with a bump and a bang and the saucer’s
lights flicked off and everything was quiet; it didn’t help a
bit to know I was probably the first Earthman to land on
‘Mars.

CHAPTER NINE

As sooN as we were safely down, Varzil was tearing at his
safety straps. “Barry, get that seat again!” He was kneeling
by the dead dikri, and when he straichtened he had the
creature’s weapon in his hand. Karsten tried to unfasten his
belt but could not manage it; I realized that without medical
attention he would be in very serious trouble. I hoisted
the seat over my head, flattening myself out next to the
door of the saucer, as the lock began to turn.

A gap widened, and the familiar thick head of a dikri
in human form thrust itself through; I brought the seat
crashing down, struck it a glancing blow, and was thrown
in the reflex of the thing’s metamorphosis halfway across the
cabin. There was a flare of blue fire from Varzil's weapon,
an inhumar howl of rage; then the saucer was crowded
with three, four, five of the monsters and I knew we were
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licked. Nothing human could have bested four of the things
in hand-to-hand combat.

1 dragged myself to a sitting position on the floor and
looked up bitterly, hating, at the slab-faced form of Rellin,
at the others, wondering how anyone could ever mistake
them for men.

Rellin said, in his thick voice: “I see you killed Carandal,
I thought that had happened.” It pushed the dead dikri
slightly with its foot; glanced sideways at the writhing one
1 had bashed with the seat, lowered its weapon and shot it,
Karsten had prepared me for this kind of callousness, but
nevertheless I tumed sick as I watched. Varzil was strug-
gling between two others of the dikri; Rellin came and took
the weapon from his hand, then said indifferently, “Let
him go.”

They released Varzil, who stood breathing hard, looking
sick”and exhausted. Rellin said, “We are not going to kill
you.

I withheld any shouts of whoopee. I was fairly sure there
was a catch to this. Varzil said, hoarsely, fighting for breath,
“Rellin, I warn you. The boy”’—he pointed to me—“is a
neutral, a native. Harm him and the Confederation will never
let up on you.”

“TI told you we do not mean to harm you,” Rellin said,
and smiled. Or, rather, its mouth stretched in a terrible
parody of a smile. “It is none of my doing if your craft
attached itself to mine in space.

“Let them out.” Rellin gestured roughly.

The door gaped, and as one of the dikri advanced on me,
I moved toward it. I felt my heart catch and turn over. A
blast of icy wind raked at me. Then a rough paw thrust
me through it; I groped for the steps with my feet, stumbled,
fell full-length and lay sprawled, gasping in the bitter cold,
on the surface of Mars. Behind me, Varzil stumbled down
the steps, holding Karsten carefully with one arm. The
dikri hoisted the dead bodies out; dropped them beside
us. I stood watching, in dumb horror, as the saucer door
closed and lights began to blink on and off at the edges.

I looked- up then and saw the dikri ship, huge and
strange, glowing with the cold phosphorescence of a great
sea slug, our saucer like a big glowing blister at its side.
There was a soft whickering, whirring noise. Then the two
ships rose together, still joined; slowly gained speed, then
rose further and further, grew smaller and smaller till they
were only a pinpoint in the thin purple sky, and were gone.
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We were alone, marooned on Mars. At our feet lay the
dead bodies of Harret and the dikri. There was nothing
else in sight.

Nothing.

Nothing at all.

Not a damned thing.

In short, we were dead.

I don’t remember very well what happened in the next
few minutes. I think I may have gone a little crazy. I re-
member hearing Varzil cursing a steady stream, in that lan-
guage I didn’t know, but anyone could have known that he
was cursing the dikri in every foul term he knew. Karsten
just stood there looking faint and dazed, and finally dropped
to his hands and knees and crouched, shivering—and I
think that brought us to our senses.

For the first time I began to realize what had happened,
to take it in. The first thing I realized was that I was
breathing. I'm no expert, but I'd kept up with the reports
of the satellites, and I'd understood there wasn't enough air
on Mars to support a cat, let alone a human. Just the same,
I was breathing. It wasn’t easy, the wind was blowing a
gale and took the breath right out of my nostrils, but just
the same I was breathing. So much for the experts.

And cold! 1 imagined it must be like this at the South
Pole; only of course there was no snow. All around us, a dull
gray-brown sand, littered with low green and blue rocks,
lay undulating faintly in the wind. A few thick spiky plants,
like a Salvador Dali version of saguaro cactus, broke the
landscape at odd points. Apart from that, as far as the eye
could see, there was nothing; at an immeasurably far point,
the gray-brown sand merged into dull blue and purple
and blended imperceptibly with the sky. About forty de-
grees above the invisible horizon point, a tiny glowing red
ball, the size of a thumbnail, hung in the sky to show where
the sun theoretically was. I shivered in my heavy coat and
wished I had four of them on top of each other. It was go-
ing to be bad enough starving to death in this howling
desert—without freezing to death first!

I turned my head finally toward Varzil, who stood with
his- hands absently on Karsten's shoulder. He was watching
me, and I felt like cursing him, and the impulse that had
led me to help Karsten, and had brought me to die here. I
thought, suddenly and crazily, of Nina putting supper on
the table and asking herself aloud, the way I'd heard her
once, as I came in the back door unexpectedly: “Where on
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Earth is that boy?” A lump clogged my throat. My mother
and father would never know whether 1 was alive or dead,
or that I was nowhere on Earth at all. I opened my mouth
to yell that it was all his fault and I'd never wanted to get
mixed up in his damned Galactic poitics, then shut it again.
He and Karsten were going to die too and I didn’t suppose
they were any too crazy about the idea. So I asked instead,
“Is Karsten okay?”

“He is very far from well,” Varzil said gravely. “If we can-
not get him out of this cold, and find medical help for him
soon, he will never be better.”

I said, rather grimly, “You dont happen to know of a
good hotel around here, do you?”

Karsten laughed, a weak, improbable sound. He said, in
a ghost’s voice, “And to think I was furious that we had to
be saddled with a native, a planetary, who would give up
if things looked bad! I feel better already.”

“As for giving up when things look bad,” I said, with
my mouth tight, “my great-grandfather came over the
Rockies and wintered in the Donner Pass with the Patrick
Breen party, which wasn’t exactly a picnic. I'll back a Cali-
fornia pioneer against one of your people any old dayl”

Varzil said, “If you take it in that spirit it may not be as
bad as we fear; yet I must warn you, our condition is des-
perate.” He moved a little to the lee of the dead bodies,
lowered Karsten to the sand, and said, “Help me to pile
these up to make a shelter.”

My face must have showed my horror, for he said
sharply, “I beg of you! We have no time for sentiment or
squeamishness! They will guard us a little against the wind,
and one of the dikri has still a little body warmth.”

It was still twitching, too, and it wasn’t the most pleasant
thing I'd ever done; but when Varzil instructed me to strip
the dead man and the dead dikri, 1 protested, in a rage,
“I am no corpse-robber!”

“You may die with your scruples, then,” Varzil said.
“Warm clothing is warm clothing, and it is no good to
Harret, may he rest in peace. Also, Harret has a few small
tools in his pocket; and there is no telling what the dikri
may have in their clothing.”

I apologized and obeyed. Just the same, I told myself as
I hauled gingerly at the twitching corpse, if Varzil carried
good sense one step farther I probably would mutiny. I'd
rather starve than try to make a meal of dikri steak o1
hamburger.
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I turned the assortment of oddments from Harret's pocket
over to Karsten, then tackled the corpses of the dead dikri.
They each had a small round transparent thing something
like a compass, assorted papers and printed cards apiece;
one was carrying a packet of kleenex, which give me a sort
of cold shiver, wondering where he had bought it and think-
ing about the unsuspecting human who had sold it to him.
And each had a small brass token in which I recognized
a conventional dragon-shape, or dikri-shape. Varzil examined
all these things, turning the dragon-thing between his hands.

Karsten weakly asked what they were, and Varzil said,
“Keys. Starting keys for the smaller individual ships of the
dikri; like our saucers but less convenient. Which is why
they wanted our saucer, of course.”

I couldn’t help it. The idea of a flving saucer starting with
an ignition key like any old Ford or Chevy was too much
for me. I said, laughing almost hysterically, “Don’t help a
good boy go bad. Lock your car. Take your keys!” Karsten
-chimed in, “Now, if we can just find one of those things
parked in the next lot . . .”

Varzil said, “You never can tell,” put the two brass
things in his pocket, and bent over Karsten, putting a thing
very much like a flashlight in my hand. “I must see to that
knife-wound. Help me, now, and be quiet.”

When Karsten was bandaged, and the extra clothing
from the dead shared out—it came in handy, I had to admit,
including the thick heavy cloak of a dikri which fell to my
share—we huddled in the lee of the corpses, trying to share
body warmth and shelter against the biting wind.

“We cannot stay here,” Varzil said, not telling me any-
thing I didn’t know. The corpses were already beginning
to freeze, and I knew damned well that if he stayed still
we’d be in the same shape in a few hours. Karsten didn’t
speak—he seemed to be in shock—so I played straight man.
“We can’t stay here and we can’t go anywhere else—or am
I missing something in the landscape? Don’t tell me the dikri
considerately dropped us off in easy walking distance from a
luxury underground hotel for distressed spacemen?”

“No,” Varzil said. “Unfortunately. I am not even certain
where we are. But this planet is used—now and again—for
coming and going, both by the Confederation and by the
dikri. 1 do not think they would land us in Confederation
territory, but I read our field instruments before the saucer
landed. We are near the twelfth paralle], and see—" He
pointed, and very dimly, through the haze and the gathering
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darkness, T made out a low line of gray hills. “There are
caves there, and I have heard that the dikri have built
shelters there. We might find one unoccupied. It is our only
chance; we must have shelter before a sand-blizzard comes.
They are not infrequent in this season—and the season is
just beginning.”

I wasn’t crazy about the idea of finding shelter in any
place frequented by dikri, but I supposed he'd thought of
that, so I didnt say anything. Anyway, we'd never get
there. I only asked, “Can Karsten walk?”

“It is better to die on the way to shelter than to die doing
nothing,” Varzil said stolidly. “But for now we will rest; then
we will go.”

While the sun dipped toward the invisible horizon and
sank, we crouched beneath the bodies of the man and the
dead dikri, and shivered, and waited. That night was grim.
I'm no more imaginative than most people, but we had
three corpses for company, and the dikri corpse closest to
me was still twitching; every now and then a sharp spasm
would run through it and every time it happened I'd go
into a spasm too. I was glad when it froze, even though it
was colder that way, like huddling up against solid ice.

I didn’t know, then, how long the Martian night was, but
by the time that little pink glob of sun was above the hori-
zon, 1 was ready to say it was too long. I was cramped
and cold in every limb. Although the barricade of frozen
bodies had been some shelter, the wind cut like a knife and
my face felt half frozen. I hadn’t slept for a moment. Never-
theless, when Varzil stretched and stood up, beating his
hands together to try to warm them, I was ready to start
off. Anything was better than this.

Karsten, though stiff and evidently sore, looked better
than the night before. The only explanation I can give is that
rest—such as it was, though I personally didn’t feel rested—
had helped, or that the intense cold had semi-anesthetized
and numbed his arm. His voice seemed stronger, and when
Varzil took from his pockets a packet of the rations, divided
it in equal pieces and passed them around, he ate hungrily.
So, for that matter, did I. It seemed an awfully long time
since I'd had a square meal.

Then Varzil took a compass from his pocket, studied it
intently for a long time, squinted up at the sun through it,
finally pointed and said, “This way. Let’s go.” And we went.

We just started walking. And kept on. And on. And on.

The next period of time is one of the worst in memory.
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We walked. The wind cut, and gritty sand kept whirling up
and blowing. During one of our infrequent halts to rest—
we would walk about two hours and rest about ten minutes
—1I scooped up a little of the sand and looked at it closely.
It looked like fine emery powder, or ground iron filings,
and felt like it when it blew against you or got in your
eves. After a while my skin was raw; we all took off some
dispensable undergarment and wound it around our faces,
up to the eyes, and if it was thin enough, over them. You
can see through cotton undershirt material, I found out, if
you put only one thickness over your eyes. You can't see
very well, but then, on Mars there’s no scenery and you
don’t miss much anyhow.

The air was so cold that with every breath I felt as if I
were drawing down solid ice into my lungs, and this made
thirst rasp my throat until I was gasping with it. But there
was nothing I could do about it. Before long I was plodding
along over the lumpy, trackless sand in a daze, dreaming
about huge cups of hot coffee, refrigerators crammed with
cartons of milk, faucets flowing streams of steaming hot
water to bathe in, icy water to gulp down my parched
throat. It was slow, monotonous slogging underfoot; stones
and sand, sand and stones, with some thick hairy softer
stuff intermittently easing the walking—it felt a little like
moss.

It got to where I hated to breathe because of the way it
made my throat drier and drier. When we paused about
the fourth time for a rest and a bite of the dried ration, I
couldn’t chew it at all, hungry as I was.

“Try to eat,” Varzil said. “The food will transform itself
into heat.” He kept doggedly chewing at his own ration, but
his mouth, too, looked blue and parched. Karsten had said
his father was “not strong” but so far he was the toughest
of us all.

The sun got higher until, at what must have been high
noon, it was about as bright as it might have been on a
foggy day in London; then it began to slide down again
and get duller and darker still. And we kept moving, but the
line of hills for which we were heading didn’t seem to get
any closer.

A while before sundown we ate the last scrap of food;
and as the night closed in we stretched out, huddled close
together in the lee of some low rocks, for the interminable
hours of darkness. I lay on the inside, with Karsten next to
me, and Varzil at the outside, and we pooled all the dikri
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garments like blankets over the top. Varzil, evidently ex-
hausted, slept with soft gasping snores.

Despite my exhaustion, I couldn’t sleep. I was parched
and famished, with cramps in my stomach, and a sore throat
which could hardly gather enough moisture to swallow.
During a lot of that night 1 think I was having hallucina-
tions. I thought I was at home, with Win setting the supper
table and the smell of pizza wafting deliciously through the
air. But just as I'd start to take a bite I'd come to myself
again and be under those damned rocks on Mars, with
Varzil snoring and Karsten moaning softly in his sleep. I
wondered how they could sleep, and if this would be our
last night of life; if Varzil thought that without food, water
and fire we could reach any place at all before we died.

I did sleep a little at last, nightmarishly, but as morning
thinned the darkness a little, I was so cold and parched that
when Varzil stood up, stiffly stretching his cramped limbs,
I didn’t move. What was the point of another day like the
last? Why not die here where we could do it a little more
easily? Why keep putting one damned exhausted foot in
front of the other until we fell in our tracks? Karsten hauled
at me, but I shoved him away and covered my head with
my arms,

“Go ’way,” I mumbled. “Not goin” any further. No place
to go anyway. Goin’ stay right here.”

“What is there to stay here for?” I heard Karsten say,
but I was too far gone for logic and persuasion. If I could
only sleep. . . .

Varzil said, “We can’t carry him,” and Karsten said, “I
won't leave him. If he hadn’t saved my life he would have
been safe at home.”

I felt Varzil grab my shoulder and drag at me again. He
said, in a voice which seemed like the tolling of a bell,
“We brought you here; we won’t abandon you. If you will
not get up and help to save us all, we will have to stay
and die with you. Is that what you want?”

Of all the damnably unfair ways to put it, I thought
foggily through the great haze of sleep. Did they want me
to be responsible for killing them? I grumbled, “Oh, if you
put it that way,” and hauled myself woozily upright.

Varzil's eyes were inflamed and sunken in his sand-
rimed face. Karsten looked thinner, paler, his eyes bright
with fever, and he tried not to move his bad arm at all. 1
didnt even want to think about what I must have looked
like. My throat was such torture I could neither swallow nor
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speak. 1 sank into sick apathy, lifting one foot drearily after
the other and putting it down with a thump that seemed to
jolt my whole sore body.

The day dragged on interminably. During one of the
breathing spells—we had stopped talking now—I found my-
self looking around with a perilous, dying clarity.

We would die. Was there nothing to be done? There was
no fire, and no way to make it. You couldn’t rub two sticks
where there was no plant life and no wood. In a desert on
Earth, even the worst, there were animals to trap and plants
edible and otherwise, if you knew the difference. Men
trained in survival techniques had lived even in the Arctic
and Death Valley. But here? There didn’t seem to be an
animal alive anywhere, and the moss underfoot didn’t look
promising, nor the nightmarish stuff that looked like cactus—

Cactus.

If it was cactus, how did it grow? Nothing living grew
without water; I knew that much. I suddenly remembered
what every California child knows. I dug in my pockets,
finding my student card from Berkeley High and a couple
of ball point pens. I tossed the card away, thinking insane
thoughts about litterbugs, and then my hand closed around
the knife I had used on the dikri. Shuddering, I tried to
ignore the weird stains toward the tip, and tested the edge
on my finger. Varzil, slumped with his eyes shut, suddenly
opened his eyes and rushed at me, trying to wrest the knife
away.

I exploded in rage: “Did you think I was going to kill
and eat you? Damn it, leave me alone a minute; I want to
try something!”

Varzil said, hoarsely but with dignity, “It was your own
death wish I feared.”

I paid no attention. Now that I had this idea nothing was
further from my mind than dying, but I hadn’t the breath
to waste. I headed toward one of the cactus-like growths.

The stuff was anywhere from eight inches to two feet in
height, a dirty-looking no-color with reddish-veined bulgy
protuberances. I got down on my knees, almost holding my
breath. I dug my knife into one of the bulges.

The plant screamed at me!

I know in retrospect that it was only escaping air; but it
flung me back on my heels and I almost drove the knife
into my palm out of sheer shock. It was a high, eldritch
whine, with a weirdly human sound. Then I smelled a
‘dear, tangy smell and I knew that death had suddenly
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turned to life, for a thin, clear, watery fluid was oozing from
the cactus.

I sawed at the plant again with my knife and brought
the dripping stem to my lips. It occurred to me at the last
moment that it might be poison, but at that moment, parched
as I was, I didn’t even care about that. It was wet.

My lips soaked up the precious fluid. For a minute I
couldn’t even have told you what it tasted like; then I
realized it had a sweetish, vaguely acid taste. It was icy
cold, of course, cold enough to hurt my teeth, but who
cared about that?

After a minute, when I had sucked enough to appease
that first awful dryness, I remembered my companions. I
sawed off a gourd-like leaf for Karsten, handed it to him,
then gave Varzil the knife to cut himself a chunk while I
went back to sucking and chewing on the delicious moisture.

For the next half hour we didn’t do anything else. We
hacked off bulby leaves of the Martian cactus and sucked
and chewed them to pulp, extracting the last drops of mois-
ture. The fibers were woody rather than succulent, and the
taste was vaguely like broccoli with sawdust, but in our
condition it tasted just fine.

And there was plenty of it. There was a whole planet-
ful of it, and no Martian to come and bawl us out for robbing
his watermelon patch.

At last, unbelievably, we had had enough. It was about
then that I realized how cold I still was, and that the icy,
gritty wind seemed stronger than ever, knifing at my face
and hands until they were half frozen. There’s no way to
describe the terrible, slamming violence of that wind, and
the silence of it. People think of wind as noisy. That’s be-
cause what they hear is wind in the trees or beating around
buildings and corners. This wind didn’t beat around any-
thing. It just swept for hundreds of miles over nothing but
sand. I thrust my hands in under my coat and stood there,
shivering, no longer thirsty, but hungry and freezing.

Varzil said at last, “This should help us. The hills are further
than I thought. That was a good idea of yours, Barry. It
had never occurred to me that this vegetation was edible.”

I said, “About those hills of yours. Will we be any better
off when we reach them? Or will it just be another place we
can starve and freeze in?”

“I know there are shelters there,” Varzil said, “but I can-
not be sure we will find them. Or what they will have for
our comfort, This is a chance—no more than a chance.” He
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looked at Karsten and his lips pressed tight together. I knew
what he was thinking; could the kid make it?

It wasn’t quite so bad walking now, without the torture
of thirst; but my muscles ached with the cold and I felt
that my hands and especially my feet were beginning to
freeze. My shoes had never been meant for long hiking, and
my socks were a caked mess of sweat, dirt and ice. Every
time I set foot down I felt a new blister forming. We slogged
and slogged, and I felt as if I had been walking forever, cold,
frozen, in pain. I drew up the improvised sand-mask over
my eyes and walked in a dark dream, not knowing or caring
where I went. Vaguely I knew, when we stopped to rest a
few minutes and gulp down a little more of the acrid cactus-
juice, that the wind was dropping; but I was unprepared
for Karsten’s cry:

“Look—look there!”

Through the clearing sand as the wind dropped, the hills
were clearly visible: low ramparts of blue rock, stained with
rusty darkness, worn away by endless erosion into sand. They
were no more than five miles distant. But five miles in our
present condition—and then how far to find shelter?

Varzil was scanning them, sheltering his eyes against the
sand with his cupped hands. I saw how red-rimmed and
inflamed his eyes were, and knew my own were just as
bad. Finally Varzil pointed.

“An irregularity in the line there,” he said. “It might be
some sort of building.”

I couldn’t see it. Neither could Karsten, though he looked
a long time. Nevertheless, by silent consent, we all headed
for it. The chance was better than nothing.

We were all stumbling now, half-blind, exhausted, three
specters in the endless desert. Each step I took seemed to
get me nowhere, and I walked in an apathetic daze, with-
out hope, not even caring much anymore. When we got
there, what would we find? A cold shelter of bare boards,
empty, fireless, foodless? Or the warm and tender hospitality
of the dikri? At least they seemed to have no interest in
tormenting human beings; they’d shoot us down with no
more compunction than I'd kill a fly.

During the last awful few miles I gave myself up almost
completely to self-pity. I dragged along, not caring what
happend to me or to my companions. Until Karsten cried
out, stumbled and fell headlong in the sand.

I knew this was the end. We would never reach the shelter,
if there was any shelter.
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Varzil knelt beside his son and I heard him talking in their
own language, coaxing, pleading, threatening, I didn’t lis-
ten. I was having hallucinations again. In the bare sand, with
my head between my knees for less resistance to the ter-
rible wind, I was once again smelling the spicy, wonderful
smell of pizza. It's funny what hunger does to you . . . hunger
and a diet of broccoli-flavored cactus-juice. It tantalized me
to the point of sickness. Karsten lay in the sand, not moving,
and I wished it were me. He wasn’t worrying. I wondered
if he were dead.

I dragged myself up and shielded my face against the
blowing sand again. I said to Varzil, “Is he all right?”

Varzil shook his head. “He has been at the edge of col-
lapse for more than a day now. His strength is finished.”

I said doggedly, “I guess we can carry him. If it isn’t too
far”

I knew it would be too far, as soon as we hoisted him be-
tween us. Five hundred feet would be too far, in the con-
dition we were in. Holding Karsten between us, we could na
longer shield our faces from the wind with our arms. My face
was numb, and I realized my cheeks were frozen. I couldn’t
feel my feet anymore, and that was just as well.

The wind was dropping. Maybe we were under the lee
of the hills now. I couldn’t raise my eyes to see, but Varzil
said shakily, between gasps for breath, “I think—I see—a
building.”

I don’t even remember when the wind died. I only know
that I heard Varzil cry out with triumph. I stumbled for-
ward into warmth and light, fell on top of Karsten; he movec
and I was surprised to realize he wasn’t dead. And that was
the last thing I knew for a long, long time. I fell asleep righ
there where I had fallen.

CHAPTER TEN

WHEN I wokE up, I was lying on a floor of some smootl
stuff, but my head was on a pillow and my shoes had beer
hauled off, and my feet were warm.

We were inside a little, dimly-lit, circular building. Karste:
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Tay in a low bed, covered with the dikri cloak, Varzil slum-
bered on the floor at his side. I hauled myself upright, looking
down at my feet. They were warm and, although dirty and
blackened in spots, none of the toes seemed seriously dam-
aged.

Varzil opened his eyes and looked at me.

I said, “How’s Karsten? And what’s for dinner? In that
‘order. And after that, where are we?” _

“We are in one of the dikr} shelters,” Varzil said. “It is de-
serted and possibly forgotten, so there is no need to be wor-
ried about them. Karsten is better; I have looked at his
shoulder and it is healing. As for food, I don’t know. We
must look around.”

We started hunting in the various cupboards and built-in
storage spots right then. We found a few empty packages and
a half dozen full ones. The stuff inside could have been soap
or silver polish for all I knew, but Varzil said it was a special
‘emergency ration, made unpalatable on purpose so that people
would eat the bare minimum for survival; I supposed it
was better than nothing,

Varzil still seemed troubled, and I asked if Karsten was
really so bad.

“No,” he said, “but the wind has died down.”

“Wonderful,” I said, “beautiful. We can get along fine
without it.”

“You don’t understand. This means we are in the eye of a
sand-hurricane. Winter is closing in—and in winter there are
sand-blizzards in which nothing can live. If the winter season
closes in before we can get away from here—"

He didn't finish, and I knew he had been planning some
form of rescue.

There were two doors to the building: the one we’d come
:in by, now closed tightly against the outdoors, and another.
Varzil pushed against it; it was locked and handleless, with
only a round hole in the centeér, like a keyhole. He hesitated
a moment, then took out of his pocket the small brass dragon-
shaped thing he had removed from the body of the dikri. It
slid easily into the hole; he twisted and the door opened.

Stairs led downward; slowly and cautiously, we went down.

The stairs ended and we came out into a sunken room. It
was large—and damp. Damp! on dry, waterless Mars? But
unmistakably, water was trickling from the stone walls; this
was evidently an underground cave, and with some source
of water. I breathed freer. The room was so dark and shad-
owy that at first I did not notice the great, humped mound
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in the center, until Varzl laid his hand on my arm, and
pointed.

It was a flying saucer.

It wasn't Varzil's. It was larger, painted a drab gray, with
curious striations which I supposed were some alien form of
identification markings. It was clumsier, too. But it was a
saucer—and we had the keys! We could get away from
herel We were safe; we were saved! I saw myself back on
Earth in a few more days, with only the memory of a great
adventure. I let out a whoop.

“Don’t rejoice too soon,” Varzil said. “This means the place
is not forgotten—the dikri owners may return to claim their
property.”

“Then the thing to do is get out of here in a hurry!” I re-
torted. 1 was ready to climb on board right then. Varzil re-
buked, “It is not so simple. The wind is rising again, and a
Martian sand-blizzard can blow an interstellar ship out of
the sky, let alone a small craft like this. We are all still ex-
hausted. And worst of all-I do not know how to operate
the dikri craft. I suppose one saucer is much like another, but
I can never be sure. I will have to study the craft, perhaps
for days, before I can safely take it up even for a short flight.
Calm yourself and let us go back.”

I might have been sore at what Varzil said, only it made
too much sense. As we turmed back I noticed a pizza
sme}lb Was I hallucinating again? “What is that marvelous
smell?”

Varzil looked around briefly. Then he hurried to the side
of the shed, and there, in a soaking tank full of water, the
smell emerged fuller and spicier than ever; something that
looked like moss was half submerged in reddish-looking wa-
ter, and smelled exactly like hot pizza baking. It smelled so
delicious I could have devoured it as it was.

“Martian lichens,” Varzil said. “I did not think of them on
the desert because they are poisonous in the raw state; but
when soaked and boiled, they are edible and even palatable.
It seems that we will not starve, however long we stay here.”

“Just the same, I hope it won’t be long,” I retorted as I
folowed him up the stairs.

Except for the ever-present worry about one of the dikri
coming back, the next few days would have been a picnic
after the last. We had plenty to eat and enough to drink.
Karsten slowly recovered his strength, and the lichen, boiled
up like beans, had the spicy smell and taste which made me
think of spaghetti. The dikri shelter was no palace, but it
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: was better than the desert by a long shot, and it was easier
to breathe. Artificial oxygen was released by feeding sand
into oxidating machinery, and the sand, being various cop-
per and iron oxides, released its oxygen with due process.

Every day Varzil went down to crawl inside the dikri

. saucer and study the controls, and finally announced that if

iwe ever got a lull in the windstorm—which now seemed

" perpetual-he thought he could fly it. Not between plan-

> ets, but there was a small Federation base near one of the

.polar domes, and he thought he could get it that far.

I asked if there was a radio or some form of communicator
on board through which he could send a message, and got
the discouraging but unsurprising answer that the sand-bliz-
zards at this time of year blotted out all communication on
the surface of the planet; the sand was metallic and magnetic
and wrecked all sorts of equipment. Nevertheless, I pinned
all my hopes on Varzil’s ability to fly the dikri saucer.

Karsten, too, was eager to get away. At the polar dome,
which was a Federation Observatory, there were almost all
the comforts of home. There would also be a chance, I
gathered, to send a message to the mother ship about Rellin’s
illegal activities on Earth.

As for me, although I looked forward to the extra com-
.forts of the Branntol Confederation base, I was still on Mars,
and it wasn’t my world. I had no idea when I could be sent
back to Earth, if ever. Questioning Varzil was very unsatis-
factory; I gathered that it was a question now of scheduling
of the larger ships. A saucer could fly between Earth and
Mars, but it seemed to be on a par with sailing a fifteen-foot
sailboat across the Atlantic: nothing anyone would do except
for adventure or in a desperate emergency.

At last, Karsten’s arm was enough healed, and Varzil felt
familiar enough with the dikri saucer, to make the attempt.
We got into our foul and dirty clothing again—there was
water, but not enough for washing—and went down the
narrow and steep steps into the vaulted cave where the
dikri kept their saucer parked.

Varzil had been inside many times, but neither Karsten nor
I had yet stepped inside the alien craft. As I walked up the
ramp I felt the now-familiar twinge of fear.

It was completely unlike the saucer of Varzil and company.
The door unlocked by the same dragon-shaped key; there
was a long metal corridor, slightly curving, with a door on
either side. One of these doors opened into a storeroom, with
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bunks and closed cabinets. The other led into a control
chamber with panels and instruments.

Varzil said gravely, “You will have to handle the naviga-
tion, Karsten; I shall have enough to do with the controls.
My arms are not as strong as those of a dikri and the control
levers will demand all my strength.”

Karsten looked serious and older. “I think I can manage.
But wouldn't it be safer for you to navigate and allow me to
steer? You know your heart is not good.”

“And your arm is still weak,” Varzil told him. “You haven't
the strength.” They looked at me and I knew they were
thinking of Harret. If he had been with us—their thought
was almost audible—instead of this weak native . . . Well,
it wasn’t my fault I was here.

Varzil came to check if I was safely tied down. He said
apologetically, “The acceleration of takeoff in the dikri craft
is much rougher than for human craft. I could not forgive my-
self if you were hurt.” He was so nice, all the time, and I
must have been in the way.

“It's likely to be even rougher than usual,” Karsten said,
his face grim, “with us handling these controls.”

Varzil finished strapping himself in and bent to the con-
trols. He touched something, and lights, glaringly bright, be-
gan to flicker on and off, then steadied to a greenish glare.
He said, “Hold on,” and reached for a lever. He began to
move it slowly to one side.

A high, shrill roaring began in my ears. The craft leaped
up and I felt myself flattened, squashed back against the
cushions. I fought and gasped for breath, my eyes squeezed
shut, struggled not to cry out with the pain of it, heard
Karsten's involuntary scream. That shocked my eyes open;
Karsten hadn’t cried out all during that ordeal in the des-
ert....

Horror struck me. Varzil’s face was drawn and darkly con-
gested, and he had slumped limp against the retaining straps,
his hands fallen from the lever. The lights oscillated wildly,
bright to dim and bright again. Karsten tore at his straps,
crying out incoherently, wrenched at the lever. The squash-
ing pressure lessened, grew again, died away. The bottom
dropped out of the world and my stomach lurched and
swam; we were falling, falling like stones; we would crash.
. . . I shut my eyes and waited for the smash. Karsten
screamed again as we struck, and I saw him flung down
hard, and then we jolted, bounced, and dropped again with
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a crash that brought my head forward against the bars
violently.

I shook my head dazedly, got out of my straps—the cabin
was tilted at a crazy angle—and struggled across the swaying
floor to Karsten. For a ghastly moment I was afraid they
were both dead; then Karsten sat up. His face was covered
with blood, but otherwise he seemed none the worse.

“What happened?” I asked in a daze.

“We crashed,” Karsten said tersely. “My father’s heart—I
do not know if he is alive.”

Even now I don’t like thinking about those ten minutes
before Varzil's faint pulse began to rally and his eyelids
flickered. We got him out of his straps and I went down the
metal corridor and opened the door so I could see how far
we had fallen from the shelter. To my infinite relief it was
less than five hundred yards.

Carrying him between us, sheltering him as best we could
against the rising wind, Karsten and I were too anxious for
despair. We got him inside, rubbed his wrists, poured hot
drinks down his throat, and when he finally opened his eyes
and knew us, I was almost as relieved as Karsten.

“The saucer isn’t damaged,” Karsten told him quickly. “We
can try again.”

Varzil said, moving his lips with difficulty, “I should not
—have tried. I should—have taught Barry to handle the con-
trols; he is strong. Before next try I will do so.” He slept again,
exhausted by these few words; but he’d given me plenty to
think about during the long hours before he spoke again.

But before Varzil could sit up again, we had something
else to think about.

The wind here in the mountains, roaring round the shelter,
was noisier than that deadly, silent wind on the desert plain.
It was so perpetual that you stopped hearing it. Now, sud-
denly, I began hearing it again. The normal roaring sound
was now an almost deafening howl, roaring round the cor-
ners of the little shelter, which was round and streamlined to
offer as little resistance as possible. Varzil lay listening to it;
he looked grave. Finally he broke the bad news.

“That is a full-scale sand-blizzard,” he said, and his tired
face looked a hundred years old. “We cannot try again, if
the winter season has set in. Nothing can survive that, no
craft. We must stay here until the winter season is over.”

Apprehension struck me cold, and I hardly heard my own
voice as I asked, “How long does the Martian winter last?™

“Fourteen of your months.”
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

THERE'S NO SENSE in going into the events of that winter too
deeply. There was nothing we could do except stay there.
We stayed, and that was that.

The onmipresent worry about a dikri coming home unex-
pectedly and saying, “Who’s been sleeping in my bed,” like
one of the Three Bears, eased off a little. We had to con-
serve water, and were always a little thirsty, but not danger-
ously so. The wind had occasional twenty-to-thirty-minute
lulls, and then Karsten or I would make a dash outside for
fresh supplies of lichen—there was plenty of it—to put to
soak. We rigged a lifeline from the shelter so that neither of
us would get lost if we estimated the time wrong and the
sand began to howl again. Tf we'd been caught out more
than a hundred feet from the shelter, in that roaring inferno
of sand, we'd never make it back. As it was, I lost the sight
of one eye for almost ten days after getting caught outside.
The sand was like emery powder; I knew enough to cover my
face with both hands, but I had to put one hand down to
open the door, and that did it. Fortunately Karsten had
enough fresh clean water so that I could bathe it within
seconds after getting in, and though I spent a nervous scared
ten days, finally the soreness healed and I could see again.

Varzl told us it was fortunate there were three of us; it
had long been known that no two beings could endure being
crammed together in confined space for months without go-
ing mad. I didn’t argue. I thought three was bad enough.
We got fairly sick of each other’s company, I suppose, and
yet—after a few months I began to realize that if I had to
be cooped up with somebody, it could have been worse.

We talked a lot, just to have something to do. At Varzil’s
suggestion, I whiled away the time, when it was my turn to
talk, by trying to remember every scrap I knew of Earth’s
history and telling them all I knew. They were a little sur-
prised that I knew only the history of one continent thor-
oughly, and the rest sketchily, and I felt a little ashamed at
the superficial quality of my knowledge. In my lighter mo-
ments I tried to reconstruct such things as Alice in Wonder-
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land so I could join in the storytelling; and we searched
our minds for all the old jokes we knew.

Varzil had only waited for enough strength to be able
to talk again before starting to teach both Karsten and me,
from rough-sketched diagrams, how to control the dikri ship.
I think he was preparing us in the event he had another
attack and died here in the shelter. When he found out how
poor I was in math, he insisted on starting in, right then, to
teach me.

I thought it was all I could do to count my change; that
if T couldn’t manage the math of Earth I certainly couldn’t
manage that of the Galactic Confederation.

I learned anyhow.

Varzil decided that I'd had bad grounding in arithmetic
as a kid and went back to the kindergarten stages and taught
me all over again. It was easier after that. He gave me a lot
of mental shortcuts and tricks which made it seem easy. And
besides, there wasn’t another damn thing to do.

They took me up through arithmetic, algebra and trigonom-
etry, with the help of the pocket tables they carried on
them. Varzil also had a slide rule, and when I expressed sur-
prise, he told me that it was a simpler form of one known in
the Galactic civilization; the principle was the same, but the
Earth one was just handier to carry in a pocket. It took only
a few minutes to learn to convert from one form of figures
to the other. Having ten fingers, they also used math to a
base of ten, but they taught me to use a twelve-based one
“for convenience,” and a three-based one “as a mental rec-
reation;” then ‘they began to teach me celestial and sidereal
navigation. By the time eight months were up we had run
out of ordinary math, and they started to go into complicated
subjects like hyperspace orbit computation and mass-time
stardrift. Varzil was an astronomer, and I ought to add that
Karsten didn’t know all these subjects either, when I caught
up with him, he did lessons right along with me.

If I ever got back to Earth, I guessed, I wouldn’t miss the
year of school I was missing. I'd have the equivalent of a
Ph.D. in math!

The math was fascinating, but just the same, we hung
over that calendar. We were all a mess. I'd lost about twelve
or fourteen pounds—the lichen was pretty good, even as a
steady diet, but you got tired of it and it didn’t tempt you
to fatten up. As for washing, we didn’t, except just enough
to keep our skin barely endurable. It’s surprising how little
you can wash, and how much you miss that daily bath when
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you can’t have it. As far as our clothes were concerned they
were crusted with dirt, and Karsten and I were growing out
of our pants and going through the elbows of our shirts.

Early in the winter we had found cabinets with utility
coveralls hanging inside; they had the loathsome dikri
dragon-shape insignia on them and we shuddered away from
them, but after five months of wearing the same clothes every
day and sleeping in them at night, you'll wear almost any-
thing. Karsten and I finally decided we would wear the
dikri coveralls, provided there wasn’t a dikri in them. The
alternative would have been a loincloth, and it was too cold
for that.

The dikri garments had one advantage; they were almost
completely windproof. We could go out in them for lichen,
or sand for the oxygen converters, without getting frozen
to the bone.

The great day came when Varzil said it would be safe to
try again for the Polar colony, and we looked again at our
filthy, sand-grimed Earth clothes, and put on the dikri gar-
ments. Then Karsten grabbed the dikri insignia sewn on his
coverall front, and pulled. It tore, then came loose.

“There!”- he said violently, and I followed suit. It felt
better, not having the damned dragon on us.

We didn't say much. We had discussed everything about
the flight. We found the saucer where we had crash-landed
it. Long before, we had made sure there was no gross dam-
age, and if there was ridden damage—well, there was noth-
ing we could do about repairing it, so we'd have to trust to
luck. This time Varzil was strapped, tenderly, into the spare
seat, and Karsten and I took our seat before the flight levers.
I felt solemn and scared, but mostly just eager to get going.
Karsten was going to navigate; I was going to handle the
controls. I'd practiced, “dry,” on a sketched mock-up inside
the shelter, and 1 thought I knew how to do it. It wasn't
much different from driving a car, I thought, as I thrust the
small brass dragon-key into the main power switch lock.
There was an instant flare of green light, a shudder of power,
a surge of acceleration. I hauled at the lever—it took all my
strength—and we were airborne over Mars,

I relaxed. I could do it. I was flying the thing. I drew as
much breath as I could against the acceleration, and Karsten,
his face pale with pride, grinned at me,

“Here goes for the Polar colony,” he murmured, “and if 1
see the Martian hills again, on the Last Day of AlL it will be
too soon for mel”
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“Them’s my sentiments exactly,” I quoted, and concen-
trated on a lever again. The instruments read the correct
course. Speeds were calculated by a complex system with no
Earth references, but I knew we would arrive at the Polar
colony within six or seven hours.

For the first time in a long time, I felt good. This was the
first step on my long road home. I fully expected to be at the
Polar colony, and find that Karsten and I were the heroes of
the hour.

It was astonishing how easy it was to fly the little craft. We
hit some wind-buffeting as we crossed the equator, and went
up above the limits of the atmosphere, finding that above the
level of the sand-clouds the sun was colorless again, though
still small and cold. We sighted the Polar colony through the
viewing panel while we were still miles away, and began
slowly to lower our saucer toward it.

We were hovering above the dome at about eight hun-
dred feet when Karsten, who had been quieter and quieter,
finally pointed downward toward the tip of the dome.

“Look,” he said in a low voice. “Father, unstrap your
belts and come here. You must see this.”

Varzil approached as we hovered, lowering, over the field,
and I realized that I was caught in the nightmare again.

Only once had I seen a big dikri ship; as we stood aban-
doned on the Martian desert, expecting death momentarily,
watching as they left us there. The shape was printed in-
delibly on my heart.

And down below, over the Confederation dome, there were
at least a dozen of them.

The Polar colony was in the hands of the dikri.

CHAPTER TWELVE

WE pIDN'T HAVE to discuss it. We swung ship and got out of
there fast, hoping it was fast enough. 1 didn’t know what had
happened. Neither did Varzil. -

“It could be war,” he said, “or they could have decided
0o—eliminate the base. If there were no Confederation per-
ionnel in this Sector, and if the Confederation ship had gone
1ome, they might be ignored by the Confederation for a con-
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siderable period of time. The Confederation might simply
believe that the Polar colony had been wiped out by volecanic
eruptions or some natural disaster, and not trouble to send
replacements. It is not easy to get volunteers for re-staffing a
colony on such an inhospitable world.”

thli(?z},rsten's mouth worked. “Are we going to let them do

“My dear son, how can we prevent them?” Varzil sat back,
looking very old. “We cannot communicate with any ship
in this system—or anywhere else—without our own equip-
ment. Half of that was in the saucer the dikri stole from us;
the other half, on Earth. You and I have probably long been
listed as dead, along with Harret.”

Karsten flared, “We could take this saucer back to Earth!”

Varzil's eyes sparked briefly, then he said, “Too dangerous.”

I finally spoke up. “You told me it’s been done, even with
Confederation small craft—and this is larger and more stable.”

“And I know it less well,” Varzil said. “No, it is impossible.
The only safe thing is to return to the shelter—"

“And wait for the dikri to remember the place, and come
polish us off? It seems to me we're dead either way,” Karsten
said angrily. “Let’s give them a run for their money! Barry,
are you willing to try?”

I wasn’t. I was scared to death, remembering that Varzil
had told me it was like sailing a small boat round the Horn.
But neither did T want to go back to the shelter to starve,
freeze and eventually die there. I said firmly, “I've learned
enough math for one winter!”

“Are you willing to take the chance of playing tag with
the dikri ships if they spot us en route? Varzil demanded.
Karsten and I looked at each other, and finally nodded, first
at one another, then at Varzil.

The old man sighed.

“Then I have nothing to say,” he said. “You have grown
up, both of you. You must do the flying. There are emergency
rations on board, dikri rations, but we will not die of that. I
am an old man; it is you who will do the work, so you must
make the decision. I am in your hands.”

Karsten and I kept looking at each other. It was an awfully
big step to take. Finally Karsten said, “Now they have taken
the Polar colony, what will they do to this world if it is not
reported?”

“And where will they strike next?” I added. I knew more
about the dikri than I'd known fourteen months ago.

I want it clear; I wasn’t playing Save the Universe. I just
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vanted to get home—and I wanted to spike the dikri’s guns.

think Karsten felt much the same way. We just looked at
ach other and nodded. Then Karsten started to unfasten his
relts.

“Change places with me,” he said. “Father, you strap your-
elf in. Barry, I'll take the controls on the first watch—and
ou set a course for Earth. We'll have to allow for orbital
thange.”

That was all there was to it. With no more fuss than that,
he dikri saucer became. an interplanetary ship, and we were
n command. _

Laying a course for Earth was easy. What wasn't easy was
he knowledge that we were doing this in an unfamiliar ship,
10t really fitted for such a trip; that even Varzil was very
mcertain about some of the emergency equipment. There is
t big difference between navigating, and manipulating, a
raft like this" over the Martan desert, and navigating it on
he long orbit between Earth and Mars, flying the tricky
ind unpredictable solar magnetic currents. It was going to
ake both of us to run the ship for this trip, which would take
« minimum of four days or a maximum of six. We were going
‘0 be short of sleep.

Karsten spoke my thoughts aloud. “No automatic pl]Ot,
which means we have to manhandle the thing all the way.

Manhandle was the right word. There was a three-dimen-
iional compass in a transparent bubble, lined up on the Sun
ind Polaris, and you had to haul sets of heavy levers up
ind down to keep the ship in a spin oriented to your bearing
n three dimensions. This was intended for a fast and ma-
reuverable small craft, not limited by the speeds and direc-
ions of free-fall orbits, but it was clumsy and hard to handle
oompared to a Confederation saucer; I realized that the
likri must have incredible physical strength.

There was another thing we didn’t talk about. Dikri craft
vere coming and going all around Mars. If one of them
potted us—we’d had it.

I didn’t know then, but I could have guessed, that the
ourney back to Earth was to haunt me in nightmares for
nonths, years afterward. Now and then, for a short time,
7arzil came to take the auxiliary seat, so that Karsten or I
ould grab a fitful doze; but long before we sighted the
mall gray-greenish ball that was Earth in the viewer, we
vere both staggering with fatigue. In desperation, I rigged
ip a sort of alarm device; if my head fell backward, a buzzer
hocked me awake again. Twice, we saw flickers on the scan-
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ning screens which we were sure were dikri ships, but either
we were mistaken, or they didn't see us.

I was at the controls when the levers began to fight my
arms, and Karsten, white-faced, helped me to haul on them.
Through gasps he panted, “We’re beginning to get inside the
gravity field—I'll cut the power down as far as I can—"

“How does this thing handle inside atmosphere? I don’t
want to set down in Tibet or the middle of the Pacific Ocean,”
I gasped. Without wasting breath he got a hand loose and
pointed to the planetary field-scanner below, with latitude
and longitude lines. It wasn’t a a fine adjustment. 1 sup-
posed the dikri, familiar with these craft, flew by something
analogous to VFR flight, knowing where they wanted to go.
I wasn’t even too sure of the latitude and longitude of San
Francisco.

The planet grew and grew in our viewscreen, swelling and
swelling, seeming to rush toward us, hurtling through dead-
black sky, which gradually paled and lightened. It felt a
little like a a ride on a too-fast roller coaster. We were
skimming the magnetic currents around the planet now, mak-
ing a fast pass into atmosphere, dipping out again before
the decrease in speed could burn up the hull, gradually brak-
ing down with the atmosphere as our skid-brake. It was
rough and Eumpy and we were all sore and bruised despite
restraining belts. It was lousy ship-handling and lousy navi-
gation; we were aiming roughly at the lower Pacific edge of
the North American continent. If we were lucky that would
put us somewhere in California. If it weren’t, we might
have to hike back from South of the Border—or we might
even take a nice long bath, and not the kind we’d been dream-
ing about all those endless months on Mars.

I felt the same strange, deathly clarity I had felt when we
were almost dying of cold and thirst in the desert. Things
were happening too fast after those long, long, dragging
months. I didn’t expect to be alive an hour from that minute.
We managed somehow to skid down and hover, wobbling,
five thousand feet above land. At least we weren’t over the
Pacific. Now all we had to do was pick a nice, deserted area
to land in. And then Karsten gasped and poked me in the
ribs, without the breath to speak.

“Dikri craftl”

They hovered before us, small, deadly and gray, spinning
in that momentary pause before rushing in. Karsten and I
hit the levers almost together and got away from there, fast;
but almost before we felt the surge of acceleration we knew
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we were lost. They were fresh, they knew how to handle their
ships, they had everything going for them. I began to think
I'd rather crash.

The ship swayed and seemed to roll silently beneath us.
The straps cut into my belly with the force of acceleration.
Behind us, far astern and yet gaining, came the three dikri
saucers.

Then, almost at the last minute, something roared off our
bows and swung around with a thunder of jets. Two enor-
mous military jets, swept-winged, huge, so strangely and
dearly familiar that I wanted to cry, roared past—and I saw
the dikri ships stop, with that unbelievable hovering motion
in fast midflight—which is so unthinkable to anyone flying
conventional planes, jets or rockets—reverse, and whisk out
of sight. I hardly believed it. Karsten said, between his dry
lips, “Saved by a couple of S.A.C. planes. Those pilots will
have fun chasing them and then go back to base and be
called damned liars by their commanders. I'd like to send
them all a bottle of whisky or a bunch of roses or some-
thing!”

Chasing the three saucers, the planes disappeared, and we
cautiously lowered our craft further and further. There was
a wide open desert-like patch of country,-with clumps of low
green Joshua trees, visible now as wavery green. We hauled
back at levers, with the last of our strength, managed to set
the craft down.

We were back on Earth. Fifteen months after we left it,
after the most incredible adventure anyone had known, I was
home again. I felt dead and empty. “What now?”

“Now,” said Varzil, “we hide the saucer—the dikri must
not find it again—and try to get to the nearest town.” He
gestured to Karsten to unfasten his straps. Karsten asked anx-
iously, “Can you walk, Father?”

“I can do anything I have to do.” Varzil pulled himself
upright. He looked dead beat, but he smiled, a very likable
smile. “I told you, Barry, that we would bring you back at
the earliest opportunity. I am sorry that it took just a little
longer than I foresaw.”

That did it. We all stood there and howled with laughter
until we were weak.

But I still felt anxious. We were wearing the dikri uniforms,
and they would pass as normal coveralls or Army fatigues,
and I supposed Varzil had some money. But I didn’t even
know what state we were in, and there still remained the
problem of the dikri, flying around in their saucers.
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I asked, a little anxiously, “What will you do now?”

Varzil said, “We must hide the dikri saucer. We will need
it later. You see, I had, even in the Berkeley house, no trans-
mitter; it is forbidden to install such a powerful transmitter
on a planet without official Galactic representation. We're
here more or less unofficially, you know, for scientific study;
but it means I am strictly forbidden to do anything to reveal
myself to the authorities of your planet. However, there are
three other scientists here on a similar project, though none
of them have a small craft like my saucer which the dikri
captured. If I can reach one of them, I can pick up a signal
from the receivers they will have. Receivers are allowed, you
see. It will tell me if there is a Confederation ship in the
system, or when one will arrive, and I can take the dikri saucer
up, rendezvous with it, and make my delayed report—and
go home.”

That had only one disadvantage. “Will your Confederation
ship be willing to rendezvous in space with a dikri craft?
Won't they shoot you down, thinking you're a dikri?”

Karsten said, patiently, “They won’t shoot anybody down.
They’ll probably think we are dikri wanting a conference, or
to surrender. They will be surprised, but they won’t hurt us,
and when we board, they’ll find out their mistake.”

Meanwhile, we had to find the other scientists from Varzil’s
home world; and I was getting pretty anxious. I said, “The
first thing I've got to do is to telephone my parents. I've been
missing for more than a year, and they must think I'm dead
—or that I've joined the Foreign Legion or something.” I felt
sick and a little trembly. What was I going to tell them?

The saucer was, of course, mounted on rollers, which made
it easy to slide into the bushes. A passing truck driver gave
the three of us a lift without asking any questions. A few
very careful questions from me told us that we were in Texas.
Well, 1 thought glumy, we only missed California by about
nine hundred miles.

The truck dropped us near the edge of a small Texas city
whose name I wasn’t sure of. Before I could call my family,
I realized, I'd have to find out where I wasl We stood for a
moment not speaking, getting adjusted to being safe back on
Earth,

It was frightfully hot. We had become so accustomed to
the bitter cold of Mars, and the even more bitter cold of the
unheated spacecraft, that we all felt weak and the sweat
poured down our faces. I was coming slowly to terms with
the awareness that I was safe, I was back home, in a few

114



minutes I might hear my parents’ voices. I felt strangely
torn; this was the end of something, for it was unlikely that
[ would ever see Karsten or Varzil again.

Karsten broke the strange, tense silence between us. He
said, “Pardon me for being so prosaic at this fateful moment,
but I'm hungry. Father, you had some American money when
we left; did the dikri take it from you?”

“They took nothing,” Varzil said. “It was so long ago I had
almost forgotten. I suggest we all find ourselves a meal.”

Ordering a large and varied meal in the little café, we
attracted no attention, or so I thought. I went to the tele-
phone, and tried to put through a collect call to my parents
in Berkeley, but I heard the phone ringing in the empty
house, and felt almost sick with frustration. 1 kept saying
to myself, I've waited fourteen months, 1 can wait a few
hours longer, but it didr’t help.

Karsten kept looking anxiously around, and finally Var-
7l sharply told him to sit still. “You are acting like a child!”

Karsten said, almost inaudibly, “There is someone looking
through the window at us. I think it is a Changer.”

“You have dikri on the brain,” T told him with exasper-
ation. “If they think of us at all, they think we’re long dead
on Mars,”

“Yes, even if they saw us land,” Varzil said, “they would
think we were one of their own.” He looked tired, tired to
exhaustion. I hated to think of him trying to fly the dikri
saucer up to their mother ship. I hated to think of the
imminent parting, and yet I, too, was eager to get home. I
realized I was going to miss them, and 1 felt angry with
myself for getting so emotional about the whole thing. I ate
fried chicken with dogged insistence, staring at my plate.
In a few minutes I'd try to call Berkeley again.

Karsten said sharply, in a whisper, “There is that—man—
again!”

I twisted around. The man was short and thick-set and
he did seem to be staring at us. A dikri in the human
metamorphosis? Or just an ordinary, ugly man? We prob-
ably looked like three beat-up tramps in the worn dikri
uniforms. But Karsten said urgently, “Father! Are you weap-
oned? Our rods would function again, in the field of the
planet—"

“Keep your voice down!” Varzil ordered. “What is the
matter with you, Karsten? Yes, I took one of the dikri
weapons from the saucer. But I'm not going to use it herel”
He paid the check for the meal and we left the little café.
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It was getting dark, the sun huge and red at the flat
horizon between the low buildings. Varzil said, “We may
have to spend the night here, if Barry cannot reach his
parents at once. As for us, we must locate—"

He broke off, for a thick, unmistakable voice behind us
said, “Don’t move!”

Nevertheless, I moved. I might have known.

Karsten said “Rellin!” in a voice of hatred and loathing.

The dikri looked smug, if human feelings could be
transmitted to such a face. It said, “Looking for a small
craft here without permission, I discover an old enemy. No,
Varzil-" It swung the weapon in its hand toward the
older man. “I am curious how you got here. You seem to
be my evil genius. However, since you have long been
considered dead—"

“My corpse,” Varzil said softly. “How will you move it
through the streets here, or account for my being found
dead months after my supposed death?”

Rellin paused for only a moment, but in that moment I
leaped. I thought, If I can hurt it, if I can make it do that
dragon-changing stunt right here on the street, it won’t
dare stay ground where anyone can find it. At the same
moment, as Rellin stepped back before my leap, Varzil drew
his weapon and fired. There was a bright blue flash and
pain seared along my leg.

Karsten shoulted “Help! Help!” and I heard the sound of
running feet, shouts and cries. Rellin had staggered back
against a lamp post and its flesh writhed, moved, but
with what must have been fearful effort it maintained the
human shape. It snarled deep in its throat, and I braced
myself for the terrible dragon-rush, but instead it swung
toward Karsten and raised its weapon.

I shouted “No, Rellin!” and charged.

Something struck my head like a thousand tons of TNT
and I fell a million miles into outer space and disappeared.
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PART 11

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

My HEAD FELT as if it were bursting,

I opened my eyes to see Karsten bending over me, his
eyes anxious and worried. I said, “This seems to be where I
came in.”

He said, in a low frightened voice, “Barry, Rellin went—
and took the girl with itl Are you all right? Have you still
got the key?”

My head spinning, I sat up. Time kaleidoscoped, slid
together, and I remembered where I was: in the Abilene
motel, with Lisa Barnard—

Lisal Lisa was gone—and Rellin had her!

Karsten said, white-faced, “I couldn’t stop them; Rel-
lin said it would kill the girl unless I let it go.”

I hauled myself to my feet. “Where did they go?r”

“I think Rellin’s heading for the saucer. You know—
where we hid it, outside of town. That was why I had to
stay here; to make sure no one from your planet had found
it. Rellin has my father, Barry; I think it’s hidden him
aboard!” .

Confused, I pulled myself together. “Lisa’s car is outsidel
gom?”on—if you know the way to the saucer, I can follow

em

We ran for the car; fortunately Lisa had left the key
in the ignition, and seconds later we were speeding along
the highway out of town. At Karsten’s direction I swung
onto a country road, headed southward.

Karsten said, “You know me now!”

“Yes—but how did I get into the hospital?”

Karsten quickly filled me in. “When you fell, Rellin
swung its weapon on us—but evidently someone had head
the sounds of the fight and called the police. We heard
sirens, and PRellin ran. My father and I ran, too; we were
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afraid of being questioned. I knew they would find you
and take care of you. I was afraid Rellin would find us
and take the key from us, so I stuck it in the pocket of
your coverall- Here, turn this way.”

My foot pressed the accelerator and Lisa’s car roared.
I felt sick and shaken at the thought of Lisa in the hands
of the dikri. True, Varzil had told me they would not nar-
mally dare to interfere with a native of a planet under
observation, like Earth. But Rellin had broken law after
law; it might be desperate enough to feel that a dead wit-
ness was safer than a live one.

I said, “Have you been here all this time?”

“Yes—my father collapsed, after the fight with Rellin,
and was seriously ill; T had to find a place to stay, and
care for him. We were able to find a compatriot, here to
study meteors, and he sent us a little money for expenses.
Twice I tried to call your house in Berkeley and leave a
message, but I was not able to reach you. I did find out,
from the hospital, that someone had come to take you
home. Father was very ill-we could not even think of
leaving, and in any case you had the key to the saucer.”

“He is better now, though?”

“Oh, yes,” Karsten said, “but—not very strong. He needs
care, and rest, and peace of mind. He has been through
too much.”

So have you, 1 thought, locking at Karsten’s drawn face
in the darkness, but I didn’t say so. I only said, “How will
you get home?”

“My father’s scientis: friend tells me that there is a Con-
federation ship just beyond the orbit of the moon; it moved
away during the last months to keep clear of your moon-
shot satellites, but now it has come back. If we had the
saucer, and the key—"

“We’ll do our damnedest about the saucer,” I said be-
tween my teeth. “Where is that hiding place?”

“Turn at this cotton patch,” Karsten instrucfed, “and
you'd better turn off the headlights.”

I switched off, slackening speed as I did so. We neared
a clump of trees and bushes, stopped. Karsten got out,
closing the door very quietly, and pointed.

“The saucer is hidden there,” he whispered, “and Rellin
must have taken the girl aboard.”

We thrust through the brushwood, flinching at the mes-
quite thorns that tore our faces, tensed against the sound
of our own footsteps.
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The saucer rose against the darkness, a darker loom in
he night. If Varzil and the girl were in there, they might
Imost as well be on Mars for all we could do for them.
ind yet I had to try. Lisa had been the first friendly voice
n that dreadful time when I had lost myself. Varzil—Varzil
1ad kept us alive during that trek across the Martian desert,
vhich even now seemed like nightmare. Now that I saw
he dikri saucer again, now that I remembered that awful
wrdeal of cold and hunger and pain, the nightmarish flight
ind the horror of the dikri, I wanted to turn tail and run,
o say to Karsten: This isn’t my fight, I got into it by acci-
lent; this time I'm staying out of it. And yet if 1 did 1
mew I'd lose something worse than my memory. Karsten
tept silent, and so did I, calculating our chances.

It was just crazy enough to work. Rellin wouldnt be
xxpecting us, if we were lucky. It would think, with its
hostages, it could take off in peace and quiet, and dispose
of them as it saw fit. My own impulse, to call out the
cops—or the Air Force—died almost as soon as I thought of
it. Sure, if they saw the flying saucer right in front of
their eyes, they’d believe me. They’d probably even help
rescue Lisa.

But then what? Political complications, maybe even
Interplanetary warl We here on Earth simply weren’t ready
for a Galactic civilization.

We took a few cautious steps up the ramp. Nobody
shot at us.

I whispered, “Are you sure Rellin is here?”

“It has come here before.”

We went on up the ramp. I was shaking. Suppose Rellin,
who certainly must have a spacecraft key of its own, de-
cided to shake us off once and for all by taking off while
we were halfway up the ramp? We reached the door, and
pushed against it.

It was locked.

That didn’t matter. I had a key which would fit it. But-
if we walked in—

Suddenly the blaze of an idea flared in my mind. I re-
membered the controls of the dikri ship, as Varzil had
taught me. Quickly, I jammed the key into the outside
lock. “The safety device,” 1 told Karsten. “Remember? All
hatches have to be closed and locked shut. With the
key still in the door, this hatch is locked open—and Relin
can’t take off!”

We left the lock jammed, and stole down the narrow
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metal corridor. With a strange sense of déja vu, I recog-
nized my dream. No wonder I had thought I spent some
time on a submarine!

We paused at the cabin door. I heard a cry from inside,
and started to rush it, but Karsten held me back.

“Let me go! Lisa—"

“We can’t rush Rellin, or it'll kill my father and the girl,”
Karsten said. “I have a weapon—" He showed me the nar-
row glass rod I had seen that night in Berkeley. “We have
to get them out of firing range somehow.”

We stood in the corridor, indecisive. All sorts of crazy
plans spun in my head and were rejected; to set the sau-
cer on fire, to yell and hide till he came out to find us—

“I have it,” I whispered, shoving Karsten toward the
second door, I remembered that this led into a room filled
with stored equipment and bunks. “When Rellin finds out
the lock is jammed, and can’t take off, it'll come to in-
vestigate—"

We stood flattened inside the metal door as the lights
began to flicker on and off. Rellin was preparing a take-
off, and I was sure Karsten was right about what Rellin
planned: to leave the atmosphere of Earth and dispose of
the hostages in space. I tensed against the eerie fear, the
flickering lights. If we were wrong, if Rellin did not bother
to investigate the jammed lock, if it took off anyhow, we
would be flung around, without safety belts, like eggs in
a freight car.

The lights flickered again; there was a soft whining me-
tallic sound, then the creak of a door, and the hideous
dragon-head, incongruous above an ordinary business suit
too small for the grotesque form, thrust through the door.
Karsten yelled, fired twice in rapid succession; there was
an inhuman horrid howl, the howl of a dikri in anguish,
and it whirled with that terrible unstoppable energy and
charged us. Karsten fired again; I threw myself down into
a crouch and butted, hard, with my head. Rellin went
down, howling, twitched and lay still, convulsing.

I asked, “Is it dead?”

“No,” Karsten said between his teeth, “but give me time.”

But I left him standing over Rellin and burst into the
cabin. Varzil, slumped against safety straps, said my name
weakly as I came in, but T had eyes only for Lisa, white and
terrified in the seat. I unstrapped her and helped her up.

“Take it easy,” I said with rough tenderness. “The Marines
have landed, and the situation is well in hand, or some-
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thing like that. Don’t yell; just give me one of your nylons
or something. We've got somebody to tie up.”

You've got to hand it to that girl. She didn’t even ask
the million questions that must have been on the tip of
her tongue. She just bent down and stripped off one of the
white nurse’s nylons, and I tossed it to Karsten.

“Here,” I said, “the bursting strength of these things is
probably more than even a dikri can manage. Tie the
damned thing up.” Varzil was weakly unfastening his own
straps, and I said, “Go and help him, or Karsten’s likely
to strangle it, and I don’t imagine you want that.”

“No,” said Varzil grimly, “Rellin will return to the Con-
federation headquarters with us, to stand trial for murder
and attempted murder—and the Confederation will deal
with the dikri, at the Polar colony.”

I held Lisa back so that she would not see the dragon.
But when I thrust my head into the corridor Rellin was
human again, with bleeding face and torn clothing: only a
tall, slab-faced man, the man I had known, briefly, as
Roland.

I had not remembered him. But my unconscious mind
lfmd known. It had been wiped clean of everything save
ear.

“Why,” Lisa said in wonder, coming into the corridor
behind me, “it's Mr. Roland. Then he wasn’t your father,
Barry!” She stared at me. “What sort of crazy game of
international spies—"

“I don't know,” I said. “I was always the innocent by-
stander.”

I couldn’t even try to tell her, now. She deserved some
explanation; but the true one was too fantastic for the
moment. I said, “Lisa, will you get out and wait in your
car? I'll be with you in 2 minute.”

I stood in the hallway while they fastened Rellin into
a seat, locking it firmly so that when it recovered strength,
it could not escape. Varzil retrieved the key from the out-
side lock and said, “And now we must go. There is no great
hurry—the mother ship from the Confederation will remain
in this system throughout the next fortnight—but I confess
I am eager to be on home territory. And now that I know
you are safe, Barry, there is nothing to keep us.”

I faced them both, hating to say goodbye. We had been
through so much together; they seemed somehow closer
than family to me. I had found them again and now, irre-
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vocably, there was this parting. My throat lumped up,
and I could hardly speak.

Karsten, too, seemed moved. He swallowed hard and
said, “Why don’t you come with us? We could get a per-
mit for you—"

For a moment the temptation grew wildly in me. I had
only gone the first step into space. There was so much I
did not know. To see the stars— Then I shook my head
firmly. I couldn’t do that to my family. Not again.

Varzil said, “Barry. Keep your eyes open. 1 will give
your name to our other contacts in this star system; there
are a few natives of this planet who know of our existence;
it is helpful to us to have friends here. And”—a smile broke
over his drawn face—“in a few years, we will be back. I
have not yet completed my work here.”

“And if he doesn’t come back,” Karsten said firmly, “I
will-and I'll see you then!” He held out his hand, then
suddenly, roughly, hugged me. “I'm going to miss you,” he
said. “I'm going to miss you like the devill”

I was going to miss him too. A big hunk of my life was
going with them. My eyes were stinging as 1 stumbled
down the ramp, alone, and heard the door of the saucer
lock behind me, cold, irrevocable, shutting me out forever
from the world of my adventure.

By the time I reached Lisa’s car, I had myself in hand
again, She slid over from the wheel as I approached, say-
ing, “You drive. I can’t drive without my shoes on.”

I took the wheel in silence, staring upward at the pat-
tern of lights which flickered blue, amber, green, rose si-
lently higher and higher and disappeared. Then I put the
car in gear and flicked on the headlights, and we got
away from there. Lisa was silent all the way back to town.
Finally she said, “That crazy airplane of theirs—it looked
almost like a flying saucer!”

And I knew what I must say.

“Don’t be sillyl You didnt see any little green men in-
side it, did you?”

“Do you want to go back to the motel where you were
staying?” she asked. It sounded like dead anticlimax. I
turned to her and laughed. “No. I've got no reason to go
back there now. I might just as well catch a plane to Berke-
ley.” Then I stopped the car, pulling to the edge of the
road, and laughed softly at her crestfallen face.

“I'll be back,” I promised. “I've got something to come
back for now.”
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It had been a long, long time since I'd kissed a girl. It
was about time I started getting back to myself. Now that
I knew who I was—well, it had been a long time between
girls.
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EPILOGUE

It was ramNiNG in San Francisco when the plane landed,
and they were all there to meet me: Father, grinning all
over his face; Nina looking awfully glad to see me; and
Win, small and very serious. I knew, when I saw them all,
just how glad I was to be back, and just how afraid they
must have been that I'd disappear again and never be heard
of. It made me admire my father all over again. He'd
known I might not come back—and yet he let me go. With
a family like that, I might even be able to tell them the
truth someday. But not now. They’d been through enough
—and this burden would be too much. For now, it would
be enough that I was back—and myself again.

My father held the car door open; Nina got into the
back so that Win and I could sit up front. This had been
the special treat when we were little kids, and I felt
touched by it, leaned over and kissed her on the cheek.
She reached -up her hand and patted me, then let me go
and I got in, letting Win sit by the window.

Father started the car, then asked, “Did you find out
what you wanted to know, Barry?”

I nodded, and grinned at him. “I found out.”

I knew I didn’t have to tell him anymore. Someday,
when I could, I would, and he knew it; for now, i I didn’t
want to say anything, I knew he wouldn’t ask. It felt won-
derful. I was home.

It was Win who asked, “Where were you all that time,
Barry? Did you find out?”

I winked at her, put my arm around her and squeezed.
“As a matter of fact,” I said, deadpan, “I got kidnapped on
a flying saucer and they took me to Mars—and I had to
wait il we could steal a saucer and fly back.”

“Oh, you!” She flounced away and stared out the win-
dow, then, giggling a little, snuggled back against me and
put her head on my shoulder. “What did I do to have a
brother like you?”

It was Nina, leaning over from the back seat, who asked
the important question. She took my free band, the one
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that wasn’t around Win, and asked, “But—you’re really all
right now, Barry?”

“Yes,” I said, knowing it was true. I had caught up with
the lost year; I had lost myself and found myself again,
and now it was time to go on to the next thing. Karsten
would be back someday—and there were lots of flying
saucers around.

“Yes,” I said again, “I'm all right.”

125



	ad01b000
	ad01b001
	ad01b002
	ad01b003
	ad01b004
	ad01b005
	ad01b006
	ad01b007
	ad01b008
	ad01b009
	ad01b010
	ad01b011
	ad01b012
	ad01b013
	ad01b014
	ad01b015
	ad01b016
	ad01b017
	ad01b018
	ad01b019
	ad01b020
	ad01b021
	ad01b022
	ad01b023
	ad01b024
	ad01b025
	ad01b026
	ad01b027
	ad01b028
	ad01b029
	ad01b030
	ad01b031
	ad01b032
	ad01b033
	ad01b034
	ad01b035
	ad01b036
	ad01b037
	ad01b038
	ad01b039
	ad01b040
	ad01b041
	ad01b042
	ad01b043
	ad01b044
	ad01b045
	ad01b046
	ad01b047
	ad01b048
	ad01b049
	ad01b050
	ad01b051
	ad01b052
	ad01b053
	ad01b054
	ad01b055
	ad01b056
	ad01b057
	ad01b058
	ad01b059
	ad01b060
	ad01b061
	ad01b062
	ad01b063
	ad01b064
	ad01b065
	ad01b066
	ad01b067
	ad01b068
	ad01b069
	ad01b070
	ad01b071
	ad01b072
	ad01b073
	ad01b074
	ad01b075
	ad01b076
	ad01b077
	ad01b078
	ad01b079
	ad01b080
	ad01b081
	ad01b082
	ad01b083
	ad01b084
	ad01b085
	ad01b086
	ad01b087
	ad01b088
	ad01b089
	ad01b090
	ad01b091
	ad01b092
	ad01b093
	ad01b094
	ad01b095
	ad01b096
	ad01b097
	ad01b098
	ad01b099
	ad01b100
	ad01b101
	ad01b102
	ad01b103
	ad01b104
	ad01b105
	ad01b106
	ad01b107
	ad01b108
	ad01b109
	ad01b110
	ad01b111
	ad01b112
	ad01b113
	ad01b114
	ad01b115
	ad01b116
	ad01b117
	ad01b118
	ad01b119
	ad01b120
	ad01b121
	ad01b122
	ad01b123
	ad01b124
	ad01b125
	ad01b126

